
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

Date: Thursday, 15 January 2009 
Time: 6.15 pm 
Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Andrea Grant 
Tel: 0151 691 8559 
e-mail: andreagrant@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 

AGENDA 
 
1. MINUTES  
 
 The minutes of the last meeting have been printed and published.  Any 

matters called in will be reported at the meeting. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  That the minutes be approved and adopted. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 The members of the Cabinet are invited to consider whether they have 

a personal or prejudicial interest in connection with any of the items on 
this agenda and, if so, to declare it and state the nature of such 
interest. 
 

FINANCE AND BEST VALUE AND CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 
3. TRANSFORMING WIRRAL - STRATEGIC ASSET REVIEW (To 

Follow) 
 
 Report to follow. 

 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND LIFELONG LEARNING 
 
4. OUTCOME OF PROPOSAL TO CLOSE ARROWE HILL PRIMARY 

SCHOOL (Pages 1 - 138) 
 
5. MULTI-SYSTEMIC THERAPY PROGRAMME DEVELOPMENT 

(Pages 139 - 146) 
 

Public Document Pack



6. PROPOSAL TO ESTABLISH AN ACADEMY AT BIRKENHEAD 
HIGH SCHOOL FOR GIRLS (Pages 147 - 200) 

 
FINANCE AND BEST VALUE 
 
7. LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT PERFORMANCE REWARD GRANT 

(Pages 201 - 204) 
 
8. COLLECTION FUND 2008/9 (Pages 205 - 208) 
 
9. PROJECTED BUDGETS 2009-2011 (Pages 209 - 216) 
 
10. COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT (CAA) - USE OF 

RESOURCES (Pages 217 - 232) 
 
REGENERATION AND PLANNING STRATEGY 
 
11. WORKING WIRRAL - WORKING NEIGHBOURHOODS FUND 

(Pages 233 - 236) 
 
HOUSING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY 
 
12. REVIEW OF WIRRAL PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING AND 

REGENERATION ASSISTANCE POLICY (Pages 237 - 244) 
 
STREETSCENE AND TRANSPORT SERVICES 
 
13. TRANSPORTATION CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2009/10 (Pages 245 - 

252) 
 
CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 
14. DISPOSAL OF LAND AT THE WARRENS - MAIN DEPOT SITE (To 

Follow) 
 
 To follow after conclusion of period for submission of Objections. 

 
SOCIAL CARE AND INCLUSION 
 
15. PROGRESS TOWARDS THE TRANSFORMATION OF ADULT 

SOCIAL SERVICES - EARLY VOLUNTARY RETIREMENT AND 
VOLUNTARY SEVERANCE UPDATE (To Follow) 

 
 Report to follow. 

 
 
 
 

16. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND 
PUBLIC  

 



 The following items contain exempt information. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by 
the relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to 
that Act. 
 

CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 
17. UPDATE ON THE LOCAL PAY REVIEW AND THE MANAGEMENT 

OF WORKFORCE CHANGE (Pages 253 - 258) 
 
ENVIRONMENT 
 
18. PROVISION OF GARDEN WASTE COMPOSTING FACTILITIES 

SERVICES PROCUREMENT EXERCISE - AWARD OF CONTRACT 
(Pages 259 - 266) 

 
CULTURE, TOURISM AND LEISURE 
 
19. WEST KIRBY MARINE LAKE RECONSTRUCTION - AWARD OF 

CONTRACT (Pages 267 - 272) 
 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND LIFELONG LEARNING 
 
20. BUILDING SCHOOLS FOR THE FUTURE, ONE SCHOOL 

PATHFINDER, ICT CONTRACT (Pages 273 - 276) 
 
21. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
 To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent. 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

WIRRAL COUNCIL  

 
CABINET – 15th JANUARY 2009  

 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
 

OUTCOME OF PROPOSAL FOR THE CLOSURE OF ARROWE HILL PRIMARY SCHOOL 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

At its meeting of 12th June 2008, Cabinet decided that following consultation with governing 
bodies, staff, parents and other stakeholders, statutory notices should be published 
regarding the closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School. Notices were published on 22nd October 
2008. This report describes the outcome of the subsequent representation period and 
recommends that the proposal be approved, and that authorisation be given for the proposal 
to close the school to be implemented. 

1.0 Background 

1.1 The outcome of the consultation was described in the 12th June 2008 report to Cabinet, 
in section 4. The Cabinet report and minute are attached as Appendix A. 

1.2 A consultation meeting was held at the school on 29th January 2008, and was attended 
by 65 persons. 38% of pupils on roll at that time were represented at the meeting by at 
least one parent/carer. In total, 98 written responses to the whole Phase 4 consultation 
were received, of which 6 were from persons directly related to Arrowe Hill Primary 
School. 

1.3 In January 2008 Arrowe Hill Primary School had 115 pupils on roll, and at 45% and 95 
surplus places had significantly exceeded the criterion of 25% and 30 surplus places. 
Respondents were concerned about the fate of closed buildings and sites, the impact on 
traffic and travel to alternative schools, potential loss of extended school and community 
facilities, disruption to pupils education and standards, class sizes and the future of staff. 

1.4 Cabinet determined that proposals should be published in respect of the closure of 
Arrowe Hill Primary School with effect from 31st August 2010. 

1.5 In the report to Cabinet of 16th October 2008, an alteration to Cabinet’s original decision 
was recommended. This arose from discussions with stakeholders at Arrowe Hill 
Primary School which suggested that the original date for the proposed implementation 
of the closure of the school in Summer 2010, which was intended to allow any 
necessary building works to be carried out ahead of the transfer of pupils to their 
destination schools, could produce more disadvantages than advantages. The 
governing body of Arrowe Hill Primary School confirmed this view to the Authority in 
writing, attached as Appendix B. Consequently, Cabinet approved an amendment to its 
earlier decision, so that date for implementation in the statutory notice was given as 31st 
August 2009. The minute is attached as Appendix C. 

2.0 Proposal publication 

2.1 On 22nd October 2008, proposal notices for the closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School 
were widely published, including the local press (Wirral Globe and Daily Post), 
entrances to the school, as well as at Fender Primary School, Overchurch Infant School 
and Overchurch Junior School. In addition, the notices were posted at Ganneys 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



Meadow Early Years Centre, Woodchurch community library, Little Robins’ Pre-school 
(Upton), and at Woodchurch post office on Hoole Road, Woodchurch. The notices were 
also published on-line at the Council’s consultation website, www.wirral-
mbc.gov.uk/PrimaryPlaces/Woodchurch.asp 

2.2 Under the Education and Inspections Act 2006, in addition to the statutory proposal 
notice, a more detailed “complete proposal” must be produced. Copies of the notice and 
complete proposal were provided to the school, the Secretary of State, the Anglican and 
Catholic Diocesan bodies and all relevant persons and groups named in the guidance. 
The documentation was also made available on the Council’s Primary Places Review 
website. The notice and complete proposal are attached as Appendix D. 

 
2.3 Following the publication of notices, there is a statutory six week representation period 

during which objections or comments on any proposal can be sent to the Director of 
Children’s Services. This was clearly stated on the notices. Any person can request a 
copy of the full proposal, however no requests were received. 

 

3.0 Outcome of the representation period 

3.1 The statutory representation period ended on 3rd December 2008. During this time, the 
Director of Children’s Services received via e-mail and post, written comments from one 
individual, the parent of a pupil at Arrowe Hill Primary School. These comments are 
attached as Appendix E. 

3.2 On that basis, under paragraph 8 of Schedule 2 to the Education and Inspections Act 
2006 (EIA 2006), the decision on the proposal for the closure of Arrowe Hill Primary 
School rests with the Council’s decision making body, which is Council’s Cabinet. The 
DCSF Decision Makers Guidance is attached as Appendix F. 

4.0 Comments on the proposal 

A summary of the points raised by the single respondent is as follows: 

 Review Process 

• Query regarding criticism of Council for acting to reduce surplus places  

• Parents not properly notified of proposal for closure  

• Notice published during half-term  

• Allocation of places in alternative schools 

• Authority treatment of respondents  

Financial 

• Availability of funding for new uniforms, bags etc 

 Travel and Transport 

• Arrangements for travel to alternative primary schools 

Page 2



Commentary on the points raised 

4.1 Review Process 

i) This reference is to criticism of Wirral Council in 2004 by the Audit Commission and 
again in 2005 by Ofsted’s Children’s Services Inspection for maintaining too many 
surplus places in primary schools, and for acting too slowly to reduce primary surplus 
places. The Primary Places Review was established by the Council in 2004 as a rolling 
programme to manage surplus places, and the 2005 Children’s Services Inspection 
stated that “Progress in reducing surplus primary school places has been slow, but a 
clear strategy is now being implemented which is likely to involve some school 
closures.” 

ii) The decision to publish notices proposing the closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School 
followed extensive consultation with staff, governors, parents, carers and other 
stakeholders regarding the future of primary school provision in the Woodchurch area, 
including leaflets for every parent/carer as well as consultation meetings at both 
community primary schools and at Ganneys Meadow Early Years Centre. 
Parents/carers will have been aware of the potential proposal for the closure of Arrowe 
Hill Primary School for quite some time.  

The legal notices have been published properly in accordance with statutory 
requirements. This includes the front gate and main entrances to Arrowe Hill Primary 
School. As schools named in the full proposal, the notices were also published at 
Fender Primary School, Overchurch Infant School and Overchurch Junior School. In 
addition, the notices were posted at Ganneys Meadow Early Years Centre, Woodchurch 
community library, Little Robins’ Pre-school (Upton), and at Woodchurch post office on 
Hoole Road, Woodchurch. The notices were published in the Wirral Globe, the Daily 
Post and on-line at the Council’s consultation website. It is not part of the statutory 
guidance, or Council policy, to contact individual parents directly regarding statutory 
notices. 

iii) The respondent states that the statutory notice was posted during half-term. Autumn 
half-term in 2008 ran from Monday 27th October to Friday 31st October. The notices 
regarding the proposed closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School were posted before half-
term on Wednesday 22nd October 2008. The six week representation period ran until 
Wednesday 3rd December, allowing plenty of time for respondents to comment on the 
proposal if they wished to do so.  

iv) Guarantees of places cannot be made prior to Cabinet’s decision on the proposal. If 
the final decision is that Arrowe Hill Primary School should close, parents/carers would 
be asked to express a preference, and the Authority would try its utmost to fulfil those 
preferences. Places would then be allocated using the admissions criteria, which include 
“in-zone” status, and keeping brothers and sisters together at the same school wherever 
possible, subject to the Infant Class size limit. Pupils who have experienced difficulties 
at a particular school are not usually expected to return to that school. 

v) The utmost respect and sensitivity to the views of parents/carers and all those 
affected by school reorganisation is intrinsic to the Primary Places Review process. All 
respondents are dealt with professionally, politely and sensitively, endeavouring to 
answer enquiries as best as possible. Understandably, school re-organisation is a 
difficult and upsetting time for all concerned and sometimes people receive answers that 
are not what want they want to hear. In some cases, an enquiry cannot be given a 
definitive answer, for example with regard to pupil admissions, when guarantees for a 
particular child cannot be given at that time. 

The review has been carried out properly. These objections do not constitute grounds to 
reject the proposal. 

Page 3



4.2 Financial 

Not all primary schools operate a school uniform policy, and the Authority does not 
make a grant towards buying primary school clothing. The governing body of the school 
to which a child transfers may make their own arrangements to assist with purchasing 
uniforms, bags and so on, but this is a decision for the individual governing body to take. 
In previous school closures, governing bodies have sometimes made transitional 
arrangements whereby children can continue to wear their existing uniform until it is 
replaced in the usual course of events. This comment does not constitute grounds to 
reject the proposal.  

4.3 Travel and Transport 

The Authority will pay for travel to school if the nearest appropriate school is more than 
2 miles away for children under 8, and for children aged 8 to 11 whose families are 
entitled to a free school meal or receive the maximum level of Working Tax Credit. For 
children aged 8 or over, the Authority will pay if the nearest appropriate school is more 
than 3 miles travel. The Local Authority’s Information booklet for parents provides further 
information on travel to school arrangements. It is available on-line at www.wirral-
mbc.gov.uk/Admissions/ or by telephoning the Pupil Services section on 0151 606 2000 
during office hours. The impact of closure of the school on travel and transport is 
expected to be minimal. This is not a ground to reject the proposal.  

 

5.0 Other factors to be considered 

 Arrowe Hill Primary had 115 pupils on roll in January 2008, about a third of the number 
on roll 12 years ago (343). This is largely the result of the falling population, although 
73% of potential community school parents living in the catchment zonechoose to send 
their children elsewhere, principally to Woodchurch CE Primary School (37%, 101 
pupils), Overchurch Infant and Junior (13%, 34 pupils) and Fender Primary School 
(11%, 30 pupils). There were a large number of surplus places in January 2008 (45%, 
95 places), and this situation is not predicted to improve over the next five years.  

5.1 Small schools 

 Small schools inevitably cost more to maintain than larger schools. Wirral policy says 
that schools become increasingly more difficult to maintain as they fall below 180 pupils 
on roll. DCSF guidance says that “Schools with fewer than 150 pupils may be 
educationally and financially sustainable only through substantial subsidies via their 
local authorities funding formula”. Financially, the total sum available for spending on all 
our children does not increase if we choose as an Authority to organise our children in 
more schools than is necessary for the efficient and effective delivery of education. It 
follows that the maintenance of small schools, where this is not necessary, comes at the 
expense of all other children. In 2006-2007, expenditure per pupil at Arrowe Hill was 
£5,171 compared with the Wirral average of £3,249. 

 In September 2008, the number on roll at Arrowe Hill had fallen from 115 pupils to 63 
pupils, about a third of the viable size indicated by Wirral policy.  

5.2 Surplus places 

The school’s buildings have already been substantially rationalised by “mothballing” the 
former Infant building, now used by the Council for storage. Modifications to the former 
Junior building were made,  including an improved entrance and office facilities, bringing 
disabled access up to legal requirements, improving energy efficiency, installing a new 
fire and intruder alarm system and make necessary changes to accommodate the full 
age range of pupils within a building formerly occupied solely by Key Stage 2 pupils. 

Page 4



This project has cost £360,500. It was funded via a combination of the Council’s capital 
programme, Arrowe Hill’s formula capital budget and other external funding sources 
including the Schools Access Initiative and Extended Schools grant.  

The Net Capacity of the two buildings before the modifications in 2004/2005 was 325 
places. On the September 2008 number on roll, this would equate to 262 surplus 
places, with the school being 81% empty. Despite the rationalisation to a Net Capacity 
of 210 places, in September 2008, surplus places at Arrowe Hill Primary School have 
now reached 70% and 147 places, well above the 25% and 30 places criterion set out 
by the DCSF.  

5.3 The DCSF guidance for Decision Makers at paragraph 4.35 says that they “should 
normally approve proposals to close schools in order to remove surplus places where 
the school proposed for closure has a quarter or more places unfilled, and at least 30 
surplus places, and where standards are low compared to standards across the LA”. 

 Members will be aware of significant problems at a national level in delivering this year’s 
national curriculum test results. As a result, 2008 Key Stage 2 data for Wirral primary 
schools is not yet available. The 2007 contextual value added measure (CVA) of 102.1 
at Arrowe Hill Primary School indicates that pupils made above the expected rate of 
progress, and standards are therefore not low in Wirral terms. The Decision Makers 
guidance suggests that in this situation, the following factors should be considered: 

• standards at alternative schools (5.4) 

• geographical issues such as travel distance to alternative schools (5.5) 

• impact on community use of the building (5.6). 

 

5.4 Standards 

With regard to standards, Key Stage 2 CVA scores in 2007 at schools within a 2 mile 
radius of Arrowe Hill Primary School in 2007 indicate that all pupils made the expected 
rate of progress or above.  

 

School CVA 2007 3 Year Average 

Arrowe Hill Primary 102.1 100.8 

Brookdale Primary 100.2 100.7 

Christchurch CE (Moreton) Primary 99.4 99.7 

Fender Primary 99.5 99.7 

Greasby Junior 100.0 100.3 

Hillside Primary 99.2 98.7 

Irby Primary 99.5 100.2 

Manor Primary 102.2 100.6 

Our Lady of Pity Catholic Primary 101.0 101.1 

Overchurch Junior 100.0 100.3 

Prenton Primary 99.3 99.9 

Sacred Heart Catholic Primary 100.3 100.8 

St Joseph’s Catholic Primary (Upton) 100.5 100.0 

St Michael and All Angels Catholic Primary 100.1 100.6 

St Paul’s Catholic Primary 99.1 99.4 

St Peter’s Catholic Primary 99.9 99.5 

Sandbrook Primary 100.1 100.2 

Thingwall Primary 100.6 100.8 Page 5



Townfield Primary 100.7 100.0 

Woodchurch CE Primary 99.3 100.0 

 

A three year average of the overall CVA score (2005 to 2007) shows that pupils at 
Arrowe Hill, Fender, Woodchurch CE and Overchurch Junior are making the expected 
rate of progress (100.8, 99.7, 100.0 and 100.3 respectively) with no significant 
difference in performance. Averaged over this time period, at all bar one of the 
alternative primary schools, standards were similar to or better than are currently 
achieved at Arrowe Hill Primary School. Accordingly, closure of the school would not be 
expected to reduce standards, and this is not a ground to reject the proposal. 

 

5.5 Travel 

With regard to travel, the proposal to close the school indicates that the catchment zone 
of Arrowe Hill Primary School would be combined with that of Fender Primary school to 
produce a single community catchment zone for Woodchurch. Some adjustments would 
be made at the upper end of the boundary to designate a small number of streets to 
Overchurch Infant and Overchurch Junior schools.  41 of the 50 pupils expected to be 
on roll at September 2009 would be in-zone for Fender Primary School. Three pupils 
would be potentially be entitled to an in-zone place at Overchurch Infant or Overchurch 
Junior School, should parents decide to apply. 

An anonymised table showing individual distances is given in Section 15 of the complete 
proposal document in Appendix B. The number on roll at January 2008 at Arrowe Hill 
Primary was 115 pupils, and in September 2008 had fallen to 63 pupils. Excluding those 
pupils in Year 6 who will have moved onto secondary school in September 2009, there 
are expected to be 50 pupils to transfer to an alternative local primary school. Of the 50 
pupils expected to be on roll at September 2009, four would travel more than 2 miles to 
both Fender or Overchurch Infant/Junior, but all four already travel more than 2 miles to 
Arrowe Hill Primary, so can be expected to use whichever means of transport they are 
already utilising. For just one pupil, the distance to Fender Primary is significantly further 
than the distance to Arrowe Hill Primary School.  

The impact of closure of the school on travel and transport is expected to be minimal. 
This is not a ground to reject the proposal. 

 

5.6 Impact on community use 

The school offers various out of school clubs including football, badminton and cricket, 
art, choir, ICT and French. A breakfast club operates from Arrowe Hill Primary School, 
with a joint afterschool club being held in collaboration with Woodchurch CE Primary 
School at the Woodchurch CE site. The school has also operated Family Learning 
courses in literacy, numeracy, ICT and parenting skills. 

The afterschool club based at Woodchurch CE Primary School would not be affected by 
the closure of Arrowe Hill. Similar out of school activities are held at other primary 
schools in the area, and would be expected to continue. For example, Fender Primary 
offers out of school clubs for football, baseball, netball, rugby, golf, athletics, yoga, 
dance, boxercise, choir, ICT, recorders, reading and study, art, sewing and cooking. The 
school participates in the Children’s University. Various Family Learning courses are 
also operated, including parenting skills. A breakfast or afterschool club is not offered at 
present, with parents being directed to the facility at St Michael and All Angels Catholic 
Primary School, however, Fender Primary School is currently undertaking a survey of 
parents to establish whether there is sufficient demand for before/afterschool care at the 
school itself. If Arrowe Hill were to close, funding for the breakfast club could be 
transferred to Fender Primary School. This is not a ground to reject the proposal. Page 6



 

5.7 The Council must consider whether a small school is being maintained when it is not 
necessary to do so. Surplus places at this school are high and projected to continue to 
be high. Travel to alternative school provision with equivalent standards is not difficult, 
and community use of the building would not be significantly impacted upon by closure. 
These factors are not a ground to reject the proposal.  

 

6.0 Financial Implications and Value for Money 

6.1 The closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School, excluding those pupil led elements which 
follow pupils to their destination schools, will release approximately £134,631 annually 
(on 2006/2007 figures) into the individual Schools Budget as a whole.   

6.2 In the interim period prior to Cabinet’s decision, Arrowe Hill Primary School has been 
allocated a 5/12ths budget for 2009/2010. The remaining 7/12ths budget would then be 
redistributed through the Budget formula to Wirral schools. 

6.3 There has been no intention signalled to change the Green Belt in the near future and 
the Council’s policy for new housing development in the west of the Borough now 
includes the extension of the Interim Planning Policy for new Housing into the east of 
the Borough. Woodchurch is no longer an area favoured for new housing development, 
except within the constraints of the Interim Planning Policy for New Housing. Should the 
site be declared surplus to requirements as a school, it could be considered for other 
departmental or Council purposes. The former Infant building is in use by the Council 
for storage purposes. 

6.4 The recommended closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School has capital implications in 
respect of the re-location of current pupils and the re-allocation of future pupils to 
schools.  The level of capital required will depend upon the final, approved proposals 
and will require further, detailed development work.  An amount of £50,000 is included 
in the 2008/09 Schools Capital Programme for “scheme development resulting from 
primary reviews” which was approved at the Cabinet meeting of 22nd May 2008. This 
will allow schemes to be drawn up, costed and tendered, with any balance contributing 
to build costs.  The balance of the capital build costs would need to be drawn from the 
following sources: DCSF Modernisation Grant, council capital including capital receipts 
from the disposal of surplus assets, Prudential Borrowing and capital forming part of 
other national initiatives.  

7.0    Staffing Implications 

7.1 When a school closes, all staff at the school are made redundant.  

7.2 The Authority has a long and successful track record in assisting redundant teaching 
and non-teaching staff into new positions. Wirral does not have a redeployment scheme 
in place for teaching staff at present, and the present arrangement relies on the co-
operation of governing bodies when making appointments. 

8.0 Equal Opportunities Implications 

8.1 It is essential to plan school provision across the Authority so that it is both efficient and 
effective in the interests of all pupils. 

9.0 Community Safety Implications 

9.1 Rationalisation and refurbishment of schools allow the most vulnerable accommodation 
to be removed and other security improvements carried out. Page 7



10.0 Local Agenda 21 Statement 

10.1 The provision of efficient and effective education is a vital part of serving local 
communities; inefficient use of resources is wasteful both in educational and physical 
resource terms. 

11.0 Planning Implications 

11.1 The site would be subject to the usual planning permissions. 

12.0 Anti-Poverty Implications 

12.1 The redistribution of funding released by school reorganisation, in combination with the 
Authority’s intention to realign the schools budget to give higher levels of funding to 
schools with high levels of deprivation, as well as improved accommodation, goes 
towards raising aspirations and narrowing the attainment gap for vulnerable groups. 

13.0 Social Inclusion Implications 

13.1 Woodchurch Library occupies the same site as Ganneys Meadow Early Years Centre 
and Fender Primary School. The Cabinet report of 27th November 2008, “Transforming 
Wirral – Delivering the Strategic Asset Review”, in paragraph 7.9, recommends that 
Woodchurch Library is retained and “forms the nucleus of a multi-purpose complex”.  

13.2 School re-organisation and transforming accommodation through the Primary Capital 
Programme and other schemes, provides opportunities to promote joint agency work to 
promote co-ordinated solutions for pupils and their families.  

14.0  Local Member Support Implications 

14.1 The schools specifically mentioned and the Upton ward. 

15.0 Background Papers 

15.1 Previous Cabinet reports 

 Responses to Consultation. 

16.0 Recommendations 

That the proposal for the closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School be approved, and that the 
Director of Children’s Services be authorised to take all necessary steps to ensure the 
prescribed procedures are followed, including proposals for the re-zoning of schools, in 
furtherance of the proposal, with closure of the school on 31st August 2009. 

 

Howard Cooper 

 Director of Children's Services 

Page 8



WIRRAL COUNCIL

CABINET -  12th JUNE 2008 

REVIEW OF PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES: OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS ON 
OPTIONS PUT FORWARD FOR THE PHASE 4 PLANNING AREAS 

Executive Summary 

1.0 This report advises the Cabinet of the outcomes of the consultation process which has 
taken place in the Woodchurch planning area, in respect of the options for 
consultation agreed at Cabinet on 29th November 2007.  This report describes the 
responses to the various options put forward for discussion, including additional 
suggestions put forward during the consultation process, and makes 
recommendations with regard to statutory proposals in this area. 

Background 

2.0 Context Of The School Organisation Plan 

Until March 2005, School Organisation Committees (SOC) were required by law to 
have regard to the School Organisation Plan (SOP) when considering statutory 
proposals for changes to schools’ provision.  The plan itself was approved on a 
regular basis by the SOC.  However the SOP was one of seven statutory plans 
repealed by the Children Act 2004.  The SOC itself has now been abolished by the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 with effect from 25th May 2007. Nevertheless the 
policies and principles set out in the SOP remain an important context in which the 
Wirral Primary Review was set, and continue to be key guidance for the consideration 
of statutory proposals.

2.1. DCSF guidance on the School Organisation Plan states that 

“The key purpose of the School Organisation Plan is to set out clearly how the Local 
Education Authority (LEA) plans to meet its statutory responsibility to secure sufficient 
education provision within its area in order to promote higher standards of attainment.  
It should be designed to help the key stakeholders – LEA, schools, promoters, parents 
and local communities, understand what school places are needed at present and in 
future, and how they are provided.  Importantly it will be the starting point… in 
considering statutory proposals for changes to schools”. 

2.2 As indicated above, the plan contains the policies and principles proposed by the LA 
and agreed by the former SOC for the planning of school provision.  These policies 
and principles are set out at Appendix 1 to the report.  It will be seen that the intention 
(prior to the abolition of the requirement to consider the plan) was that any proposal 
should be considered within the context of the principles set out in paragraphs 3 to 5 
of the Policies and Principles.  There is an over-riding requirement that overall 
provision is effective and efficient, i.e. that there should be an appropriate balance 
between school places and the following principles/criteria:  

! parental preference  

! delivering the curriculum  

! meeting statutory and desirable goals on class sizes 

! maintaining or promoting diversity 

! SEN 

! standards 

! accessibility  

! (secondary schools only) post 16 provision 
Page 9



2

! contribution to the community. 

Paragraph 4 of the Policies and Principles adds the issue of overall school size within 
the primary sector and paragraph 5 deals specifically with the objectives of the 
Diocesan authorities. 

2.3 View of the Wirral Schools Forum 

Members should note that in June 2005 the Schools Forum passed the following 
resolution: 

“Resolved - That Wirral Schools Forum recognises that the local education authority 
has a duty to maintain and fund schools in an efficient and effective manner.  This 
implies that the number of schools should reflect the pupil population and the needs of 
Wirral communities, which could mean the amalgamation or closure of schools for the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the service.” 

2.4 Following the presentation of the Primary School Place Provision report on 16th March 
2006, Cabinet instructed that five Area Reviews be carried out within Phase 4 of the 
Primary Places Review : West Kirby, Hoylake and Meols, Woodchurch, Noctorum and 
Moreton.  These areas equate to the small planning areas in the Authority’s School 
Organisation Plan. The outcomes of these area reviews were reported to Cabinet on 
29th November 2007 and a copy of this report is attached as Appendix 2. 

2.5 Following consideration of that report, Cabinet agreed that no options would be 
brought forward for the West Kirby, Hoylake and Meols, Noctorum or Moreton small 
planning areas at this time, although numbers and place provision would be kept 
under review.  A number of options for consultation were proposed in respect of the 
Woodchurch area. 

2.6 The options were: 

   A  Closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School 

B Closure of Fender Primary School 

C Amalgamation of Arrowe Hill Primary School and Fender Primary School 
at either the Arrowe Hill site (C1) or the Fender site (C2). 

 These options were approved for consultation. 

2.7 The options were within the context set out by the Director of Children’s Services, of 
the need to reduce the growing number of primary school surplus places and took 
account of Audit Commission guidance on surplus places against a continuing fall in 
the number of primary age pupils, and issues identified in the recent Joint Area 
Review.  In addition to removing unnecessary surplus places, the options were 
intended to make more effective use of resources, take account of patterns of parental 
preference, reflect the additional challenges of maintaining small schools in an urban 
area and contribute to the wider standards agenda through the more efficient use of 
resources.

2.8 In order for all stakeholders to have access to relevant background information and 
have the opportunity to comment and respond, the following methods of consultation 
have been employed : 

a) A range of documentation has been produced and distributed.  This comprised: 

 (i)  the full consultation document sent to all schools in the Woodchurch area; 
local One-Stop shops, Woodchurch library and the Central Libraries; 
Wallasey Town Hall and relevant community centres; 

(ii) a review pack comprising all the relevant background information sent to all 
the locations in (i) above; 

Page 10



3

(iii) parents’/carers’ consultation leaflets and comments forms to all 
parents/carers, via all schools named in the options; 

(iv) standard letters to all the schools in the small planning areas, one format for 
schools named in the options and one for other schools in the small 
planning area. 

b) A dedicated web-site on the Wirral Learning Grid was established and 
advertised on the council web-site, the council Intranet, and in the parents’ 
consultation leaflets and the standard letters to schools.   This site provided 
access to all the information produced in paper form and allowed e-mail 
responses to a dedicated e-mail address. 

c) Meetings were arranged for all interested stakeholders at each of the schools 
named in options for closure or amalgamation.  These meetings followed the 
same format, with a presentation on the overall position and the school specific 
position followed by around ninety minutes of time for audience comments, 
feedback and questions.  The meetings were attended by parents, carers, staff, 
governors, Ward members and various other interested persons and bodies, 
including Diocesan representatives where appropriate.  Each meeting was 
chaired by the Cabinet member for Children’s Services and Lifelong Learning.  
The dates for the meetings were in the parents’ leaflets and on the specific 
web-site and a general notice was published in the local press. 

d) Opportunities have been provided for other means of response.  Submissions 
have been received in paper and e-mail formats – all of which will be made 
available before and at the Cabinet meeting, in addition to the summaries 
contained in this report. 

e) All of the relevant LA documentation produced for the consultation has been 
shared with the Diocesan Bodies. 

2.9 The importance of eliciting the views of pupils is sometimes raised and this is an issue 
which is taken very seriously. We are sensitive to the fact that school re-organisation 
is by its nature upsetting and potentially stressful, particularly for children. Throughout 
the review, discussions with headteachers have taken place as to whether pupils 
should be formally consulted, and if so, how this could be carried out with minimum 
impact. The professional opinion of headteachers involved in this Phase of the Review 
was that any formal consultation would be unnecessarily distressing to children, 
nevertheless, the consultation does include responses received from individual 
children, or as a joint response from a School Council. 

2.10 The consultation process and the presentation of LA, small planning area and school 
data to this wider audience does appear to have persuaded most people of the need 
to reduce the number of school places, though understandably people wish to 
advocate the case for their school in respect of closure or amalgamation options. 

2.11 In addition to the detail set out below, further records of views put forward during the 
consultation period are attached as Appendix 3.  Feedback is set out school by 
school.  The record for each school brings together the responses from the meeting 
held at the school, together with any points raised in written or e-mail submissions to 
the Authority. 

Outcome of the Consultation 

3.0 Further suggestions in relation to primary school provision in the Woodchurch area 
were made as part of the consultation process:

! Build a new primary school alongside rebuilt Woodchurch High School 

! Amalgamate with St Michael and All Angels Catholic Primary School 

Page 11



4

Further discussion of these suggestions is given with the related consultation options 
below.

3.1 There were several key themes in the combined responses from consultees: 

! General understanding of the falling rolls situation 

! Effect of proposed housing and demographic changes on pupil numbers 

! Respect for school staff in their skills and relationships with pupils and parents 

! Educational standards and quality of provision 

! Concern for the fate of closed buildings and sites  

! Travel distance to school and the effect on traffic and road safety 

! Disruption to pupils’ education and confidence 

! Class sizes 

! Importance of small schools 

! Effect of any change on children with special educational needs 

! Importance of out of hours facilities, such as adult learning and breakfast clubs 

! Importance of early years provision, including day care facilities 

! Relationship between school and community 

! Keeping friends and siblings together 

! Staff redeployment 

! Continuity of school over several generations. 

3.2 Responses from the Anglican and Roman Catholic Diocese

 The Diocese of Chester and the Diocese of Shrewsbury are key partners along with 
the LA in making provision for the education of children in Wirral. Both Diocesan 
Authorities were provided with the consultation documentation with an opportunity to 
respond. In this area, with no direct impact on any Catholic or Church of England 
schools, neither Diocese provided any formal comments. 

Implications of the abolition of the SOC 

3.3 Until the SOC’s abolition on 25th May 2007, each Diocese was represented by a voting 
group on the SOC. Under the new guidance on school re-organisation proposals, 
each Diocese has the ability to object to any statutory proposal decided by the Local 
Authority Decision Maker, thereby referring the proposal to the School’s Adjudicator. 
This is not a significantly different position to their former roles on the SOC. Full 
guidance has now issued by the DCSF and is available to read or download on-line at 
http://www.DCSF.gov.uk/schoolorg/index.cfm Key points of the guidance and a 
commentary in relation to Phase 4 options for Woodchurch is included within the 
report at Appendix 4. 

Commentary on small schools 

3.4 The Authority funds its schools through the operation of its local funding formula.  The 
formula is designed so as to ensure that sufficient resources are made available to 
schools for the pupils they have to teach.  The formula ensures that, however small a 
school, it will have sufficient resources.  One would not therefore expect any school, 
simply through smallness, to become financially unviable.  What does happen is that 
small schools draw in a greater share of the resource per pupil from the total available 
for distributing among all schools.

Page 12



5

Since the total sum available for spending on all our children does not increase if we 
choose as an Authority to organise our children in more schools than is necessary for 
the efficient and effective delivery of education, it follows that the maintenance of small 
schools, where this is not necessary, comes at the expense of all other children.

 The key questions therefore in terms of use of resources are: 

i) How small does a school need to be within the context of Wirral before it would 
be considered as contributing to an ineffective use of resource?

ii) Are there reasons in specific cases why individual schools although “small” by 
Wirral standards should continue to be maintained even though they are 
relatively expensive?  

3.5 With regard to Wirral’s policy on small schools, the School Organisation Plan (agreed 
in 2003) contained the proposal that the LA “should consider the implications of an 
increasing number of primary schools with less than one form of entry – 30 pupils and 
therefore primary schools with fewer than 210 pupils i.e. 7 x 30”.  That review was 
carried out in great detail and with the involvement of a wide range of Headteachers, 
and culminated in the policy document “The Pursuit of Excellence”, extracts of which 
are included in Appendix 6.  This policy adopted in 2004 suggests that a school 
should have at least 180 pupils in order to be viable.  The guidance to Decision 
Makers (Appendix 4a) makes no mention of school size. DCSF guidance says that 
“Schools with fewer than 150 pupils may be educationally and financially sustainable 
only through substantial subsidies via their local authorities funding formula” :

www.teachernet.gov.uk/management/fallingschoolrolls/schools/educational decisions

One problematic issue which is discussed in some detail in Appendix 6 is the potential 
difficulty of mixed age teaching, especially across key stages. 

3.6 With regard to organisational viability there can be no question that small schools face 
greater challenges.  This of course does not mean that at any one time a particular 
small school cannot produce excellence through having outstanding teachers.  
Furthermore it is often the case when small schools are considered nationally that 
many small schools enjoy a number of advantages as a result of their location and are 
attractive to staff.  In many parts of the country it is a clear necessity to maintain small 
schools because the alternative would be that children be transported, perhaps for a 
number of miles, to the nearest school.  Authorities who have such schools receive 
additional sparcity funding from the government which enables them to spend more on 
these schools without it being at the expense of others, in order for them to be 
organisationally viable.  Wirral does not receive this element of grant. 

3.7 Our experience in Wirral, has been that while overall until quite recently we have had 
few primary schools that have fallen into one of the Ofsted categories of concern, 
those that have done so have generally been among our smaller schools.  We do not 
believe that this is coincidence: it arises because of the inevitable requirement on 
individual staff in small schools to take on wider burdens of responsibility and from the 
disproportionate impact which one weaker member of staff will have on the school as 
a whole. 

4.0 Commentary on options

 The next section of the report comments on the agreed options, discussing individual 
schools separately where appropriate. Numbers on roll are from the January 2008 
School Census. 

A  Closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School 

4.1 Arrowe Hill Primary is a small school with 115 pupils on roll, about a third of the 
number on roll just 12 years ago (343). This is largely the result of the falling 

Page 13



6

population, although 73% of potential community school parents living in the 
catchment zone choose to send their children elsewhere, principally to Woodchurch 
CE Primary School (37%, 101 pupils), Overchurch Infant and Junior (13%, 34 pupils) 
and Fender Primary School (11%, 30 pupils). Set against this “outflow”,  42% of pupils 
on roll in Summer 2007 came from outside the school’s catchment zone, however 
overall there was a net loss to other community/CE primary schools of 53% (145 
pupils). There are a large number of surplus places (45%, 95). This is predicted to 
remain about the same at 47% (99 places) by 2013. In 2006-2007, expenditure per 
pupil was £5,171 compared with the Wirral average of £3,249. 

4.2 The contextual value added score (102.1) for Key Stage 2 in 2007 shows that pupils at 
Arrowe Hill Primary School are making above the expected rate of progress (see 
Appendix 5).

4.3 All current and projected pupils from Arrowe Hill Primary could be accommodated at 
primary schools within a reasonable distance without requiring any new build 
classroom provision, dependant on a particular pattern of parental preference. As 
stated in 4.1 above, large numbers of parents living within Arrowe Hill’s zone choose 
Woodchurch CE Primary School, and there are 21 alternative primary schools 
(including Infant/Junior as a single school) within a 2 mile radius of the school. The 
catchment zone of Arrowe Hill Primary School would, in the main, be allocated to 
Fender Primary School, with the exception of a small area at the “top” of the zone 
which would be allocated to Overchurch Infant and Junior Schools. The intention 
would be to better match where parents live and choose to send their children to 
school. Parents currently in-zone for Overchurch Infant and Junior would continue to 
be in-zone and would be unaffected by this change. 

4.4 Respondents from Arrowe Hill Primary raised the school’s excellent attainment record, 
and the quality of the relationships between parents, pupils and staff. There were 
concerns that children would not “fit in” at other local schools, about additional 
expense in purchasing new uniforms, the impact on travel and transport, and about 
the perceived waste of money which had recently been spent condensing the school 
from two buildings into one.  

Arrowe Hill consolidation 

4.5 As far back as 2001, Arrowe Hill Primary School was the subject of a Targeted Capital 
bid for £672,000 of central government funding for a scheme to remove surplus places 
at the school which were already high and rising. This bid was not successful, and 
consequently a less extensive surplus place removal and modernisation project was 
approved by the Council in 2004/2005.

4.6 This project involved “mothballing” the former Infant building (now used by the Council 
for storage) and some modifications to the former Junior building including an 
improved entrance and office facilities, bringing disabled access up to legal 
requirements, improving energy efficiency, installing a new fire and intruder alarm 
system and make necessary changes to accommodate the full age range of pupils 
within a building formerly occupied solely by Key Stage 2 pupils. This project has cost 
£360,500. It has been funded via a combination of the Council’s capital programme, 
Arrowe Hill’s formula capital budget and other external funding sources including the 
Schools Access Initiative and Extended Schools grant.  

4.7 The result of these works is that the total net capacity at Arrowe Hill Primary School 
has been reduced from 325 places in 2004, to 210 places in 2007. Had this work not 
been carried out, the school would now have 62% surplus places, a third more than at 
present.

4.8 Consultees allied to Fender Primary School were in favour of the closure of Arrowe 
Hill either alone, or in conjunction with an amalgamation at the Fender site. They saw 

Page 14



7

the closure of Arrowe Hill Primary as the least disruptive option, since it would affect 
fewer pupils and maintain the highly respected SEN bases at Fender with minimum 
disruption.

4.9 New housing in the area was mentioned as a potential source of additional pupils to fill 
surplus places, as well as a source of additional traffic outside the Arrowe Hill site in 
particular. New housing either under construction or with planning approval in the area 
includes 17 flats on Houghton Road on the former Pelican Hotel public house site, 20 
flats on the disused garage site at Eltham Green and 31 new houses on New Hey 
Road comprising 12 two bed bungalows, 13 two bed houses and 6 two bed houses. 
Outline planning permission for residential development has been granted for the 
former Ganneys Meadow site on Ganneys Meadow Road. A planning application for 
190 flats and houses on the former St Benedict’s Catholic High School site on New 
Hey Road was submitted in 2007, and has been recommended for approval by the 
Council’s Planning Committee, pending a Section 106 legal agreement. 19 of the 190 
units will be affordable housing, e.g. shared ownership or social housing. In total within 
the Woodchurch area 238 properties will be or have recently been built. Even treating 
flats as houses, these developments are projected to produce 67 primary age pupils, 
of whom 18-20 are likely to attend a Catholic primary school, with a similar number 
opting for a Church of England primary school such as Woodchurch CE. The New Hey 
Road site is within the catchment zone for Fender Primary School. Also, the additional 
pupils are likely to be existing Wirral residents and may already live locally, in which 
case they may continue to attend their existing school. Local housing changes are 
unlikely to make a significant impact on the issue of surplus places in this area. 

4.10 There has been no intention signalled to change the Green Belt in the near future and 
the Council’s policy for new housing development in the west of the Borough now 
includes the extension of the Interim Planning Policy for new Housing into the east of 
the Borough. Woodchurch is no longer an area favoured for new housing 
development, except within the constraints of the Interim Planning Policy for New 
Housing.

4.11 If this option were to proceed, depending on parental preferences, there may be a 
requirement for relatively modest capital works at the Fender Primary site, to which 
the majority of Arrowe Hill’s catchment zone would be transferred. The current 
capacity of the Fender building as it is currently organised, and excluding the Annexe 
which is now part of Ganneys Meadow Early Years Centre, is 210 pupils. In the event 
that the new capacity at Fender following any required building works reached 350 
pupils or more, a statutory expansion notice would be required. The most vulnerable 
children, those in Special Needs classes, would have continuity of provision on the 
Fender site. 

4.12 This option for the closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School is recommended to proceed 
as a statutory proposal with effect from August 2010, with a proviso to guarantee all 
former Arrowe Hill pupils on roll at the time of the school’s closure a guaranteed place 
at Fender Primary School. Former Arrowe Hill parents who did not wish to take up the 
guaranteed place at Fender Primary would be offered the opportunity to express a 
preference for an alternative primary school. Places at these schools would then be 
allocated based on the admission criteria published in the Authority’s booklets for 
parents, within the limitations of the Infant Class Size limit. The proposed 
implementation date of August 2010 will allow for any works required at Fender 
Primary School to be carried out ahead of Arrowe Hill’s closure. 

B  Closure of Fender Primary School 

4.13 Fender Primary has 180 pupils on roll, having last had more than 210 pupils on roll in 
1992 (218). The roll has risen from a low of 134 in 1999 to stabilise at around the 180 
level for 8 years, no doubt buoyed by the school’s close association with the adjacent 

Page 15



8

Ganneys Meadow Early Years Centre. Similarly to Arrowe Hill Primary School, 60% of 
potential community school parents living in the catchment zone choose to send their 
children elsewhere, principally to Woodchurch CE Primary School (31%, 92 pupils) 
and Arrowe Hill Primary School (12%, 36 pupils). 31% of pupils on roll in Summer 
2007 came from outside the school’s catchment zone, however overall there was a 
net loss of 41% (122 pupils) to other community and CE primary schools. 

4.14 The school has 14% (30) surplus places, and this is projected to rise to 19% (39 
places) by 2013. While the surplus is lower than that at Arrowe Hill Primary, this is 
above the 5-10% surplus identified by the Audit Commission, beyond which money is 
being wasted, and it is right to look at ways of reducing this surplus.

4.15 In 2006-2007, expenditure per pupil was £4,680 compared with the Wirral average of 
£3,249.

4.16 The contextual value added score (99.5) for Key Stage 2 in 2007 shows that pupils at 
Fender Primary School are making the expected rate of progress (see Appendix 5).

4.17 As identified by respondents, the school has around 180 pupils on roll, the number 
identified in the Authority’s policy “In Pursuit of Excellence” as the point below which 
schools become more challenging to manage financially and organisationally. All 
current and projected pupils from Fender Primary could be accommodated at primary 
schools within a reasonable distance without requiring any new build classroom 
provision, although dependant on parental preference and with the agreement of the 
governing body and Diocese of Chester, there may be additional accommodation 
needs at Woodchurch CE (Aided) Primary School. While this may meet the 
requirement to consider the expansion of popular and successful schools, such a 
proposal has not been discussed with the Diocese of Chester and may not be feasible 
on the restricted site at Woodchurch CE Primary School. As stated in 4.1 above, large 
numbers of parents living within Fender’s zone choose Woodchurch CE Primary 
School, and there are 24 alternative primary schools (including Infant/Junior as a 
single school) within a 2 mile radius of the school. The catchment zone of Fender 
Primary School would, in the main, be allocated to Arrowe Hill Primary School, with 
the exception of a small area at the “top” of the combined zone which could be 
allocated to Overchurch Infant and Junior Schools. The intention would be to better 
match where parents live and choose to send their children to school. Parents 
currently in-zone for Overchurch Infant and Junior would continue to be in-zone and 
would be unaffected by this change. 

4.18 Respondents from Fender Primary raised the quality of the relationships between 
parents, pupils and staff, the proximity of local facilities including Ganneys Meadow 
Early Years Centre, Woodchurch Library, Woodchurch leisure centre and local shops. 
The importance of maintaining stability for pupils in the school’s two Education 
Inclusion bases was very strongly emphasised.

4.19 Consultees allied to Fender Primary School were not in favour of this option. Many 
were in favour of either the closure of Arrowe Hill Primary (Option A) with more 
children attending Fender Primary, or of the amalgamation of Fender and Arrowe Hill 
at the Fender site to maintain access to the facilities listed in 4.11 and provide a stable 
environment for pupils in the SEN bases. The point regarding the Special Needs 
Classes is important.  This is one of the strengths of the school, and the Authority is 
anxious to maintain the quality of this provision within any outcome that may be 
determined.

4.20 If this option were to proceed, depending on parental preferences, there may be a 
requirement for internal alterations at the Arrowe Hill or Woodchurch CE Primary sites. 
Statutory expansion notices at either school might be required at a later date. 

4.21 This option is not recommended to proceed as a statutory proposal. 

Page 16



9

C Amalgamation of Fender Primary School and Arrowe Hill Primary School 
either at Arrowe Hill site (C1) or Fender site (C2) 

4.22 The two schools taken together have a combined roll of 295 pupils, which is not large 
in Wirral terms, being around 1.5 forms of entry. The pattern of parental preference in 
this area indicates a high level of mobility between catchment areas and overlap 
between the pupil populations of the two schools, with similar numbers attending 
schools in the “other” catchment zone, facilitated by high levels of surplus places. 

4.23 The CVA scores for both schools indicate that pupils are making at least the expected 
rate of progress or more. Good standards at Arrowe Hill were cited by some 
respondents as a reason not to amalgamate the two schools, on the basis that the 
ensuing disruption would impact upon the quality of education and threaten standards. 
Some parents indicated that they would not want their children to be educated with 
children from the other school due to a perceived difference in background; however 
geographical analysis of where parents live indicates that there is an overlap between 
the pupil populations of the two schools. Staff from both schools have strongly 
expressed their commitment to ensure that all pupils would be welcomed in any 
setting, whatever the outcome of the consultation. 

4.24 Respondents allied to both schools were concerned that the site for any amalgamated 
school should be carefully chosen. Issues around parking and safe drop-off areas 
were raised around both sites.

4.25 If all pupils from both former schools attended an amalgamated school, it is estimated 
that the Fender site would require relatively modest capital works. Accommodating all 
pupils at the Arrowe Hill site would involve bringing the existing Infant building, 
currently mothballed, back into use. In general, consultees from both schools were in 
favour of an amalgamation into a new build primary school, although had differing 
ideas on which would be the best site for an amalgamation. Whichever site were 
chosen, the other building could be utilised to accommodate pupils whilst construction 
work was underway. 

Foundation and Community schools 

4.26 In an amalgamation, both existing schools close and a new school opens. Under the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006, all new primary schools, as has been the case 
for some time in secondary schools, are subject to a “competition” where the Authority 
invites bids to establish the best provider for the new school. The Authority can enter 
its own proposal into the competition, and in many cases, particularly in primary 
school competitions, is likely to be the only entrant. Other possible proposers could 
include faith organisations, businesses, universities, colleges or a charitable 
organisation. A new school would be a Foundation school, not a community school. 
The Secretary of State can, however, decide to grant permission for Wirral LA to 
propose a new community school within a competition. The criteria that would be used 
are given in Appendix 4b. An application could also be made to the Secretary of State 
for permission to establish a new school without holding a competition. While each 
case is different, examples in the guidance do not appear to apply if Fender and 
Arrowe Hill were to amalgamate. Reaching a decision under the statutory competition 
process is likely to take at least 6 months longer than would be the case without a 
competition.  

4.27 A minority of respondents were concerned about the impact that Foundation school 
status might have on education, admissions or staffing of a new school.  The 
differences between community and Foundation schools are as follows: 

! In a community school, the Local Authority owns the land, buildings and all the 
other assets of the school, employs the staff, and decides the admission criteria 
for the school. The running of the school is delegated to the governing body. 

Page 17



10

! In a Foundation school, as well as running the school, the governors own the 
land and buildings, employ the staff, and decide the admission criteria. The 
governors have greater freedom to spend money on building projects, and can 
choose to set their own term dates. 

Pupils at Foundation schools follow the same national curriculum as those in 
community schools, and staff are employed on the same nationally agreed terms and 
conditions. Funding for Foundation schools comes from the Authority in exactly the 
same way as for community schools. While the governing body of a Foundation 
school could decide to have different admission criteria, the school still has to follow 
the same admissions code as community schools.  

Other than the land and buildings, which must be conveyed from the Authority to the 
Foundation governing body or Trustees, other assets in the school (books, equipment 
etc.) remain the Authority’s property. Excellent relationships continue to be maintained 
with Wirral’s Foundation secondary schools, and there is no reason to believe that this 
position would differ in the case of a Foundation primary school.

4.28 Option C does not fall into any of the categories that would be highly likely to receive 
an exemption from the Secretary of State to hold a competition, e.g. an Infant and 
Junior amalgamation or reorganisation of schools with the same religious nature. 
Holding a competition will add 6 months to the decision making process, with 
extended levels of uncertainty about the future of primary schools in the local area 
which could have a destabilising effect on primary school rolls, and a case could be 
made for the need for expediency to resolve community uncertainty, however, it 
seems unlikely that approval to establish a school without a competition would be 
granted in this case. Amalgamation, whilst offering an opportunity for the staff in 
particular, but also the pupils of both schools to start afresh in a “new school”, albeit in 
existing buildings, may not be the most appropriate solution in this instance.

4.29 This option is not recommended to proceed to statutory proposals. 

Other suggestions raised during consultation for these schools 

4.30 Variant to option C - Build a new primary school alongside the newly rebuilt 
Woodchurch High School 

This suggested option would produce a “campus” at the Woodchurch High School 
site.

The Children and Young People’s Department has been awarded the sum of 
£25,962,900 from the DCSF Building Schools for the Future - One School Pathfinder 
initiative. The approved bid is for the replacement of Woodchurch High School, 
approved by Cabinet on 15th November 2006. Design development is in progress. A 
partner will be contracted later this year and a completion date of September 2010 is 
currently planned. 

The site of the existing school buildings and the surrounding open land is designated 
as Green Belt in the Council’s Unitary Development Plan adopted in February 2000 
and is also identified as an area identified for transport corridor environmental 
improvements. The development proposed will therefore need to be considered as a 
departure from the Development Plan. The intention to grant planning permission for a 
departure from the Development Plan must be referred to the Secretary of State 
before planning permission can be granted. 

The One School Pathfinder budget has been entirely allocated to the rebuilding of 
Woodchurch High School, and there is unlikely to be any further central government 
funding through this route. If a new primary school in Woodchurch were considered for 
a future year of the Primary Capital Strategy, the site would be subject to consultation 
at that time, although greenbelt, flood plain and playing field restrictions bring 

Page 18



11

complexities to the remainder of the Woodchurch High school site once the new 
secondary school is completed. 

This suggestion is not recommended for further consideration. 

4.31 New option – Amalgamate Arrowe Hill Primary School with St Michael and All 
Angels Catholic Primary School 

 The rationale behind this suggested option is to amalgamate the two smallest schools 
with the highest levels of surplus to form a new primary school, with Fender Primary 
School remaining as a community school. Were these two schools of the same status, 
that is, both community schools or both Catholic Aided schools, this would be an 
attractive option.  

As in any amalgamation, both schools would close, and a new school then established 
on one of the two sites. There are benefits to amalgamation over closure for pupils 
and staff. Legally, however, it is not possible to combine community and Aided 
provision into a single school.  It might be beneficial to community cohesion to relocate 
one of the existing schools onto the same site to form a “joint denominational campus” 
of separate schools, but this would be costly and unlikely to resolve surplus place 
issues in the area. Another alternative which would achieve the same end would be to 
propose closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School, linked with relocating St Michael and 
All Angels Catholic Primary School into the Arrowe Hill building, which would require a 
statutory alteration, not a statutory competition, however, the Catholic Diocese of 
Shrewsbury would need to approve this move, which would separate the school from 
the adjoining Church, albeit by a relatively short distance.  

This suggestion is not recommended for further consideration. 

4.32 In summary, Option A, Closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School is recommended to 
continue as a statutory proposal. A further statutory alteration proposal to officially 
expand the capacity at Fender Primary School may be required at a later date. 

5.0 Implications of the Review Process for Pupils 

Admission Arrangements: present and future pupils 

5.1 The closure and/or amalgamation of primary schools will have implications for the 
Authority’s admission arrangements.  The DCSF have advised that there is no 
requirement to consult separately on any changes to admission arrangements as long 
as full details are provided to parents in the statutory public notices on the proposed 
alterations to the school provision. This would include details on how the Authority 
would propose to manage the transfer of pupils to alternative schools, and also deal 
with applications from parents living in the areas concerned for places in Foundation 
2.

Re-zoning of areas  

5.2 In the event of any reorganisation, school catchment areas would have to be 
reviewed.  In the case of an amalgamation it might be assumed that the catchment 
areas of the schools involved could simply be merged but it is likely that we would 
take the opportunity to consider any other necessary adjustments.  In the case of a 
school closure, zones of neighbouring schools would have to be re-drawn .  Changes 
would need to take into account consideration of home address in relation to nearest 
appropriate schools, the new capacity of schools in the area, and other factors such 
as planned housing development.

In relation to the potential transfer of existing pupils to alternative schools, the 
Authority would invite parents to indicate a preference.  If their preference was for a 
placement in a community or controlled school, then the Authority would seek to meet 

Page 19



12

that preference, within the admission criteria set out in the Authority’s booklets for 
parents.

Pupils with Special Educational Needs 

5.3 If any pupil has a Statement of Special Educational Needs then the Statement will be 
amended to reflect the new school, and the provision specified in the Statement will 
be delivered appropriately.  Any pupils who are currently placed in designated special 
provision such as a Special Needs Class would be transferred to an alternative 
placement according to parental preference.  For all those pupils on the SEN register 
who are affected, the Authority would deploy an element of any savings to provide 
enhanced support at their new school.  Details of how such a scheme may operate 
would need to be developed. 

6.0 Staffing Implications

6.1 Closure of Schools

 If a school closes, staff would technically be redundant.  However, the neighbouring 
schools to which pupils relocate will require additional staff, and these schools would 
be requested to give prior and preferential treatment to redundant staff. 

6.2 Redeployment

In previous years, Wirral has had an excellent record of finding alternative 
employment for school staff. When posts are advertised in Wirral, schools are 
requested to give redundant staff who meet the advertised criteria, either a prior and 
preferential interview or an interview in competition with other candidates. 

7.0 Financial Implications 

7.1 The recommendations contained in this report have capital implications in respect of   
the re-location of current pupils and the re-allocation of future pupils to schools.  The 
level of capital required will depend upon the final, approved proposals and will require 
further, detailed development work.  An amount of £500,000 is included in the 2008/09 
Schools Capital Programme for “scheme development resulting from primary reviews” 
which was approved at the Cabinet meeting of 22nd May 2008. This will allow schemes 
to be drawn up, costed and tendered, with any balance contributing to build costs.  
The balance of the capital build costs would need to be drawn from the following 
sources: DCSF Modernisation Grant, council capital including capital receipts from the 
disposal of surplus assets, Prudential Borrowing and capital forming part of other 
national initiatives.  It is a requirement that funding is clearly identified when proposals 
are submitted to the decision maker for approval. 

7.2 The recommendations contained in this report include the closure and amalgamation 
of schools, which in turn will produce revenue savings, to the benefit of other schools 
as the funding is re-distributed.  In the short term the Authority could be required to 
fund any staff severance costs following closures and amalgamation but they may be 
partly or entirely offset by savings. 

8.0 Equal Opportunities Implications 

8.1 There are none arising out of this report. 

9.0 Human Rights Implications

9.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 

10.0 Local Agenda 21 Statement 

10.1 The removal of old, inefficient accommodation contributes to Council principles and 
targets in respect of Agenda 21. 

11.0 Community Safety Implications 

Page 20



13

11.1 Rationalisation and refurbishment of schools allow the most vulnerable 
accommodation to be removed and other security improvements carried out. 

12.0 Planning Implications 

12.1 The relationship between housing development policy and school place provision is a 
factor in considering surplus place removal. 

12.2 Construction of any new classroom provision would be subject to the usual planning 
permissions.

13.0 Local Member Support Implications 

13.1 Primary place planning and potential surplus place removal have relevance to all 
Wards.

13.2 The current options affect the Upton Ward directly. 

14.0 Background Papers 

 Audit Commission Report: Planning School Places in Wirral September 2004. 

 School Organisation Plan. 

 LA document “Pursuit of Excellence: Primary Education in Wirral”. 

School pupil number returns, January 2008 (Annual Census return to DCSF). 

School Net Capacity Calculation, July 2007, to DCSF requirements. 

Consultation Documents  

Other data held in Department including that provided by Wirral Health Authority. 

15.0 Appendices 

See list attached. 

16.0 Summary 

16.1 No one closes schools lightly.  However, there is general agreement amongst all 
stakeholders that action must be taken to address the issue of surplus capacity.  
Officers are required to offer clear advice as to appropriate action in order to spend 
public money wisely and ensure all Wirral’s children benefit equitably from the funding 
available.  The recommendations below I believe will ensure best value for the future 
generations of children in the review areas, and more equitable spending for the 
benefit of all Wirral’s pupils, from the savings made. 

17.0 Recommendations 

1) That statutory proposals be published in respect of Option A, closure of Arrowe 
Hill Primary School from August 2010. 

2) That the Director of Children’s Services be authorised to take all necessary 
steps to publish these proposals, ensure the prescribed procedures are 
followed, including requesting permissions from the Secretary of State and 
proposals for the re-zoning of schools, in furtherance of the proposals. 

3) That the Director of Children’s Services be authorised to instigate an evaluation 
of potential sources of funding related to building work at the Fender Primary 
School site, including the Primary Capital Strategy and return to Cabinet with an 
option appraisal report on this matter. 

Howard Cooper 

Director of Children’s Services 

Page 21



14

List of Appendices 
Appendix Description 

1  Extract from School Organisation Plan: Policies and Principles 

2  Cabinet Report and resolution from 29th November 2007

Consultation

3a  Analysis of Consultation 

3b  Summary of responses 

Education and Inspections Act 2006 

4  Summary of new regulations on school re-organisation 

Standards

5a   Standards – KS2 data; Value Added 

5b   Standards – Extracts from Ofsted reports 

Issues concerned with size and viability 

6a   Extract from “ In Pursuit of Excellence”, written by Wirral 
Headteachers and the Primary Team, School Effectiveness 

6b  Extract from “Small Schools: How well are they doing?” (Ofsted 
2000)

6c  Size and viability in consultation areas 

Building Costs 

7  DCSF School Building and Design Unit – Information on costs and 
performance data, April 2003 

Page 22



Minutes - Cabinet - 12 June 2008 
Present
Chair S Foulkes 

Councillors 
George Davies, PL Davies, G Gardiner, SA Holbrook, SE Kelly, M 
McLaughlin, RK Moon, Jean Quinn, JV Stapleton 

In attendance: 
JE Green, A Pritchard, GCJ Watt 

Minute 48 - CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND LIFELONG LEARNING: REVIEW 
OF PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES: OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS ON 
OPTIONS PUT FORWARD FOR THE PHASE 4 PLANNING AREAS 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
The Director of Children's Service presented a report which advised the 
Cabinet of the outcomes of the consultation process which had taken place in 
the Woodchurch planning area, in respect of the options for consultation 
agreed at Cabinet on 29th November 2007. The report described the 
responses to the various options put forward for discussion, including 
additional suggestions put forward during the consultation process, and made 
recommendations with regard to statutory proposals in this area. 

With the permission of the Chair, the Chair of Governors of Arrowe Hill 
Primary School addressed the Cabinet, and spoke against the proposal to 
close Arrowe Park Primary School and in support of the option contained 
within the report to amalgamate Arrowe Hill Primary School with Fender 
Primary School.

The Director of Children's Services responded to the issues raised in terms of 
the disruption of closing two schools, the fact that no capital was available for 
a new build school at the present time and the rules regarding a competition 
process if a new school was to be provided. 

The Leader of the Council referred to the option of including a new school on 
the site of Woodchurch High School and the Director indicated that there were 
three site options considered for amalgamation. It was felt that Fender 
Primary School, with its close proximity to Ganneys Meadow Early Years 
Centre was the most appropriate option. 

The Cabinet Member for Children's Services and Lifelong Learning thanked 
the Chair of Governors and the staff at Arrowe Hill Primary School and 
indicated how impressed he was with their passion and commitment. He 
referred to the challenge of falling school rolls and the wise use of resources. 
In view of the number of schools within close proximity and to keep the 
disruption to a minimum, he supported the Option set out within the 
recommendation.

Page 23



Councillor Holbrook queried the support for amalgamation from Fender 
Primary School and, in view of the timescales for proposed closure, would the 
school roll be sustainable. 

The Director of Children's Services referred to the experienced team that 
would be involved in the closure if it was approved. He accepted that there 
were some advantages to amalgamation and indicated that the capital 
programme was compiled on the basis of school condition. With reference to 
the proposed closure date, it was noted that this was to avoid undertaking 
statutory consultation over the summer holidays and on past experience it 
was envisaged that the number at the school would enable it to remain open 
until the proposed closure date. 

Councillor Kelly supported the recommendation to minimise disruption. 

Page 24



Arrowe Hill Primary School 

Glebe Hey Road, 

Woodchurch,

Birkenhead, Wirral 

CH49 8HE 

!   0151 678 5064 

          Fax 0151 678 5065 

Headteacher 

Miss Hazel Williams           e-mail: schooloffice@arrowehill.wirral.sch.uk 

          19
th

 September 2008 

Mr H Cooper 

Director of Children and Young People’s Services 

Hamilton Building 

Conway Street 

Birkenhead CH41 4FD 

Dear Mr Cooper 

PRIMARY PLACES REVIEW – CLOSURE OF ARROWE HILL PRIMARY SCHOOL 

Following the Cabinet’s proposal in June 2008 to recommend the closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School, 

I would like to request that consideration is given to moving the closure forward from August 2010 to 

August 2009.  The request is made with much reluctance but governors, staff and parents are agreed that 

this would be in the best interests of the children. 

We remain deeply disappointed at the decision to close the school.  However, governors and staff are 

resolved and committed to ensuring that, during the academic year 2008/09, the school provides the best 

possible educational experiences for the children and that they achieve the highest standards of which 

they are capable.  

As we begin this new academic year we have 64 children on the school roll.  Our biggest loss of pupils at 

the end of 2007/08 was from Y2 as parents considered this a particularly critical point in their children’s 

education.  We would anticipate a similar situation at the end of this academic year. 

Page 25



Our best estimate of the school roll for 2009/10 is 42 (13 in KS1 and 29 in KS2).  The effect on the 

school budget of such a small number of pupils would be catastrophic.  Governors and staff believe that 

such harsh constraints would make the school financially, organisationally and educationally untenable. 

I trust, therefore, that you will give your earnest consideration to bringing the proposed closure date 

forward.

Yours sincerely 

Miss J Grannell 

Chair of Governors 

cc. David Armstrong 

      Sally Gibbs 

Page 26



APPENDIX C 

CABINET
Thursday, 16 October 2008 

Present: Councillor S Foulkes (Chair) 
Councillors S Holbrook, G Davies, P Davies, G Gardiner, S Kelly, M 
McLaughlin, R Moon, J Quinn, J Stapleton 

In attendance: Councillors JE Green  L Fraser  D Elderton 

218 PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES REVIEW - PHASE 5 

The Director of Children’s Services presented a report which provided a 
summary of the current position in respect of primary school places, 
developments resulting from previous phases of the Review, and issues for 
the future. It sought Cabinet’s approval for further phases of area reviews 
involving schools and stakeholders to identify any further opportunities for the 
removal of surplus places, taking into account the impact of the forthcoming 
Primary Capital Strategy programme. The report also identified the 
programme from a Value for Money perspective. In relation to a previous 
phase, the report sought Cabinet’s approval to an amendment to the potential 
implementation date for the proposed closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School. 
The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and Lifelong Learning referred to 
the reductions in numbers forecast for school roles over the next few years 
and indicated that the purpose of the review was to use public money 
effectively.

Resolved - That 

(1) a renewed approval be given to the principle of area reviews to study 
current primary school provision in order to match future needs and support 
the opportunity for transformational change provided by the Primary Capital 
Strategy;

(2) approval be given to the sequence of planning areas to be examined in 
each new Review phase; 

(3) the principle whereby a Review can be initiated where a school’s roll 
collapses, or a school is placed in an Ofsted category of concern, be 
approved; and 

(4) approval be given for the amendment of the implementation date for the 
proposed closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School to 31st August 2009. 

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL COUNCIL 

EDUCATION AND INSPECTIONS ACT 2006 

PROPOSAL TO CEASE TO MAINTAIN ARROWE HILL PRIMARY 

SCHOOL 

Notice is given in accordance with section 15(1) of the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006 that Wirral Council as the local education authority (“the 
Authority”), Town Hall, Brighton Street, Wallasey, Wirral, CH44 8ED intends to 
discontinue Arrowe Hill Primary School, Glebe Hey Road, Woodchurch, 
Wirral, CH49 8HE from 31st August 2009. 

All statutory consultation requirements relating to this proposal have been 
complied with. 

Parents of pupils on roll at Arrowe Hill Primary School at 31st August 2009 will 
be asked to express a preference for one of the alternative local schools. It is 
proposed to re-draw the catchment zones of Arrowe Hill Primary School and 
Fender Primary School to divide them between Fender Primary School and 
Overchurch Infant and Overchurch Junior schools.  Pupils may transfer to any 
local primary school, subject to the availability of places and the admission 
arrangements published in the Authority’s information booklet for parents. 

The travel distance from Arrowe Hill Primary School to the new zone school 
site is unlikely to result in any increase in car use. Applications for school 
transport to alternative schools will be considered on the basis of the 
Authority’s school transport policy published in the Authority’s information 
booklet for parents. 

This Notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete 
proposal can be obtained from the Primary Places Review website; 
www.wirral-mbc.gov.uk/primaryplaces or on paper or CD-ROM by writing to 
the address below. 

Within six weeks from the date of publication of this proposal, any person may 
object to or make comments on the proposal by sending them to: 

Howard Cooper, Director of Children’s Services, Hamilton Building, Conway 
Street, Birkenhead, CH41 4FD. 

Signed: 

Dated this 22nd day of October 2008 

Page 29



Explanatory Notes 

1) The purpose of this notice is to close Arrowe Hill Primary School and to 
advise parents of pupils who attend Arrowe Hill Primary School, and parents 
of pupils who live in the catchment zone served by Arrowe Hill Primary 
School, of alternative schools where their children may be educated.  

2) The following streets from the Arrowe Hill catchment zone will be rezoned 
to Fender Primary School: Archers Court, Archers Way, Arrowe Brook Road, 
Arrowe Court, Arrowe Park Hospital, numbers 51 and above Arrowe Park 
Road, Atherton Drive, Beechwood Court, Belvedere Court, Berkeley Court, 
Berkley Avenue, Big Meadow Road, Brentwood Court, Caldwell Drive, 
Cheshire Acre, Cheswood Court, Childwall Green, Church Lane 
(Woodchurch), Colbert Close, number 86 to 156 Commonfield Road, Crewe 
Green, Domville Drive, Druids Way, Eltham Close, Eltham Green, Fleetcroft 
Road, Fletcher Close, Glebe Hey Road, Goodacres Court, Goodacres 
Meadow, Greenwood Road, Houghton Court, Houghton Road, Kiln Road, 
Leeswood Road, Lower Green, Maritime Court, Mavis Drive, Meadow 
Crescent, Merton Drive, Nantwich Close, Northbrooke Way, Parklands Court, 
numbers 56 and above, and 69 and above Pemberton Road, Pool Lane, 
Robin Way, Sandfield Road, School Lane (Woodchurch), Schoolfield Close, 
Schoolfield Road, Sherry Lane, Troutbeck Close, Whitefield Close, 
Woodchurch Lane (Woodchurch), Woodland Drive (Woodchurch), Woodland 
Road (Woodchurch), Woodvale Court and Yew Tree Close. 

The following streets from the Arrowe Hill catchment zone will be rezoned to 
Overchurch Infant and Overchurch Junior Schools: Ford Way 1 to 121, 
Salacre Close, numbers 70 and above, and 77 and above Salacre Lane, 
Shortfield Road, Shortfield Way and Whiteside Close. 

The following streets from the Fender Primary catchment zone will be rezoned 
to Overchurch Infant and Overchurch Junior Schools: Ford Close, Ford Drive, 
numbers 1 to 67 and 2 to 34 Ford Road and numbers 123 and above Ford 
Way. 
A map showing the proposed alterations to catchment zones is available to 
view at Arrowe Hill Primary School, Fender Primary School, Overchurch Infant 
and Overchurch Junior Schools and on-line at:  

www.wirral-mbc.gov.uk/primaryplaces 

3) The Authority’s information booklets for parents are available on request 
from the Children and Young People’s Department by calling 0151 606 
2000 during office hours, or on-line at:   

www.wirral-mbc.gov.uk/admissions/primarybook.pdf 

Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



�����������	���
���������������������
��
���������
���������������������

�����������	�
����	��������
���	���������������������������������	����

���������	��
���

������������������������� !���"����!���#"�$��#�%�&�#�"�%�'� $�(!'�")�"�%�����
(#�(�)��)*��� ������������  #�))*��� �����������������)������"��")�(#�(�)� ������)��!� �
'�� ")����"�!� ��

�

+"##�����!��"�*���,������*�	#"%�������#���*�+����)�$*�+"##��*���--�.���

�##�,���"���
#"��#$��������

����	�	����
���

������� ����,����"��")�(����� ����������(#�(�)��)�,"���'��"�(������� *��#�,��#������
(#�(�)��)��#�����'��"�(������� �"��)��%�)*�"���#���"����'�!�������)��%���� ����� �������
,�"��������)��%��")�(����� ����'��"�(������� ��

�

���")�(����� ����"�(���������")�(#�(�)����#���/�)���!%!)��0112���

���������
���

�����)���������������������������������((�"��'���)���!��#$�#�3!"#�����)�������)!���"��
#����"����������(#�(�)��)�,�#�����(�"� �,"����

�

����)���!��#$����)!����"���#�3!"#�����)�#����"�%������")�(#�(�)�����&��'�������(�"� �
,"����
!'�"�����)!����"��)�,�#����� � !#"�%�4��!�#$������#���011.*�"���! "�%���
���)!����"�������"�%�����##�,���"���
#"��#$�����������02���4��!�#$�011.��� ��������
��"%�'�!#"�%��� �#�
#"��#$�)���������/�)��4��!�#$�011.������)���!��#$����)!����)�
,�#�����)!��� �"������# �����,"�������#���&��������%!" ������� �)���!��#$�
#�3!"#�����)���

����&" ���������������)!����"���'���#������(#�(�)��)�,�#��(!'�")�� �"���! "�%5�

6�7� ���")�����(�#)��)��� 8�#�(�#�"�)�,���,�#�����)!��� 9��

6'7� �"�!��)��������(!'�"�����)!����"�������"�%)9��

6�7� ����&"�,)��������(�#)��)����)!��� 9��� �

6 7� ��("�)�����������)!����"��� ��!����)��� ���)��������������,����)��,�#���� ��
�&�"��'�����

�

�����((�� "��)����� �	��

�

���	��
�	��

��������':���"&�)��������(#�(�)����

�

��� ")����"�!���##�,���"���
#"��#$���������

Page 33



���������������
�	��
���

�����)����������� �)!((�#�"�%��&" �����"� "���"�%���,�����(#�(�)��)�,"���"�(�����������
)��� �# )*� "&�#)"�$��� �3!��"�$����� !���"���"�������#����

�

�##�,�� �"��� 
#"��#$� �� � ���� (!("�)� ��� #���� "�� 4��!�#$� 011.*� �'�!�� �� ��"# � ��� ����
�!�'�#����#�����0�$��#)��%��6/-/7����")�")���#%��$�����#�)!��������������"�%�(�(!���"��*�
�����!%�� ;/<� ��� (�����"��� ����!�"�$� )������ (�#���)� �"&"�%� "�� ���� ���������� =����
����)�� ��� )�� � ���"#� ��"� #��� ��)�,��#�*� (#"��"(���$� ��� +�� ��!#��� ��� 
#"��#$�

������� 6/;<*� �1�� (!("�)7*��&�#��!#��� ������� �� � 4!�"�#� 6�/<*� /-� (!("�)7� �� �
�� �#�
#"��#$�������� 6��<*� /1� (!("�)7�� ���#�� �#�� �� ��#%�� �!�'�#� ��� )!#(�!)�

(����)�6-�<*�2��(����)7*��� ���")�)"�!��"���")�����(#� "��� ����"�(#�&���&�#�������>��
�"&��$��#)��

�� ��#��� $��#� �&�#�%�� ��� ���� �&�#���� &��!�� �  � � )��#�� 6011�� ��� 011;7� )��,)� �����
�##�,�� �"��*� �� �#*� +�� ��!#��� ��� �� � �&�#��!#��� 4!�"�#� �#�� ��?"�%� ����
�>(���� � #���� ��� (#�%#�))� 6�11�.*� 22�;*� �11�1� �� � �11�/� #�)(���"&��$7� ,"��� ���
)"%�"�"����� "���#�����"��(�#��#�������

��)�� �#�(�#�)�������)��)�����)��#��������� ��)��((�� ">��������+�� ��!#����#���
,"���#���"��(�#���������"������������!�"�$*���!#��������%��� ��� �������"��(#"��#$�
)�����������,"�%����)!#������##�,���"���
#"��#$���������

������)�����)�"��&"��'�$���)����#�������"���"���������#%�#�)�����)��+"##���(��"�$�)�$)�
����� )�����)� '������ "��#��)"�%�$���#��  "��"�!��� �����"���"�� �)� ���$� ����� '���,� �.1�
(!("�)����#���������%!" �����)�$)������@������)�,"�����,�#��������1�(!("�)���$�'��
� !���"�����$��� � �"����"���$�)!)��"��'������$� ��#�!%��)!')����"���)!')" "�)�&"�� ���"#�
�������!���#"�"�)��!� "�%���#�!��A���

"����"���$*�����������)!���&�"��'�����#�)(�� "�%���������!#���"� #��� ��)�����"��#��)��
"�� ,�� ����)�� �)� ��� �!���#"�$� ��� �#%��")�� �!#� ��"� #��� "�� ��#�� )�����)� ����� ")�
����))�#$� ��#� ���� ���"�"���� �� � ������"&��  ��"&�#$� ��� � !���"���� ��� �����,)� ����� ����
��"������������)�����)�����)*�,��#����")�")���������))�#$*�����)���������>(��)�����
���� ����#� ��"� #���� ��� 011BC011;*� �>(�� "�!#�� (�#� (!("�� ��� �##�,�� �"��� ,�)� D�*�;��
���(�#� �,"�������+"##����&�#�%�����D/*0-2��

���)!#������##�,���"���
#"��#$��������)�&�)�����$���#������&�#����)�����)�'! %����
����)�&"�%�")�#"�%C����� ��������+"##���)�����)�'! %��*�,�"�������,)���#���!� "�%����
'��)(�����������+"##��E)���"� #����� �$�!�%�(��(���"���# �#����#�")��)��� �# )���#�))�
����'�#�!%���

�

 ���
�
���!�����"#��	��������

$��+��#������)������(#�(�)� ����'�� ")����"�!� �(#�&" �)�)">�����#��� !���"��*���,�
����(#�(�)��)�,"���"�(������5�

6�7� ����� !���"������#��#�"�"�%����"�&�����)9�

6'7� (�#�"�"(��"���"��� !���"����#��#�"�"�%9��� �

6�7� ����#��%������ !���"������#��#�"�"�%��((�#�!�"�"�)*�

��#��BC�2�$��#��� )�"�������#����

�

�����((�"��'����

�

Page 34



%		��!�������	��

&����)����������� �)!((�#�"�%��&" ������'�!��������� ���#�(����)�"�������#���"���! "�%�
,�����#����#��")�)!��"�"������(��"�$����������� ���� ")(���� �(!("�)��

�

���#���#��0������#���"&��(#"��#$�)�����)�6��!��"�%���������� �4!�"�#�)�����)��)���)"�%���
)�����7�,"��"����0��"���#� "!)*����,�"���"��4��!�#$�011.����#��,�#���21�)!#(�!)�(����)*�
���(�#� ���������!�'�#����#�����������(!("�)��

�����!�'�#����#�������4��!�#$�011.�����##�,���"���
#"��#$�,�)�����(!("�)*��� �"��
��(���'�#�011.��� �����������B/�(!("�)����>��! "�%����)��(!("�)�"��F��#�B�,���,"�����&��
��&� ������)���� �#$�)������"����(���'�#�0112*����#���#���>(���� ����'���1�(!("�)����
�#��)��#�����������#���"&��������(#"��#$�)������

�������#���"&��(#"��#$�)�����)�"������+�� ��!#���(����"�%��#��������*����#��,�#��.B�
)!#(�!)�(����)�"��4��!�#$�011.����(�� �������(�#������(#���#����)*��  "�"�����
������� ��"�����$�'��#�3!"#� �������$������ �#�
#"��#$���������

#��+��#������)��������)���#��"%"�!)����#����#*���)����������'�!������"�(�����������
(#�(�)� ����)!#���������'���������� ����"���"�����(#�&")"���"�������#����� �����"�(����
���(�#���������"����

�

�����((�"��'����

����	�����'������!�����
���

(������#���"����)���������!�'�#)*��%��#��%�*�)�>��� �)(��"���� !���"�������� )����
(!("�)�6 ")�"�%!")�"�%�'��,����'��# "�%��� � �$�(!("�)7���#�,����(#�&")"���")��� �����
����)�������

�

�##�,���"���")����">� �)�>�����!�"�$�(#"��#$�)������(#�&" "�%�0�1�(����)���#� �$�
(!("�)��%� �-�����������4��!�#$�011.����#��,�#������(!("�)����#���*�����"�%����B/�(!("�)�
"����(���'�#�011.��

�
�����	�� ��
���

������"�)��������)�����)��#��!#���#�� !���"��������%�)�,�"���(!("�)��������)��������#�
,����(#�&")"���")����'�� ")����"�!� �,"���'������#� �(����)*�"���! "�%5�

6�7� ��$�"���#"���##��%�����)9�

6'7� ,��#������)������"���! � �(#�&")"��������")�#���%�")� �'$������������ !���"���
�!���#"�$��)�#�)�#&� ���#���"� #���,"���)(��"���� !���"�������� )*���������#���"&��
(#�&")"������'���� ����#�(!("�)�"������)�����E)�#�)�#&� �(#�&")"��9��� �

6�7� "��������)�����)(��"���)�����)*�����#���"&��(#�&")"����� ��'$�������� !���"���
�!���#"�"�)�����#�����������!���#"�$�,�"�����"���"�)�����)�������

�

�����!##������ �(#�:���� �(!("�)��#����##�,���"���
#"��#$���!� �'��������� ��� ����
(#"��#$�)�����)�,"��"����#��)���'��� ")������,"���!��#�3!"#"�%���$���,����))#����
(#�&")"����������.��'�&����

���������������#����������)������")����'�� "&" � �'��,������ �#�
#"��#$���������� �
�&�#��!#������������ �4!�"�#���������
#�(�)� �����%�)�������������������#��)��#��
������� ��)��((�� ">����

�

Page 35



�������"�)������$�����#����)!#�)�(#�(�)� ����'����?������"��#��)�������!�'�#����
)�������#��!#���#�� !���"��������%��(����)��&�"��'���"�����)�3!������������(#�(�)� �
 ")����"�!������

�

��(�� �������(�#������(#���#����)*��  "�"�����(����)���$�'��#�3!"#� ������ �#�

#"��#$��������������!##������(��"�$���������� �#�'!"� "�%�")�0�1�(!("�)�����������#��#�
�##�,���"���(!("�)����#�������/�)���!%!)��0112��(�� �����#��)��#������ �#�
#"��#$�
������*�"��")��)�"���� �������,���  "�"��������))#���)�,�!� �'��#�3!"#� *�'#"�%"�%�����
��(��"�$����0;1�(!("�)��

�����������'	�������
���

�����)����������� �)!((�#�"�%��&" ������'�!������"�(���������������!�"�$��� ���$�
���)!#�)�(#�(�)� �����"�"%������$�� &�#)��"�(�����

�

��#%�� �!�'�#)� ��� (�#���)� �"&"�%� ,"��"�� �##�,�� �"��E)� =���� ��#�� $� ����)�� �"���#�
�� �#� 
#"��#$� �#� �&�#��!#��� ������� �� � 4!�"�#� ������)*� �� � ���#�� �#�� 0��
����#���"&��(#"��#$�)�����)�,"��"����0��"���#� "!)��������)���������������������=����
����##�,���"���
#"��#$�������� �����,"�%� ���)!#��,�!� *� "�� ������"�*� '���������� � ���
�� �#� 
#"��#$*�,"��� ���� �>��(�"��� ��� �� )����� �#��� ��� ���� @��(A� ��� ���� =����,�"���
��!� � '�� �������� � ��� �&�#��!#��� ������� �� � 4!�"�#� �������� ���� "�����"��� ��� ��")�
 "&")"���,�)����'����#�������,��#��(�#���)��"&���� �����)�����)�� ����"#���"� #������
)������� 
�#���)� �!##����$� "�C=���� ��#� �&�#��!#��� ������� �� � 4!�"�#� )�����)� ,�!� �
����"�!�� ��� '�� "�C=���� �� � ,�!� � '�� !�������� � '$� ��")� ����%��� ���� (#�(�)� �
���������)��#��������� ��)��((�� ">����

�������"�)�����>��� � �)�#&"��)�����)����������#� ��� �,����"��")�(#�(�)� ���#����)��
)�#&"��)����������)��������)� ")����"�!� ��

�

����)����������#)�&�#"�!)��!�����)��������!')� "���! "�%� ����'���*�'� �"������� ��#"�?��*�
�#�*� ���"#*� ������ �#��������'#��?��)����!'��(�#���)� �#����##�,���"���
#"��#$�������*�
,"��� �� :�"��� ����#)������ ��!'� '�"�%� ��� � "�� �����'�#��"��� ,"���+�� ��!#��� ��� 
#"��#$�
������� ��� ���� +�� ��!#��� ��� )"���� ���� )������ ��)� ��)�� �(�#��� � ��"�$� ���#�"�%�
��!#)�)�"���"��#��$*��!��#��$*������� �(�#���"�%�)?"��)��
�
��������#)��������!'�'�)� ����+�� ��!#������
#"��#$��������,�!� �����'��������� �'$�
���� ���)!#�� ��� �##�,�� �"���� �"�"��#� �!�� ��� )������ ���"&"�"�)� �#�� ��� � ��� ����#� (#"��#$�
)�����)�"�������#��*��� �,�!� �'���>(���� ��������"�!���
�
�#� �>��(��*� �� �#� 
#"��#$� ����#)� �!�� ��� )������ ��!')� ��#� ����'���*� '�)�'���*� ���'���*�
#!%'$*�%���*�������"�)*�$�%�*� ����*�'�>�#�")�*����"#*� ���*� #���# �#)*� #�� "�%��� �)�! $*�
�#�*� )�,"�%� �� � ���?"�%�� ���� )������ (�#�"�"(���)� "�� ���� ��"� #��E)� ��"&�#)"�$�� G�#"�!)�
��"�$� ���#�"�%� ��!#)�)� �#�� ��)�� �(�#��� *� "���! "�%� (�#���"�%� )?"��)�� �� '#��?��)�� �#�
����#)��������!'�")���������#� ����(#�)���*�,"���(�#���)�'�"�%� "#���� �����������"�"�$�������
�"������ �� � ���� ��%��)� ������"�� 
#"��#$� ������*� ��,�&�#*� ���� )������ ")� �!##����$�
!� �#��?"�%� �� )!#&�$� ��� (�#���)� ��� �)��'�")�� ,�����#� ���#�� ")� )!��"�"����  ���� � ��#�
'���#�8����#)��������#����� ����)������ "�)����� ����##�,���"���,�#�� ������)�*� �!� "�%� ��#� ����
'#��?��)����!'���!� �'���#��)��##� ������ �#�
#"��#$���������

�

)���	���

�������"�)�������%����� �:�!#��$)��������#���"&��(#�&")"����

�

Page 36



������#��#��##�,���"���
#"��#$�(!("�)����#���������")� ����,����(������#��)��#������ �#�

#"��#$�������*�#�%�# ��))����������  #�))*�,"���'��%!�#����� ���(���������� �#�

#"��#$����������##�,���"���
#"��#$��������")�1�B��"��)��#����� �#�
#"��#$����������

��������1�(!("�)��>(���� ����'�����#���������(���'�#�0112*���!#�,�!� ��#�&�����#�������0�
�"��)����'������ �#��#��&�#��!#���������84!�"�#*�'!��������!#���#�� $��#�&�����#�������0�
�"��)�����##�,���"���
#"��#$*�)������'���>(���� ����!)��,�"���&�#�����)�����#��)(�#��
���$��#����#�� $�!�"�")"�%����#���(!("�)�,�!� �'��(�����"���$�'�����"��� �������"�C=����(�����
����&�#��!#�����������#�4!�"�#�������*�)��!� �(�#���)� ��" ������((�$���#�:!)������(!("�*�
���� ")����������� �#�
#"��#$�")�)"%�"�"�����$��!#���#���������� ")����������##�,���"���

#"��#$����������

�����#"���(�����)��,"�%�����#����"&��(�)"�"��)�������)����#���)�����)�")�"���! � ��)�
�((�� ">����

*��+
�,��
�����	��

%��	��-������ -���.	�/
��� 0	��	��
��	��'���'�
��!���12��
���

1� 0�/B� 0�0.� 0�-/�

1� 1�00� 1���� ��12�

1� 1�/.� 1��/� 1�2��

1� 1��;� 1�0B� ��-��

1� 1�B-� 1�/0� ��0.�

1H� 1�BB� 1�.� 1�.;�

�� 1�/.� 1��/� 1�2��

�� 1�/B� 1�B/� ��1-�

�� 1�0-� 1�;/� ���/�

�� �� 1�-�� ��.�

�� 1�//� 1�B/� ��12�

�� 1�-�� 1�-B� ��-��

0� 0�/B� 0�0.� 0�-/�

0H� 1��/� 1�B.� 1�./�

0� 1�-� 1�;-� ��

0� 1�/2� 1�-0� ��1.�

0� 1�-.� 1�0;� ��/0�

0� 1��;� 1�0B� ��-��

0� 0�;/� 0�.2� /�B-�

0� 1�1;� 1��;� ��0�

0� 1�/-� 1�.� 1�..�

0� 1�-/� 1�..� ��/.�

/� 1�BB� 1�/-� ��/�

/� 1�-� 1�;-� ��

/� 1�;�� 1��B� ���0�

/� 1�/B� 1�B/� ��1-�

/� 1�-/� 1�B� 1�22�

/� 1�1B� 1��2� ���;�

/� 1�/�� 1�./� 1�2��

/H� 1��-� 1�2�� 1�;;�

/� 0�10� ��2-� 0���

/� 1�/-� 1�;� ��/;�

-� 1�-�� 1�;�� 1�2;�

-� 1�00� 1���� ��12�

-� 1�/.� 1��/� 1�2��

-� 1�/B� 1�B/� ��1-�

-� 1�-0� 1�B/� 1�2;�

Page 37



-� 1�12� 1��2� ��00�

-� 1��;� 1�0� ��0/�

-� 1�/� 1��2� ���;�

�� /� 0�20� /�1;�

�� 1�0�� 1�B;� ���0�

�� 1�BB� 1�/-� ��/�

�� ���B� ���-� 1�.2�

�� 1�-0� 1�;B� 1�2.�

�� 1�0�� 1�B0� ��0.�

�� 1�-�� 1��B� ��-;�

�� 1�-0� 1�;/� 1�.;�

�� 1�0-� 1�;/� ��/�

�� 1��0� 1��-� ����

�� 0��B� 0��-� ��-�

B� 0�/B� 0�0.� 0�-/�

B� 1�.�� 1�0B� ��B��

B� ���B� ���-� 1�.2�

B� 1��� 1�B-� ���0�

B� 1�0.� 1��;� ��1.�

B� 1�/�� 1�B� ��1.�

B� ��..� ��.� ��2B�

B� 1�0/� 1�B2� ��0B�

B� 1�B-� 1�/0� ��0.�

B� 1�/B� 1�B.� ��1��

B� 1�-;� 1�/B� ���B�

B� 0��B� 0��-� ��-�

�

���������	��� �����������	���� ���������	���� ��������	����

�

H�"� "����)��!##����������  #�))�,�!� �'��,"��"���&�#��!#���������84!�"�#�=����!� �#���,�
�����������##��%�����)�

�

�������(#�(�)� ��##��%�����)���#��#�&������ ")(���� �(!("�)��������#�)�����)�"���! "�%�
��,����$�,"������(����,�#?��%�"�)��"��#��)� ���#�!)���

�

���� ")����������� �#�
#"��#$�")�����)"%�"�"�����$����%�#�����������!##����:�!#��$�
 ")����������##�,���"���
#"��#$���������� �(!("�)�����'���>(���� ��������"�!������#�&������
)������'$�,�"���&�#�����)����$��#���!##����$�!)"�%*�,"������)"%�"�"�����"��#��)��"����#�
!)���


!("�)���$��#��)��#������$�������(#"��#$�)�����*�)!':��������&�"��'"�"�$����(����)��� �����
� �"))"����##��%�����)�(!'�")�� �"�������!���#"�$E)�"���#���"���'��?������#�(�#���)���

���#���#�������������0������#���"&��(#"��#$�)�����)�6��!��"�%���������� �4!�"�#�)�����)��)�
��(#"��#$�)�����7�,"��"����0��"���#� "!)��

3	���	�� ����������

$����)����������)����,�����#�"�������("�"����������������� !���"����!���#"�$��#�
%�&�#�"�%�'� $*�����(#�(�)��)��#��#����� ������$�����#�(#�(�)��)�,�"�����$���&��'���*�
�#�*��#��#���'�!�����'��(!'�")�� ��

�

���#���#���������#�(#�(�)��)�,�"����#�*��#��#���'�!�����'�*�(!'�")�� �"��#����"��������")�

Page 38



(#�(�)����

3����� �
�������'�����

&��+��#��(#�(�)��)�#�����������#!#���(#"��#$�)������ �)"%���� ��)�)!���'$�����# �#�
�� ����#�����(!#(�)�)����)���"�����������������011B*���)�������������������������
� !���"����!���#"�$��#�����%�&�#�"�%�'� $�6�)�������)����$�'�7����)" �#� 5�

6�7� �����"?��$����������� ")����"�!������������)�����������������������!�"�$9�

6'7� �����&�"��'"�"�$*��� ��"?��$���)���������������� !���"����!���#"�$*�����#��)(�#�����
����#�)�����)9�

6�7� ��$�"��#��)��"������!)���������#�&��"���)�,�"���")��"?��$����#�)!����#�������
 ")����"�!������������)�����*��� ������"?��$�������)������$�)!���"��#��)�9��� �

6 7� ��$�����#���"&�)�������� ")����"�!������������)�����*�

�)�#�3!"#� �'$�)���"�����6-7������������011B��

�

�����((�"��'���

4�
���
�	������	�����'�����

#��+��#��(#�(�)��)�#������������� ")����"�!������������"���"�� ��!#)�#$�)�����*���
)���������)���"�%��!�5�

6�7� �������)" �#��"����������)�'����%"&������ �&���("�%�����)������"��������"� #��E)�
����#���� �����%#�!� )���#����� �"�%�)�9�

6'7� ����������� !���"����!���#"�$E)��))�))������������3!��"�$��� �3!���"�$��������
����#���"&��(#�&")"������(�#� ��������)������(#�(�)� ����'�� ")����"�!� ��� �����
(#�(�)� ��##��%�����)������)!#�������>(�#�")���� �)(��"��")������"�!�)����'��
�&�"��'��9��� �

6�7� ��������))"'"�"�$��� ����&��"��������#�(���������(#�&")"�����#�������(�#���)��

�

�����((�"��'���

��	�
���	�����
���������
�
���

�(��+��#���>")�"�%�(#�&")"�����#�(!("�)�,"���)(��"���� !���"�������� )�")�'�"�%�
 ")����"�!� *���)����������)������,������������ !���"����!���#"�$��#�����%�&�#�"�%�'� $�
'��"�&�)�����(#�(�)���")��"?��$������� ����"�(#�&�����)�"������)��� �# *�3!��"�$��� 8�#�
#��%���������� !���"�����(#�&")"�����#����)����"� #����

�

�����((�"��'���

�

�

Page 39



�����������

����������	
����	����
������
���������
�������

�� �������������

�� �����
����

�� ����
����������������	����������������������

�� ���������
�	������

�� ����������������
������� �

�� ����!
��	��
�"	������������������
�������	��"	������������������#�

�� �����
	
����	��$�����������
��������������������������	%��#�������
���������	��	
���	���%�������

	
������$��
���

�#��������&���#�
'�������
����

�� ����
����������������	������������	%��#����������������	��	
������%����
���

	
������$��
������

�#��������&���#�'�������
���(�

�� ������
	�
��������
���	����
�

	�
���
�
�
����� ��������

�������
����
�

!�������	��� )� )� *�

+�
��� ),� -,� .*�

��

�#�������� *� *� *�

/�����0��������� ..� � �

�
�
��
������	�
�%���	
�������������������������������
��������������
�
���������������������������
���
����
�������	��"��	�������	�%�
 �
���	�������#�1��!�
���	��2��%�
�1��!�
"��	�!�%����
��1��!��
����#��	����1��!�
��	��&�����1�����
	�	�
�
�
��3���0	��	�%��1�����������
4��5	�����

����1����	����������
����
�
!���
���#�6.�����
��$�7�������%�%����$�-������
���$��
�.*�������	
��������
�����
�(�
�
8,9�������	���������������
����#�����������
������
�������(�

Page 40



����������������������
���
����
�������	��"��	�������	�%�
 �
���	�������#�1��!�
���	��2��%�
�1��!�
"��	�!�%����
��1��!��
����#��	����1��!�
��	��&�����1�����
	�	�
�
�
����%��0	����	���:������������
�	�������#�1����	����������
����
�
!���
���#�-;�����
��$�;;�������%�%����$�6������
�����
�.<�������	
��������
�����
�(�
�
6;9�������	���������������
����#�����������
������
�������(�
�
������
�������������� ���
�!�����
���
����
�������	��"��	�������	�%�
 �
���	�������#�1��!�
���	�������
���:��!�
"��	�!�%����
��1��!��
����#��	����1��!�
��	��&�����1�����
	�	�
�
�
�����	
��=�������:������������
��������#�1����	����������
����
�
!���
���#�<�����
��$�-�������%�%����$�8������
�����
�-�������	
��������
�����
�(�

� �

>
� ����� ���� ���� ���5�������� ��� ����� ������� ��� ������
�� ���5����
�
	
���%��	�
��
�����������������
	�#������%%�
���
������
$�����������	
��
%�����������
������	�
�������%���#����

�	 � ���� ����� ��
������	�
� ���%�
�� �
� ���	��� ���5� ���� ��
�� ��� ����
�������� 	
� ����� ����?� ������ /
�:����� �����$� �	����	��� �
� ����
��
����� �	����#?� 0������#� ���
� ����� �
� ������
�� ��%%�
	�#�
��
����?�

�		 � �����
��@�������@� ��
������	�
� ��������� �
� ��%%�
��� ���%�� ��� ����
����
���������$��	��������������
�%��	
��������	�
�?�

�			 � ���
������������������������������	
������%�������

	
�������$��
��
���%���������������
�%��	
��������	�
���
��
��������������������
	
������%�������

	
������(�

Page 41



�	� � �!��	��������:�	����
�����0	���������
	
����	�����������	����
�
������	����
��������
�	�����:�	��$��������
�	��>
���
��$��
�	
�
���� ����
��@� ��
������	�
� ��������� �
� ���� ���
��� �������� ���
�������(�����	���	�������	��������������������	
���%��	�
��������
	
������� ���%��
���������:%�	�� �����
���� ������	������:%�	��
�����(�

�� � �����	
������������
����������� 	
�����������5�������������������
������������
�%��	
����	�
������������������%����%��	�
(��������
%���	
��� �������� ���� ��%�� ���%��$� �	��� �� �����
���	�
� �
� ����
�����������	�	�
��
����������������	�	�����	�	�
����������#�����
�

	
��#� %	
����� ��� �	%�� ���� ��	�
��� ��%%�
��$� ������5� �
�
A����	�
�(� �����%���	
�������� ����
���#�����
��$� ������$� �����$�
�����
���$� 0��� %�%����� �
� ���	���� ������ 	
�������� �����
��
�
���	��$�	
���	
��"	�����
��������
���	�����������������	���(��
&����%���	
�� ���� ���	��� �#� �������	
���%�%���� ���� ��	���
@��
����	�����
��	����
������
	
�(�������������������%���	
��������	
�
���� ����
��@� ��������� �
� �
� ���� ����	�	�� ���:�	��� �
� �� ��
�����

��	�����������	����	
����������������(�

��	 � �/������
	�	��� ����� ����	�� ���� ������ %��
�� ��� �����
��(��
���%	��	�
�� ����� ����	��� 	
� ������ �
� �:%�	�� ���%���� 1� ���� ���
��	��������%������	��������������
���� �������	
���%���	
�$� 	
�
�	�	�
����������%%��	�����
��	
��	
�����������(�

��		 � �!����������������
���!����%�
���	�
������������������
������	�
�
�����������	�������"	�����
�2�	��(�

�

Page 42



���������	�


�����������������������������

�����������������������������������
������

����� �������

�� ����������	��
���

��������������

�� ��	����	��
������	����������
������

�����	�������
����
����

�� ���	�������������
����������

�� �	�����������	�
����������������������

�� ���������������������	�����������	�
�����


�������
�������

�� ������
����	��
�

�� ��������������
����������	���������������	�����������

��  ��

���	��
��������	�����������!��������������

�

�� "�������	������
���������
��

�� ���	����������	����	��
���
����	����	�
����	��

�� "�������
���

�� �������������������������������#������������
������
�����������������������	�������	���������
���

�� $�#��������	���������������

�� %#�

�����	��
����	���������	����

��  ��

���	��
��	����������������	�
����

�� ����&'��������������	��
������	���������

�� ������������������������

�� ����������������

��  ��������������
!�������������������������	�
���(������

�������

�� �	�
������������������

���

���������������	��
�

�� ���
����)��	�
��������������������	��
��
����

�� *�����������	�
��	������������������

�� $���	�
��
����������������	��
�	��

�� �����

���������������	��

�� +���
���
��������������

�� �������������������������������������

�� *��������	��
���	��*����������!��������������	�����������	�
��

Page 43



�� �	�
�������	����	�����)������������
�������
)��������	����	��
�

�� ����������������������������	�
�������,���-�

!���"�������

�� �	�
����������	�������	��
�����
��������#��

��

�� �	������	�����������������
����� ��$��	�
������

����
���

�� +���������
��	����������������������

�� .������
���������	��
����
��������������

��  ������������������	��
����
�����

�� *����(�����������	�
�����������/��������	�
��������������������
���)�������

�� ��������������������������
����

!�����������

�� 0���������������������������
���

�� ���������
������������

�� ��)�����������������	����

�� *�����
������������������������!������	�����)����
���
�)
��������
���������

�� ����������������������������
�������	������	��
��

	������ ���������

�� $����������������	�����	���	��
����
����������

��  �	��
�	�����
��1���������������������
������������

�� �	����������
��	��

�� �
�������	�*���������
�����	����
�������������������������
����
����
����

!������������������

�� ������������������������������)�������/����+��������

�� 0������
)��������	���	�

��������

�� ���������	�
����������������������������������

"��������������

�� �������������������������	�����������

�� "���������	����������	�����	��
�

�� ���	��������
�����������.�

��������
�����������������������������
��������

������������������������������
������

Page 44



����� �������

��  �	��
�����
�����������������

�� /����	�����������
�������

��	���������.�

�

�� ��������������� ������&223����	�
�	��

�� $������
��������������
�������	�45�

�� �	��������������
���������

�� 6���	���������������

�� ���	���������

������������	�
����


�������
�������

�� *��
�������	��
�

�� +�������������������������������������

�������������	�������

��  �	��
����)���
��
�����	��������

�� .
���
!��������	��
!�������!�����������������

�� %#�

�����	��
�

�� 7��������������
��������������������������������

��  ��������

������������	��
�

��  ����
�����6�������/����	���#�

�������������

��  �����	���������������
�������������

�� ��
�������
�#��������	��

�� 0����������������	��
���������������������

�� �������������������	������	�
����

��  �	��
�	������)��	������������������ ����
�$������

��  �����������������������

�� .�����	��������������

�� �����������������������
������8��

�� *��	�������������	������

��������

�� ��������������������
������1����

�� 6	���������������9�������	����!���

����!���������������
����

��  ��������	�������)���!��������������)����

��  �	��
�	���:��
�������)��

�� ,���-���)�����������������	���	�.��	���	��
�

	������ ���������

�� *����	��
��
���!�
������
���

����"������$�����

�� 0��)�����	�"������$�����%,��

Page 45



�� �����
����������������

�� +��#���������
���
������������	����
������!��������������������

����������

�� ������������	���	�.��	�

�� ����
�����	�����	���	��
����#�����������������

�� �����������������)�����������������������.�

�

�� ����%*6��
�����

�� "��������������������
����!����
��������

���)�������8���������	���
���	������	��

�� �����

��
������

�� "����*�������
�����

��  ���������
���������
�������������	��������������

�� "������8������	���
������������	�
��
��������	��

�� /����������	����
�����	��������������

�� *������%*6�	������������
����������������
���

�� �
������.�
���������	���	�

�������

�� +
�������	�����	�
�(����������	��

�� �	�
����
���������������	��
�

�� �	�
������������������	��

�� ����������

������������	�
���(����������������������	�����������

�� �����������������������
�����������������	�
�������	�� �����������
�
����

�� �	�
�����	��
������	������������)������	��
���	�������

������

�� +���
���������������

���������������	��
�

�� �	�
�������
��������	����������

��  %������
������

��������������������������
�����

�� �	�
���������������������

���������

�� *����������	�������������	����!�������

�)������	�
�������
/����

�� $���	�
����	���������������������1����

�� +
��������������

�� $���	�
�����	������������
��	��

�� �	�
������������
������������
������������������
�

Page 46



!���"�������

�� ������.�

�����
�����	�
���
����

�� $����	�
���������������/����

�� �
������������.�

����
����������
����	�
����

�� �������������.�

������������	�������

�� *�����	�/��������������.�

��
�������	�����������	��
!�����
����������
������������	���	��%��	��� ��$��	�
��

�� 6����������
�����������������	����
����������)���	���	��

�� /��������������������
���������

�� 5�����/�����������
����
����������������� %������
��

�� *��/�����
���!��������
���

����"������$�����

�� ���
���	��������	��
���������

��	��	�
����������	���	��
�����
���
��������

�� ���
������
�����	��
��

�� ���
���	����������
������������	� ��$��	�
������

����
���

�� �	���������
��������������	��
�����	������	���	�.��	������

!������������������

�� %�������������������	���������	�
�������"����������������
���
�	�
�������/�����	������������������.�

�

��  ������������������	��
����	�����������

�� /�����������	���������������

�� ������������	���	�.��	���)���������������������������������
�
����	�
����

�� �������������������������������������������������.�

�����

�� $������)�������/����

�� ��������������������������
����������	��
��

�� $���������������	�
��������������������	�����

��������

�� �	�������

������������

�� ��	����	��
���������������������)�����������.�

�����/����
����

�� *������������	����
����������������
��������������
����

�� ���
���	�����������������������	��
����
��������#�����������
�����

!�����������

�� ,��(���
�������������������

Page 47



�� *��������������)�����������������������������������

"��������������

�� ����������������������

�� /�������	��
����
����������	���	�

�� "���������	�����������	�����	��
�

�� ������������;2������

����������������#������$������%&�


���������������

�� ���������	�����������������������������5 &��������
���

�� $�#��������	�����������������
�

�� ��������������
������
������8��

�� �

���	��
�����������	�������������������	����������!�����
���
������������

���
����<����	��

��������

�� �	��������

���	��
������������	���
�������	��
���

�� "��������������������	��
����	��	�����������������

"�����������������������'�������������


���������������

�� ��������������������������	�/��������

�� ������.�

��������

���������	��
�

�� ��������������
�����
������8��

�� ���������������������������������������

	������ ���������

�� /������������

��
������

�� /��������
������
�����������"������$�����

�� ������.�

�	���1����	�����
��������������������	�����
������	��	�
���
�����������������
����

!���"�������

��  	�����	����	��
�������
��!��������
������������

������
�������
��������1���������	��
�

�� $�)�������������)��/����������������#���������"������
$������������
����	�������������
����	�
����

��  	��
�����
���������������.�

��������/�������������������
����
����

Page 48



�������������������
�������������$����� (��)*+,+-.��
�
*���������������.�� 6�������������	���	��
�

����&'������	��
������������
�=�

*���������������������

��������� �
*����������������6<��< "�
$���� �����9�������������>=&2����
�
/������������������0+1-���
�

� (�����������������	��
����
�����������	
����

�
+������ .����

��	�������9��	������������������������

�������	����������������	�
��������������������	��
=�

���������	
� �����	�����	����������	����	���
���������

+����� ����������

�����������	���	��
��
���=�

+����� /���������������� ��$��	�
(��9��	�������
��������	��
��
�����������

��� �	��
������	���������	���������
�����	��������������

�����
�
����	�������	
����	�
�����
���	����	���
	�
��	�����������
������� ����
��������	�	
���	�����

����!�	����������� ���	����	
	"�!���������
��	�������	� ���������������
	�����������
�����

+����� � �
������
�����	��������!�	���(���	��������������

��� #	
������
��	������
����������!	����	����	
�	������$	�

���	���������	����
������	��!� ��

+����� � ������������	���#�������
����=�

��� %����������
��

�	��	
�������!� ������$	���	������	��	
�
�������������
�!�	��
���
���	�����

+����� � ?���������������������������=�

�&� � &�
!	�	��

/���������
� � ?���������&;'�����
����

�&� � &�
!	�	��

/����������� � ���������	��	
��	���������������	���	��
�9�:�����
������	��9������

����!��	�
����)�����
���=�+���������
���	����������9����������
��
������	���=��	�
�������
������������=�*��������	��
��������������
���������
6��)�	��!�����������������@)���)��A�����	��=�+�������
���)��9���	��
����������	������=�
0�����������	�BC��

��������	�������
=�
�	����

������������������������B32�������9�*�	���D�

Page 49



�	�
���=�

+����� �������	�����)���	����	�������	�����������������
����	����	��
=�+���
�����������������������	�������
���
�������������������	����=�

��� � �	
���	��
	����������	�	��������
��	���	���	�����
�����
��������������
�������
��	
��������	�����	

������	�
�������
��������	���	�
���������	���	�
��

+����� �������	��)�����	��	�
����9���������	����

�	������
���������	�=����(��������������������	�/����
E�����������F=� ������	��	���������������	�
/����9���

����=�

���������	
� � '���	���������������
	���	��
���
��

+����� � �����	���	�������	����������=��	�����

�	���������	�
�������@6��������A�����	����=�

��� (��	����$���������!�!	���	���������	�
��)*+���
�����
�������	��
���
��!�
��� �*����,-����� ������	�
�����
���	���$	� �����	���&��!	�.����������	�������	����

+�����G�"��� � �	�
�������	��
=���	���������.�

��������H���	��
�=��	���
�������	�������	��
=��	�
���������

�9���

�����������
�����
����	�
��������

���)�����	��������=�*���

�	��������)�
����	���	����=�I������������������	��=�
?���������
���������9����
���	���	��
����������
������
�=�*���	�������
�)
�������)��	�������
�����)�
���	���������	����������
����=�

��� � &�
!	�	�������	����$�������	��	������	!�

���
/���	�����
/
����� �	
����������
�!�����	�
�����	������$	���	��	
���	��
��������	����	�	
�
�����	�
������	����0�����	������	�	��	
��	�!		����
��	�����
�����������������	��	����	��������	!�
�����

+����� � $������	�����

�����	�� �������&22J!��	���

������
��
�����������������
������������=�

+����� � �	�
������������ ��$��	�
(�=�*�����������������������
����������������	�����9�*����(��������	������	��������
����	�
�=�

���	�� � �	��)�������	�������(��������=����
���	����)��������
������)�����	�����������������������.�

=�

�&� � �	����	�1����	���	�
��
���	�������
��������

 ������	�� � ,���������	�������	���!��	�����

�������������������
��
��������������=�

��� � �	
���	���	2��	!���	�������� ���������������	��

Page 50




�����3		$�
������������	�������� ����� ��	!�

������!��!������
�!��������$	���	��	!�
����!�$�
�������	���	��	
��
������

 ������	��  �	��
��	������������������9�������	��
����

���)���
�	�������	������������#����������	�=�

��� � �	
���	���	�������	���		�����
��	�����	�
���
��������
����������� ������	���	�
��������������	�����$������
����	�
������������	
�	�����
���������

+����� �	���������.�

�����/������������	���	!������
���������	���	����������.�

=�*��������	�
���	������
)�
�������	���	!��������
��
�������	�
�������	����	��=�����
���	��������������
����=�

�	�
�� �  ������
������	��	��	���	������/���=�0�������
����
�	�
���������/������

���

�������������������������
.�

�����
�=�

+����� � D���������������������
����������	�����	��
=�*���
)������
/�����������	��9�����������

����=�$���	����@*�
�	����������������	�
������������	�����A=�

+����� � +��
�	���)�������C-������	������������	������	������
�������=����(������������#����	�/����)���=�

�

)���!����/���������

+����� � �������������������������

��	��	�
�������/���=�

+����� � ������.�

����������
����	��
�9����������
������	�����
�
����������	�����������	���	��
�=���������������
�	�����������	�
���=�

+����� � �	���������
��������������	��
���������	���	��

�&� � &�
!	�	��

+����� � ���	������������
����	����	�
����	�=�

+����� � ��!�������.�

!�CC;��	�
�������������	��
=�

+����� � ������	���	��
�����	���������������������������
=�

��� � �0�����	�����������	���
������������	������	� ���	���������
����	�
��

+����� �  �	��
�	�����
���

����	�������
����	������
����=�

.�����	�� � �	��)�����������������������=�.�����������������

��
��	��
����������	���	����������������
��

=�

?���������������
����
������������=�

�&�� � &�
!	�	���	������� ���������3����	� ��

�	�������"���� � �	��)����������=����
���������	��
����������������
��������=�

Page 51



,���	����������������	�����)������=���

�������������������	��
=��	��	�
��������������
�������������
��=�

+
�����������������
�=�

���
���
��������������	��
��
��������	����	��	���	��
=�

�����
�����������������	��
=�

�	����������
��
��������������	��
�

������

���
������

�
�������������=�

�
+����������9�+��)����������������.�

��������������
���

Page 52



#����2��$�����&�������2��&�������������$����� (�1+)+-.���
�
�����3�)-������������������������ ����4��������� �5�������
�
*�������������K��
������

��������� ������������
������"����(�!�1�������	�����	����	�

������������
����
������������	���	�
$���� ������ ���������������
������������������=���
� � 7�����������������
��������������"����(��
/��������6����������
�

� (�����������������	��
����
�����������	
����

�
+������ � ������.�

�����"����(��9�	�����	��
��
������

���
����� ������
����

43� �
�&� �
45� �

&�
!	�	��
&�
!	�	���	�
����
�6	/����	�
�
&�
!	�	���	����

�
�6	
/��0	����	��	������/
�������
�

+����� � ����������	���	����%=���	�������	�����������/����
����������.�

=�

43� � &�
!	�	��

+����� � �	��)����(������������������������������������
���=�
�����	��
���������	���=� �������������������=���
���
������	������������������������
������������
:��
�������������=��"�����������	�����	���������9�
�	������������	=��"�������	���������	��������9�
�����<
��<�	��=�

43� � �	
���	��2������������	�	�	��	���'	���������
4����	�	���������

�&� � &�
!	�	���	��	!���������������

������ ����	!�
������ ��	�������������

�

������

���
������

�	��)������������<�
����������)�=�

Page 53



��������������
�������������$����� (�� 7,+,+-.���
�
�
*����������������������

��������� �
$���� �����9�������������>=C2�9�>=H;����
*�������������9�$����0�����!����������������!� �

��"�����
�
/��������������������
�

� (�����������������	��
����
�����������	
����

�
+������ � +���������	���	��
�������E���
���F=��������
���������

�	�
�����	=���

�����	��������������)��������=������
	�������	�������������	�
���=�

�&� � &�
!	�	��

+����� 6����	������	�
����	�����������	����	��
!�	������

��)������

��	���	��
�=�*���������
�������������������
�������	������������	�
���=�*��������
������8�=�
�	�
������

�����
�������
������
����=�

43� � �	
���	��

+����� � *������)������	�����=�

+����� � $���������	��
������������.�

�9��������
������	��
�9������
�������������������=�

+����� � ��)����������
�������	������=�

�&� � &�
!	�	��

+����� � +������	���������

��������������
�=�

�
������������ �  ��)������������
�����	���	��
������	����)�����
������������	�����
�=�9����
��(�������������	�����	����=�

+����� � �	���������
���������	� ��$��	�
���

�&� � &�
!	�	��

+����� � �	�
����������
�����=�I������������������	���	��
=�0����
���+�����=������

�����	�=����
�������������������������
������	�
�����	����������
����=��	�
�����
������������������
��������	��
������������
�=�

43� � &�
!	�	���	����������
�	���������
��

 ���+����� � ����������������	���������������
������=�

+����� � +���
�������=� �	��
��������������	����
��������������
���������=�$�)���������)���	��������	��	��	�
���(��
������#������=�

Page 54



"�������G�
������
���� �

4�������������	�
��������	��	���������=��

��	��(�������
��
)��������	����������E���
���F=�

���������	
� � �	
���	��

+����� � ����������������������������.�

=����	��������������	�
����
���=�/�������������
������������=�
�

��	���	��
������	��������������	�/��������������
�	�
������=�/���������������	�
���������=����	����

�������	����=�
�
������������	���	�.��	� �	��
�
���������=�

/���������
� �  �	��
����������������!��	���=�������.�

��������
��������
������

����/���=�/��������	��������=�

+����� � �	�
�����������������	���	����%=�*������	���������������
���������������	�
�����/���=�5�������	�
������	���
��	��
�����	�����������������������������=�

+����+����� �  �	��
�	������������������������������������	��=�
 �	��
�	�����

������������������=�

+����� � $�����	�
�����������	����	��
!�	��������
�8���	����)�
����	���	��
=�*������	�.����������	����	����)��	�
��	��
�9������	����=�

+����� � $�����������������������	�����	��
=��	�
��	��������
�
����������	��
��������	����������
��������=�*����
������
��������	�
�����������.�

L�

+����� � �

��	���	��
�������!��

���������������������=�*����
������
��)�����	�
����������������.�

=��	�������������������
���������.�

=��������������	���	��
������	�=��	�
��	��
����)��	�������	��	�����
�=�����

����	�����)���	�
��	��
����=�

�������	�� � ����������������������������.�

=�*�
�������������.�

�����
�������������	������=�/��������������
����	��
=�

 ���������� � �������	���������=� �	��
��������������������
��=�
�	�
����������
����=����
��
�)�����	��)�������������	�
�������������������	����	��=�

+����� �  ����
������	�
�=�/�����������������	�
������	��
�	��������"������$����=��	�
��	������������
�������=�*����(�����������	�
�����������������.�

=�

+����� �  ����
����������������������=�"���������������=�
�	�������
���������������
����������������
�������=�

+����� � �	�
���	��
��	����������������.�

=��	���/���=�$��
�	�
����	����������7�����=� 	��
���
���������.�

=�

+����� � *��������	�������
�������

��	�
���!�������
���	�
�������
���
����������=������

����
�������	�
��������	���!�����

Page 55



�������������=�

43� � (��	����$����������	���
���	
��

+����� � �	�����

�	�����������	�
���	��	��������

������������
.�

�	������������)��	���

43� � &�
!	�	��

+����� � ������.�

����
��	���#�����������������������=�
/�������	������
������������������
�����������	�
��
����	����������������������	���	�.��	��	���	����
��
	������=� 	��
�����������������������	���	������
���	�������=�

+����� � I�����������������������	��
�9��������	��
��
����
������=�

)���&��������

+����� � *����
��(��������	�
�����"����������	��������������	����
�	�
�����������.�

��������
��*���

�������	���������������
��������=�

�	�������"���� �	��)��$���� �����

+�����������������������������=�

+����� � �	���������
��������������	��
���������	���	�.��	��

�&� � &�
!	�	��

+����� � ���	������������
����	����	�
����	�=�

+����� � ��!�/���!�CC;��	�
�������������	��
L�

+����� � ������	���	��
�����	���������������������������
=�

��� � �0�����	�����������	���
������������	������	� ���	���������
����	�
��

+����� �  �	��
�	�����
���

����	�������
����	������
����=�

.�����	�� � �	��)�����������������������=�.�����������������

��
��	��
����������	���	����������������
��

=�

?���������������
����
������������=�

�	�������"���� �	��)����������=����
���������	��
����������������
��������=�

,���	����������������	�����)������=���

�������������������	��
=��	��	�
��������������
�������������
��=�

+
�����������������
�=�

���
���
��������������	��
��
��������	����	��	�
��	��
==�

�����
�����������������	��
=�

�	����������
��
��������������	��
�

Page 56



������

���
������

�
�������������=�

�
�

Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Arrowe Hill Primary School
Inspection report

105052Unique Reference Number

WirralLocal Authority

308753Inspection number

13–14 November 2007Inspection dates

Michael McIlroy HMIReporting inspector

This inspection of the school was carried out under section 5 of the Education Act 2005.

PrimaryType of school

CommunitySchool category

4–11Age range of pupils

MixedGender of pupils

Number on roll

115School

The governing bodyAppropriate authority

Ms J GranellChair

Miss H WilliamsHeadteacher

24 March 2003Date of previous school inspection

Glebe Hey RoadSchool address

Woodchurch

Wirral

Merseyside

CH49 8HE

0151 6785064Telephone number

0Fax number

4–11Age group

13–14 November 2007Inspection dates

308753Inspection number

Page 60



.

© Crown copyright 2007

Website: www.ofsted.gov.uk

This document may be reproduced in whole or in part for non-commercial educational purposes, provided that

the information quoted is reproduced without adaptation and the source and date of publication are stated.

Further copies of this report are obtainable from the school. Under the Education Act 2005, the school must

provide a copy of this report free of charge to certain categories of people. A charge not exceeding the full cost

of reproduction may be made for any other copies supplied.

Inspection Report: Arrowe Hill Primary School, 13–14 November 2007

Page 61



Introduction

The inspection was carried out by one of Her Majesty's Inspectors and one Additional Inspector.

Description of the school

The school is smaller thanmost primary schools and serves an area that experiences deprivation

that is more than twice the national average. The proportion of pupils entitled to free school

meals is over three times the average. Most pupils are White British. Very few pupils speak

English as an additional language. The proportion of pupils with learning difficulties and/or

disabilities is above average.

The school holds a number of awards including the Healthy Schools Award and the Activemark.

Key for inspection grades

OutstandingGrade 1
GoodGrade 2
SatisfactoryGrade 3
InadequateGrade 4

3 of 11Inspection Report: Arrowe Hill Primary School, 13–14 November 2007

Page 62



Overall effectiveness of the school

Grade: 2

This is a good school with a number of outstanding features. The school's strengths lie in the

outstanding provision in the Foundation Stage and in the excellent personal development and

well-being of its pupils. The care and support which learners receive is also very good.

The achievement of pupils is good. By the time pupils leave the school, results are consistently

above average. Children enter the school with abilities in learning that are below that expected

for their age group. They receive an excellent start to their education in the Foundation Stage

and make good progress. Pupils in Key Stage 1 are currently making good progress, but this

has not always been the case in recent years due to some discontinuity in staffing. Standards

in this key stage in 2007 were broadly average but there are some weaknesses in provision for

the more able pupils in reading and writing. Pupils' progress accelerates in Key Stage 2 and

standards have risen steadily over the last five years. The most recent assessments indicate

that in 2007 overall standards were well above average.

The good progress made by pupils rests on a number of factors, including the very good personal

development and well-being of pupils. Pupils enjoy school thoroughly. They particularly

appreciate the many clubs and activities which school provides, some of which are thoughtfully

aimed at enhancing their personal development and social skills. They have a very strong

understanding of how to keep safe. Pupils' very good awareness of how to lead healthy lives

is exemplified by their own decision to ban sweets in school. The school's strong emphasis on

raising pupils' expectations of what they can achieve and how they should conduct themselves

means that behaviour and attitudes to learning are good. Attendance and punctuality are

satisfactory, despite the best efforts of the school.

The care guidance and support which pupils receive is good overall. The exceptional care and

support provided by the school and other agencies strongly develop pupils' personal skills,

reduce potential barriers to learning and enable pupils to focus on learning. Staff know their

pupils well and as a result individual needs are well met. Very good support ensures that pupils

with learning difficulties and/or disabilities make good progress. Pupils are given very good

pastoral guidance but there are inconsistencies in the academic guidance which they receive.

The quality of teaching is good overall and some is outstanding. A good curriculum is

appropriately focused on developing pupils' basic skills, although provision in information and

communication technology (ICT) is underdeveloped. Leadership and management are good.

The headteacher, ably assisted by her deputy headteacher, provides clear direction for the

school and has created a calm, caring and positive learning environment where expectations

of what pupils can achieve are high. Subject leadership is good overall. Governance is good.

The school works hard to engage parents in their children's education and those who returned

questionnaires are very supportive of the school's work. The school provides good value for

money and has good capacity to improve further.

Effectiveness of the Foundation Stage

Grade: 1

The Foundation Stage is outstanding. Under the very good leadership of the Foundation Stage

manager, provision is well organised and staff work as an effective team. Close liaison with

parents and a nearby Children's Centre ensures that children are carefully and sensitively

welcomed into the school and settle quickly.

4 of 11Inspection Report: Arrowe Hill Primary School, 13–14 November 2007

Page 63



Children experience a wide and rich variety of activities which are well matched to their needs

and abilities in all the relevant areas of learning. The learning environment is bright, welcoming

and well-resourced. Good opportunities are created for developing children's speaking and

listening, mathematical understanding and independent learning. Children are given roles, such

as that of the 'milk inspector' in order to develop their sense of responsibility. Very good

teaching ensures that children make good progress and by the time they leave the Reception

class most are working at the level typical for their age group. Learners' progress in each area

of the curriculum is very carefully tracked and recorded. Consequently, staff have a clear view

of children's strengths and weaknesses and of the next steps learners must take. There is a

high level of care and support for children. The needs of children with learning difficulties

and/or disabilities are identified early and appropriate support put in place.

What the school should do to improve further

• Improve provision for the more able pupils in Key Stage 1 in reading and writing.

• Improve the consistency of the academic guidance which pupils receive.

Achievement and standards

Grade: 2

The school judges this area of its work to be satisfactory. Inspectors found it to be good overall.

Since 2004, standards in Key Stage 2 have been above average and have improved year-on-year.

The most recent assessments indicate that in 2007 overall standards were well above average.

Pupils performed most strongly in science. The progress made by pupils in 2006 was well above

average and provisional data suggests that in 2007 it has remained so.

The good progress made by children in the Foundation Stage has not always been sustained

in Key Stage 1 in recent years and the overall standards attained by pupils have been

inconsistent. This was due to some discontinuity in staffing. In 2005, standards were above

average but in 2006 were well below. Provisional results indicate that pupils' attainment in

2007 improved and was broadly average. Pupils performed best in mathematics. Whilst some

achieved the higher Level 3 in this subject, none achieved this level in writing or reading.

Currently, pupils in this Key Stage are making good progress.

Learners with learning difficulties and/or disabilities make good progress.

Personal development and well-being

Grade: 1

Pupils thoroughly enjoy school. They feel safe and know who to turn to if they have any

concerns. Their strong understanding about how to stay safe is developed from their earliest

days in school. For example, in the Reception class one child confidently explained the

importance of wearing safety hats when working on building sites. Pupils' appreciation of the

need for healthy lifestyles is reflected by the very good take up of sporting activities provided

by the school. Pupils have a wide range of opportunities to exercise positions of responsibility,

such as office monitors, elected school councillors and as play-leaders. Older pupils regularly

choose the music played in school assemblies. Pupils make the most of the many opportunities

to make positive contributions to the local and wider community. They raise funds for charities

active at home and abroad. They produced an anti-bullying leaflet which was distributed to

local children and designed the winning poster in a local campaign against anti-social behaviour.

Behaviour is good and pupils are courteous and helpful to visitors. Above average attainment

5 of 11Inspection Report: Arrowe Hill Primary School, 13–14 November 2007

Page 64



in numeracy and literacy and specific training for older pupils in financial literacy develops

pupils' economic understanding well. Team working skills are well developed. For example, in

one good literacy lesson pupils quickly and efficiently organised writing and speaking roles for

each other in a collaborative writing exercise. The spiritual, moral, social and cultural

development of pupils is very good. The school works hard to improve punctuality and also

attendance, which is satisfactory due to parental holidays taken in term time.

Quality of provision

Teaching and learning

Grade: 2

Teaching is good overall and some is outstanding. Good relationships exist between pupils and

adults and expectations of behaviour and what pupils can achieve are high. Careful explanations

ensure that learners know what they must do. Skilful use of questioning encourages pupils to

think carefully about their answers and is also used to assess learners' progress in lessons.

Lesson planning is good and staff evaluate well what pupils have learned. Teachers' subject

knowledge is good and skilled additional adults are well used, particularly to ensure that

vulnerable pupils make good progress in their learning. Work is challenging as it is well matched

to pupils' differing needs. Assessment data is used effectively to track the progress of pupils

and to identify and target underachievement. Pupils' attitudes to learning are good. They listen

carefully to teachers and other pupils and work well together when asked to do so.

Curriculum and other activities

Grade: 2

The curriculum is good and meets statutory requirements. It is focused appropriately on the

core subjects of English, mathematics and science and this has contributed to the steady

improvement of results at Key Stage 2. Homework is aptly linked to work carried out in class.

However, provision for ICT is not as well developed as it could be, partly due to recent building

work. The school has appropriate plans to address this. The curriculum is enriched by a wide

programme of visitors and educational visits. There is also a very broad range of extra-curricular

activities such as judo, sailing and football. Some of these are specifically aimed at developing

pupils' social and personal development. Older pupils have the opportunity to learn German

and there are close links with a German school. An effective range of strategies are employed

to ensure that pupils with learning difficulties and/or disabilities make good progress.

Gifted and talented pupils have good opportunities to develop their abilities, for example,

through music clubs and competitions against other schools. A link with a local secondary

school is effectively used to provide additional lessons for the more able pupils in mathematics.

Care, guidance and support

Grade: 2

The care and support which pupils receive are very good. Pupils are well supervised in the

school's very supportive atmosphere. Risk assessments and child protection procedures are

robust and there is regular monitoring of any accidents in school. Teachers know their pupils

well and are strongly committed to both their academic and personal development. Pupils who

join the school other than in the Reception class are made to feel welcome and settle quickly.

Older pupils are well prepared for the next stage of their education. Pupils with learning

difficulties and/or disabilities and other vulnerable pupils are well supported. Their needs are

6 of 11Inspection Report: Arrowe Hill Primary School, 13–14 November 2007

Page 65



identified early and prompt action ensures they make good progress in their learning. The

pastoral guidance pupils receive is very good. Very good links with health and other agencies

ensure that pupils receive strong and regular advice on how to stay safe and healthy. Older

pupils receive appropriate guidance on growing up. 'Aspiration walls' and involvement in the

'Aim Higher' project encourage pupils to have high expectations of what they can achieve in

later life. However, academic guidance is satisfactory. Not all pupils know their targets or the

National Curriculum levels they are working at. Work is marked, but not all of it ensures that

pupils know the next steps they must take in order to improve.

Leadership and management

Grade: 2

The school judges this aspect of its work to be good and inspectors agree. The senior leadership

team, consisting of headteacher and deputy headteacher, leads and manages the school well

and is focused on raising standards as well as promoting pupils' personal development. Together,

they have created a welcoming, inclusive and supportive ethos in which learning can thrive. A

good sense of teamwork permeates the school and expectations of what pupils can achieve

are high.

Good use is made of assessment information to track pupils' progress and to target support,

particularly at Key Stage 2. Statutory performance management procedures are usefully linked

to raising standards. The school met and exceeded its challenging targets. The school

improvement plan is well-focused on improvement. The school's evaluation of its effectiveness

is broadly accurate. Regular monitoring of the school's work is carried out. Resources are

generally well used and careful thought is given to how initiatives will contribute to the school's

improvement. Issues raised at the last inspection have been well addressed. Subject leadership

is good overall. Managers of the core subjects monitor work in their areas and have drawn up

action plans. The good leadership of the two coordinators for special educational needs ensures

that the needs of pupils with learning difficulties and/or disabilities are addressed.

The school works hard to engage the support of parents and their views and those of pupils

are regularly checked. Governance is good. Governors are well informed about the work of the

school and provide both support and challenge for the headteacher.

7 of 11Inspection Report: Arrowe Hill Primary School, 13–14 November 2007

Page 66



.

Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures set out

in the guidance 'Complaints about school inspection', which is available from Ofsted’s website:

www.ofsted.gov.uk.

8 of 11Inspection Report: Arrowe Hill Primary School, 13–14 November 2007

Page 67



Inspection judgements

School

Overall
Key to judgements: grade 1 is outstanding, grade 2 good, grade 3 satisfactory, and

grade 4 inadequate

Overall effectiveness

2
How effective, efficient and inclusive is the provision of education, integrated

care and any extended services in meeting the needs of learners?

Yes
Effective steps have been taken to promote improvement since the last
inspection

1
Howwell does the school work in partnership with others to promote learners'
well-being?

1The effectiveness of the Foundation Stage
2The capacity to make any necessary improvements

Achievement and standards

2How well do learners achieve?

2The standards
1
reached by learners

2
Howwell learners make progress, taking account of any significant variations between

groups of learners

2How well learners with learning difficulties and disabilities make progress

Personal development and well-being

1
How good is the overall personal development and well-being of the
learners?

1The extent of learners' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development
1The extent to which learners adopt healthy lifestyles
1The extent to which learners adopt safe practices
1How well learners enjoy their education
3The attendance of learners
2The behaviour of learners
1The extent to which learners make a positive contribution to the community

2
How well learners develop workplace and other skills that will contribute to
their future economic well-being

The quality of provision

2
How effective are teaching and learning in meeting the full range of the
learners' needs?

2
How well do the curriculum and other activities meet the range of needs
and interests of learners?

2How well are learners cared for, guided and supported?

1
Grade 1 - Exceptionally and consistently high; Grade 2 - Generally above average with none significantly

below average; Grade 3 - Broadly average to below average; Grade 4 - Exceptionally low.

9 of 11Inspection Report: Arrowe Hill Primary School, 13–14 November 2007

Annex A

Page 68



Leadership and management

2
How effective are leadership and management in raising achievement
and supporting all learners?

2
How effectively leaders and managers at all levels set clear direction leading
to improvement and promote high quality of care and education

2How effectively leaders andmanagers use challenging targets to raise standards
2The effectiveness of the school's self-evaluation

2
How well equality of opportunity is promoted and discrimination tackled so
that all learners achieve as well as they can

2
How effectively and efficiently resources, including staff, are deployed to
achieve value for money

2
The extent to which governors and other supervisory boards discharge their
responsibilities

Yes
Do procedures for safeguarding learners meet current government
requirements?

NoDoes this school require special measures?
NoDoes this school require a notice to improve?

10 of 11Inspection Report: Arrowe Hill Primary School, 13–14 November 2007

Annex A

Page 69



Text from letter to pupils explaining the findings of the inspection

Inspection of Arrowe Hill Primary School, Wirral, CH49 8HE

Thank you for being so kind and helpful when we inspected your school recently. I thought it

would be good to write and tell you what we found. We judged your school to be a good school

with a number of outstanding features. Some of the best things which we saw were:

• you really enjoy school and your behaviour is good

• you know how to stay safe and healthy

• you make a very good contribution to your local community

• you get a really good start to school in the Reception class

• you are very well cared for and supported by the staff

• your school is well led and you are well taught

• you have a very wide range of clubs and activities to take part in.

To make your school even better, we have asked the headteacher, staff and governors to make

some changes. These are:

• to help some of you in Key Stage 1 to do better in reading and writing

• to improve marking so that all of you know what it is you have to do to get better at your

work.

Once again, many thanks for being so helpful and polite when we visited your school.

11 of 11Inspection Report: Arrowe Hill Primary School, 13–14 November 2007

Annex B

Page 70



Fender Primary School
Inspection report

105039Unique Reference Number

WirralLocal Authority

287102Inspection number

8–9 May 2007Inspection dates

Julie Price GrimshawReporting inspector

This inspection of the school was carried out under section 5 of the Education Act 2005.

PrimaryType of school

CommunitySchool category

4–11Age range of pupils

MixedGender of pupils

Number on roll

177School

The governing bodyAppropriate authority

Mrs G CurryChair

Mrs Thelma WiltshireHeadteacher

14 October 2002Date of previous school inspection

New Hey RoadSchool address

Woodchurch

Wirral

Merseyside

CH49 8HB

0151 6770425Telephone number

0151 6770425Fax number

4–11Age group

8–9 May 2007Inspection dates

287102Inspection number

Page 71



.

© Crown copyright 2007

Website: www.ofsted.gov.uk

This document may be reproduced in whole or in part for non-commercial educational purposes, provided that

the information quoted is reproduced without adaptation and the source and date of publication are stated.

Further copies of this report are obtainable from the school. Under the Education Act 2005, the school must

provide a copy of this report free of charge to certain categories of people. A charge not exceeding the full cost

of reproduction may be made for any other copies supplied.

Inspection Report: Fender Primary School, 8–9 May 2007

Page 72



Introduction

The inspection was carried out by two Additional Inspectors.

Description of the school

This is a smaller than average school that serves an area of significant social and economic

deprivation. The proportion of pupils entitled to free school meals is well above the national

average, as is the number of pupils with learning difficulties and/or disabilities. The school's

population is mainly White British, with very few pupils from minority ethnic backgrounds.

Key for inspection grades

OutstandingGrade 1
GoodGrade 2
SatisfactoryGrade 3
InadequateGrade 4

3 of 11Inspection Report: Fender Primary School, 8–9 May 2007

Page 73



Overall effectiveness of the school

Grade: 2

Fender Primary School is a good school with several outstanding features. Improvements over

the last three years can be seen in the rising trend in pupils' achievement and standards.

Evidence gathered during the inspection shows that the school is continuing to improve all

aspects of its work. This is an exceptionally caring school, where the many complex and varied

needs of the pupils are successfully met through the work of teachers and support staff together

with outside agencies. High expectations encourage pupils to develop a desire to achieve: 'our

teachers tell us we can do really well, and we want to work hard' is a view shared by the majority

of pupils.

Children's skills on entry to the Reception class are particularly low in language and

communication. As a result of good quality provision they progress well during this year,

especially in the development of their early communication skills. Pupils make satisfactory

progress during Key Stage 1. Although data from 2006 indicated a dip in standards at the end

of Year 2, the school has now begun to address this. Systems for tracking progress have been

improved so that any underachievement can be addressed by providing additional tailored

support for those pupils who need it. Although standards at the end of Key Stage 2 are below

the national average, pupils make good progress overall. Those with learning difficulties and/or

disabilities achieve well due to the high quality support provided and a number of these pupils

make outstanding progress in relation to their needs and ability.

Pupils' personal development and well-being are good. They have a secure understanding of

healthy lifestyles and although bullying is rare, they are confident that staff will deal with any

incidents effectively. Behaviour is good, both in classrooms and around the school. Positive

attitudes towards learning are evident across the school and there is much emphasis on the

development of skills in literacy, numeracy and information and communication technology

(ICT). This, combined with successful work on economic awareness, helps to ensure that pupils

are well prepared for the next stage of their education and the world of work. Pupils clearly

articulate their future plans, which show that they are ambitious and highly motivated.

The quality of teaching and learning is good. Typically, lessons include a variety of interesting

activities that successfully engage and inspire pupils. Pupils are praised for their efforts and

encouraged to attempt tasks with confidence: they respond to this enthusiastically. Effective

use of interactive whiteboards helps to enhance learning and maintain a brisk pace, which in

turn supports pupils' good behaviour in the classroom. A minority of lessons are satisfactory

rather than good as the pace is occasionally too slow and there is too much emphasis on

teacher-led activities rather than independent learning.

The recent move to a theme-based curriculum is already having a positive impact on pupils'

learning, although this initiative is not yet fully embedded across the school.

Systems for pastoral care are outstanding. The school works very effectively in partnership with

outside agencies to ensure that the needs of individual pupils are met. All staff show a very

high level of commitment to the welfare of the pupils and the great majority of parents are

delighted with the school's work.

Very good leadership andmanagement have helped to bring about the significant improvements

since the last inspection. Rigorous systems for monitoring and evaluating the quality of provision

across the school inform good quality action planning, which clearly and accurately identifies

priorities for future development. Although the school has a good understanding of its strengths

4 of 11Inspection Report: Fender Primary School, 8–9 May 2007

Page 74



and weaknesses, it has been too modest in evaluating most aspects of the provision. The school

uses resources well in order to achieve good value for money and the capacity for further

improvement is also good.

What the school should do to improve further

• Improve the consistency of teaching and learning so that it is all of at least good quality.

• Ensure that recent improvements to the curriculum are fully embedded across the school.

Achievement and standards

Grade: 2

Pupils achieve well because of good quality teaching and close monitoring of their performance.

Standards have improved steadily over the past three years and current evidence indicates

further improvement is taking place. Children's attainment on entry to the Reception class is

well below that expected for their age. Good quality care and teaching in the Foundation Stage

help children to settle in to school life quickly and become confident learners. Although

standards on entry to Year 1 are below national expectations, given the children's low starting

point this represents good progress. The slight dip in the 2006 test results is being successfully

tackled through additional support for pupils. As a consequence, current evidence shows that

achievement for Key Stage 1 pupils is improving. Pupils make good progress during Key Stage

2 due to good quality teaching, including a shared focus on 'assessment for learning'. Although

pupils' standards at the end of Year 6 are below those expected for their age, the improving

trend shows that the school is gradually closing the gap and moving towards the national

average. This reflects the importance placed on high expectations for all pupils, which is a

cornerstone of the school's work.

Personal development and well-being

Grade: 2

The pupils' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development is good and pupils are taught to

respect other faiths and cultures. Spiritual development is enhanced through uplifting assemblies.

The school's motto, 'Learn to Live', is acted upon so that pupils are nurtured and valued as

individuals: high self-esteem is promoted and all are encouraged to reach the highest standards

they are capable of. Pupils treat visitors very well. They are polite and well behaved and very

keen to describe their enjoyment of school life. Pupils adopt healthy lifestyles through a

comprehensive programme of physical education each week combined with a healthy diet in

school. The school has achieved considerable success in encouraging parents and carers to

provide healthy packed lunches and the school council has been very active in improving the

food choices in the dining room. School staff, in partnership with outside agencies, have worked

hard to improve attendance, which is now close to the national average. Relationships with the

community are excellent and pupils are keen and generous fund-raisers both locally and

internationally. Parents hold the school in high regard.

Quality of provision

Teaching and learning

Grade: 2

Good relationships between teachers and pupils are evident in all lessons. Teachers have high

expectations and use praise and encouragement very effectively to build pupils' confidence.

5 of 11Inspection Report: Fender Primary School, 8–9 May 2007

Page 75



As a consequence, pupils are highly motivated and keen to learn: several expressed the view

that 'It's always good to have a go, even if you don't get it right first time!' Most lessons include

a good variety of activities that help to keep pupils on task. However, in a small minority of

lessons the pace is not sufficiently brisk and teachers do not give pupils enough opportunity

to learn independently. Support staff are deployed well and help to ensure that all pupils make

good progress. Marking of pupils' work is thorough and constructive: teachers' written comments

make clear to pupils what they need to do next.

Curriculum and other activities

Grade: 2

The school has recently started to move towards a thematic approach to the curriculum, with

much emphasis on creativity. There is already firm evidence that this new method is having a

positive impact on pupils' learning. Staff are encouraged by the initiative and welcome the

opportunity to explore how certain concepts and skills may be taught, whilst pupils are inspired

by the imaginative approach and clearly enjoy their learning as a result. For example, one group

of pupils developed their knowledge and understanding of a variety of subjects through a topic

on 'Circus', which included a very popular and enjoyable workshop on circus skills. Pupils in

Key Stage 2 enjoy their Spanish lessons, led by specialist teachers from a local secondary school.

The curriculum is enhanced through a range of activities, including after school clubs and

workshops, some of which are attended by parents. Enrichment activities include residential

trips and activities led by visitors: for example, some particularly good work has been carried

out in conjunction with a local artist, resulting in very high quality displays of art work. These

opportunities contribute a great deal to pupils' personal development and self-esteem.

Care, guidance and support

Grade: 1

All staff are extremely committed to the welfare of their pupils and devote a great deal of time

and effort to their care and support. The school works very closely with outside agencies,

including social workers and health professionals, and the work carried out through this

partnership is an outstanding feature of the school's provision. Arrangements for safeguarding

pupils are in place. A range of strategies, including additional support and booster classes for

identified pupils, ensures that the needs of all are very effectively met. Attention to detail in

the planning of teaching and monitoring of pupils' work reflects a whole school commitment

to ensuring equality of opportunity for all learners. As a result pupils with learning difficulties

and/or disabilities are quickly identified and appropriate support is organised. This helps them

to make good progress, matching that of their classmates. Looked-after children make excellent

progress both in their academic performance and personal development. The school's very

good use of data on pupils' progress enables staff to provide high quality academic guidance:

as a result, pupils are fully aware of individual targets for their future development. Links with

the local high school are excellent and pupils are well prepared to move on.

Leadership and management

Grade: 2

The strong dedication of leaders and managers at all levels has been a major factor in bringing

about the improvements evident in the school's work over recent years. The outstanding

leadership of the headteacher has been instrumental in driving improvement, through a very

6 of 11Inspection Report: Fender Primary School, 8–9 May 2007

Page 76



thorough and rigorous process of monitoring, evaluation and action planning. All staff take

their responsibilities seriously and carry out their roles with great care. Middle managers, some

of whom are relatively new to their role, are having an increasing influence on bringing about

improvements in their subjects. A well-established system of performance management helps

to focus teachers on raising standards and achievement as well as identifying professional

development needs, which are then addressed through a range of training activities. The whole

of the school workforce is managed well and support staff are included in performance

management arrangements. Governance is good: members of the governing body assist school

leaders by discussing issues in detail and are fully committed to all aspects of the school's work,

in particular the role of the school within the local community.

7 of 11Inspection Report: Fender Primary School, 8–9 May 2007

Page 77



.

Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures set out

in the guidance 'Complaints about school inspection', which is available from Ofsted’s website:

www.ofsted.gov.uk.

8 of 11Inspection Report: Fender Primary School, 8–9 May 2007

Page 78



Inspection judgements

School

Overall
Key to judgements: grade 1 is outstanding, grade 2 good, grade 3 satisfactory, and grade 4

inadequate

Overall effectiveness

2
How effective, efficient and inclusive is the provision of education, integrated

care and any extended services in meeting the needs of learners?

1
Howwell does the school work in partnership with others to promote learners'
well-being?

2The quality and standards in the Foundation Stage
2The effectiveness of the school's self-evaluation
2The capacity to make any necessary improvements

Yes
Effective steps have been taken to promote improvement since the last
inspection

Achievement and standards

2How well do learners achieve?

3The standards
1
reached by learners

2
Howwell learners make progress, taking account of any significant variations between

groups of learners

2How well learners with learning difficulties and disabilities make progress

Personal development and well-being

2
How good is the overall personal development and well-being of the
learners?

2The extent of learners' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development
2The behaviour of learners
3The attendance of learners
2How well learners enjoy their education
2The extent to which learners adopt safe practices
2The extent to which learners adopt healthy lifestyles
1The extent to which learners make a positive contribution to the community

2
How well learners develop workplace and other skills that will contribute to
their future economic well-being

The quality of provision

2
How effective are teaching and learning in meeting the full range of the
learners' needs?

2
How well do the curriculum and other activities meet the range of needs
and interests of learners?

1How well are learners cared for, guided and supported?

1
Grade 1 - Exceptionally and consistently high; Grade 2 - Generally above average with none significantly

below average; Grade 3 - Broadly average to below average; Grade 4 - Exceptionally low.

9 of 11Inspection Report: Fender Primary School, 8–9 May 2007

Annex A

Page 79



Leadership and management

2
How effective are leadership and management in raising achievement
and supporting all learners?

1
How effectively leaders and managers at all levels set clear direction leading
to improvement and promote high quality of care and education

2
How effectively performance is monitored, evaluated and improved to meet
challenging targets

1
How well equality of opportunity is promoted and discrimination tackled so
that all learners achieve as well as they can

2
How effectively and efficiently resources, including staff, are deployed to
achieve value for money

2
The extent to which governors and other supervisory boards discharge their
responsibilities

Yes
Do procedures for safeguarding learners meet current government
requirements?

NoDoes this school require special measures?
NoDoes this school require a notice to improve?

10 of 11Inspection Report: Fender Primary School, 8–9 May 2007

Annex A

Page 80



Text from letter to pupils explaining the findings of the inspection

Thank you very much for making us feel so welcome in your school. We really enjoyed talking

to you, hearing your views and watching you learn.

We think that Fender Primary is a good school with some excellent features. You told us that

your teachers are always praising you and encouraging you to 'have a go', and we saw this in

your lessons. You told us that your teachers try to make the lessons fun and exciting and we

were impressed that so many of you said that mathematics was your favourite subject! We can

see that because you are working hard in mathematics your test results are getting better all

the time. The artwork around school was absolutely lovely: we enjoyed hearing about your

work with the local artist and you are lucky to have the beautiful butterfly sculpture in the

playground. We attended one of your assemblies and enjoyed it very much. You have done so

well in raising money for the children of Chernobyl and also for the local charity.

One of the best things about your school is that it is such a caring place. All the staff want you

to feel happy and settled so that you learn well. The teachers, support staff and the school

nurse all work very well together to make sure you are very well cared for in school. You told

us that there is always someone to talk to, and it is also good that you care for each other so

well.

We know that some of you have been doing some work based on themes such as 'chocolate'

and 'treasure'. The circus workshop looked like great fun, and you told us howmuch you enjoyed

it! We were impressed with the quality of work you had produced on these themes and we have

asked the school to consider how they might extend this type of work across the whole school.

We have also suggested that the staff think about how they can make all of your lessons as

good as the very best.

One of the things we enjoyed the most during our time in your school was hearing about your

ambitions for the future. It is fantastic that you want to work hard so that you can follow the

career of your choice. Your headteacher and all the staff are there to help you achieve this: of

course, you have to do your bit by continuing to 'have a go' and taking on board your teachers'

advice on how to improve your work even more!

11 of 11Inspection Report: Fender Primary School, 8–9 May 2007

Annex B

Page 81



Woodchurch CofE Primary School
Inspection report

105067Unique Reference Number

WirralLocal Authority

287110Inspection number

6–7 June 2007Inspection dates

Graham MartinReporting inspector

This inspection of the school was carried out under section 5 of the Education Act 2005.

PrimaryType of school

Voluntary aidedSchool category

4–11Age range of pupils

MixedGender of pupils

Number on roll

217School

The governing bodyAppropriate authority

Mrs Alison CretneyChair

Mr Brian McGregorHeadteacher

10 March 2003Date of previous school inspection

Church LaneSchool address

Woodchurch

Wirral

Merseyside

CH49 7LS

0151 6774788Telephone number

0151 6779306Fax number

4–11Age group

6–7 June 2007Inspection dates

287110Inspection number

Page 82



.

© Crown copyright 2007

Website: www.ofsted.gov.uk

This document may be reproduced in whole or in part for non-commercial educational purposes, provided that

the information quoted is reproduced without adaptation and the source and date of publication are stated.

Further copies of this report are obtainable from the school. Under the Education Act 2005, the school must

provide a copy of this report free of charge to certain categories of people. A charge not exceeding the full cost

of reproduction may be made for any other copies supplied.

Inspection Report: Woodchurch CofE Primary School, 6–7 June 2007

Page 83



Introduction

The inspection was carried out by two Additional Inspectors.

Description of the school

This is an average sized school, which has strong links with the local church and largely serves

the surrounding housing estate. Some pupils travel from further afield to this popular,

oversubscribed school. The proportion of pupils claiming free school meals is twice the national

average. The number of pupils with learning difficulties and/or disabilities is lower than average,

as is the number of pupils with a statement of special educational need. The majority of pupils

are of White British heritage. A small minority of pupils are from minority ethnic groups, a very

small proportion of them speaking English as an additional language. Attainment on entry is

below that expected nationally. The headteacher has been in post since January 2006 and the

deputy headteacher since only January 2007. The school holds the ArtsMark and ActiveMark

gold awards and has the Healthy Schools bronze award for being a health-promoting school.

Key for inspection grades

OutstandingGrade 1
GoodGrade 2
SatisfactoryGrade 3
InadequateGrade 4

3 of 11Inspection Report: Woodchurch CofE Primary School, 6–7 June 2007

Page 84



Overall effectiveness of the school

Grade: 2

The inspectors agree with the school's own judgement that it is a good school. A new leadership

team has made a good start to improving the school's work. Pupils achieve well and standards

are broadly average by the end of Year 6. When they enter the Reception class, the children's

skills are generally below those expected for their age. Good provision in the Foundation Stage

means that the children achieve well. Most of them reach the expected goals by the time they

enter Year 1. In Years 1 to 6 teaching and learning are good overall and pupils continue to

achieve well, so that by the end of Years 2 and 6 they reach standards similar to the national

averages in reading, writing, aspects of mathematics and science. The skills of problem solving

in mathematics are, however, lower than average, leading to overall standards in mathematics

lower than in other subjects. Pupils' progress in learning how to apply mathematical knowledge

to solve problems is inconsistent because learning targets, especially for more able pupils, are

not challenging enough. Where targets are well defined, such as in Year 6, expectations are

higher and pupils make better progress.

The school has a good curriculumwhich meets pupils' interests well. Recent work, based around

themes, makes the curriculum more accessible and 'friendly' to pupils. Pupils say that they

enjoy learning this way because lessons are more interesting. Pupils' personal development

and well-being are good. There are very evident strengths in pupils' spiritual, moral, social and

cultural development which add great value to their personal development. Pupils behave well

and enjoy school. They are exceptionally courteous and polite. The care of pupils is good overall,

with exceptional pastoral care being a reflection of the school's very good atmosphere. Parents

say they are pleased with the high quality of care shown for their children. Teaching and learning

overall are good. However, academic guidance for pupils, such as in teachers' comments and

marking, does not always sufficiently inform them how to improve.

Leadership and management are good overall. The headteacher and deputy headteacher, in

the early days of establishing a new approach to leading the school, show good qualities of

leadership in their vision and aspirations. However, although the skills of middle leaders are

developing well, they do not yet have a detailed enough knowledge of pupils' achievement.

Good systems have been set in place to improve team leadership and the responsibility of

governors to hold the school to account. Together with strong local and community partnerships,

this all gives the school good capacity to improve. Resources are managed and used well and,

overall, the school provides good value for money.

What the school should do to improve further

• Improve use and application of pupils' number skills in practical and problem-solving situations

to raise the standards of the more able pupils in mathematics.

• Improve the quality and reliability of marking, feedback to pupils and target setting to ensure

that progress is consistently good in all classes.

• Increase accountability of middle leaders for checking that pupils' achievement is improving.

Achievement and standards

Grade: 2

On entry to the Foundation Stage there is a wide range of attainment but, overall, children's

skills on entry are below those expected for their age. In the Reception class, good emphasis

on the key skills of speaking, listening, reading, writing and number enables the children to

4 of 11Inspection Report: Woodchurch CofE Primary School, 6–7 June 2007

Page 85



progress well enough for many of them, though not all, to reach the early goals for their learning.

Those learning English as an additional languagemake similar progress to others. This represents

good achievement. This good progress continues in Years 1 to 6 so that, by the end of Year 6,

pupils generally reach standards in English, mathematics and science that are close to the

average found nationally. However, standards in mathematics are lower than in the other

subjects. This is because pupils, particularly the more able, are not consistently achieving as

well as they should in applying their knowledge to solving problems. Where challenges are

good, such as in Year 6, pupils' capabilities are reflected in the better rate of progress. Individual

differences between year groups result in some fluctuation in standards from year to year, but

pupils' good achievement is generally sustained. The progress of pupils currently in Year 6,

including those with learning difficulties and/or disabilities, shows that they are on course to

achieve the realistic targets set for them.

Personal development and well-being

Grade: 2

Pupils' behaviour in lessons and around the school is good. They are exceptionally polite and

friendly with each other and very confident and courteous when talking to adults. They have

positive attitudes to learning and good relationships with their teachers. Pupils say they enjoy

coming to school, and this is reflected in the school's improving attendance figures, presently

a little above the national average. Pupils have a clear sense of moral and social responsibility,

and this enables them to contribute well to the life of the school. For example, very good work

by the Year 6 play leaders helps younger children to learn to play fairly at breaktimes, adding

value to the quality of relationships between pupils throughout the school. Pupils contribute

well to the well-being of their wider community through fundraising for charities.

Representatives of the school council reported how much they enjoy helping the school. They

are proud of the success of their work, for instance to improve school meals and to persuade

adults to invest in a cycle shelter. Pupils' spiritual, social and moral development has very

evident strengths, provided through thought-provoking assemblies and a well structured

personal, social and health education programme. Pupils know the importance of leading healthy

lifestyles and are aware of the benefits of exercise and good nutrition, as evidenced in the

school's bronze award for being a health-promoting school.

Quality of provision

Teaching and learning

Grade: 2

The quality of teaching and learning is good overall. Teaching and learning in the Foundation

Stage is consistently good, adding a high level of value to the children's learning. In Years 1 to

6, teaching is mainly good but, where it is satisfactory, expectations are not as high as they

could be because assessment is not used well enough to set challenging learning targets. This

is especially the case for more able pupils in mathematics. While the teaching and learning of

number skills is good, the use of these skills for solving problems is weaker, leading to

inconsistent progress in pupils' ability to use their mathematical knowledge and understanding

in practical situations. Teachers' comments and the quality of marking are not always sufficient

to help pupils improve. Progress is more rapid where marking and feedback to pupils are used

well, such as in Year 6. This is because consistently good academic guidance raises the levels

of challenge and expectation. Pupils then catch up to some extent, but not enough to enable

them to achieve standards as good, for instance, as those in reading and writing.

5 of 11Inspection Report: Woodchurch CofE Primary School, 6–7 June 2007

Page 86



Curriculum and other activities

Grade: 2

The curriculum exceeds current requirements with Spanish being taught throughout the school.

Pupils say they enjoy this and other opportunities to make their learning interesting. The school

taps into valuable local and community partnerships to add variety to the curriculum and to

meet pupils' individual interests. These include a sports partnership with the local high school

to enable high school staff to teach physical education skills to pupils in Years 5 and 6, and

gardening for Year 2 pupils, who work with a horticulturalist to grow vegetables in soil beds

that they have helped to build and prepare. There are examples of good quality artwork on

display. The school has made a good start on developing a curriculum based on learning themes;

feedback from pupils is very positive. 'This is much better than having a book for each subject

and I learn more,' explained a Year 5 pupil after a lesson on night and day which developed

skills and knowledge in literacy, numeracy and science.

Care, guidance and support

Grade: 2

Exceptionally good pastoral care is a noticeable strength of the school. Pupils feel safe and

very well supported. They say that they know who to turn to for help if they are anxious or

worried. When discussing a recent anti-bullying week, one Year 3 pupil said, 'There are no

bullies at our school.' The school's very caring atmosphere is much appreciated by parents.

They have faith and trust in the staff, knowing that their children are very well cared for, with

someone pupils can seek out for advice and support if they are worried or anxious. The required

arrangements for safeguarding pupils are in place. Improved pupil tracking arrangements help

to identify pupils who need extra support in order to do their best. At present, however, academic

guidance for pupils is inconsistent. The use of marking and the process of setting targets to

help pupils to understand what they need to do to improve varies between classes. Very strong

links with the local high school for sport and academic development aid pupils' transition to

their next school. Year 6 pupils say that they feel well prepared for this move.

Leadership and management

Grade: 2

Leadership and management are good. The leadership of the headteacher and the recently

appointed but experienced deputy headteacher is good. Their skills and expertise complement

each other well. The appointment of a deputy headteacher has restored the leadership team

to full strength. Particular impact is seen in the school's priorities for moving forward with

introducing learning based on themed lessons, which pupils enjoy, and assessment for learning

to set more challenging targets. Much evidence of supportive teamwork shows that staff morale

is very good. The headteacher has implemented a number of key improvements. The clear vision

for the school's improvement is shared effectively with all relevant groups. The headteacher

has defined leadership roles clearly and shared them among staff. Key leaders are, therefore,

empowered to steer improvements, but this work is at an early stage of development. While

middle leaders have begun to make an impact by leading the development of their subjects,

they do not yet monitor pupils' progress and standards in sufficient detail. Good use is made,

however, of data on pupils' progress to identify areas for improvement. The detailed, three-year

school improvement plan identifies the correct priorities for development. The headteacher

6 of 11Inspection Report: Woodchurch CofE Primary School, 6–7 June 2007

Page 87



and governors are responsive the views of parents' and pupils'. For example, the school's format

for reporting to parents has been improved as a result of parental feedback. Governors are very

supportive. They know the school well and play their part in helping to shape its direction, but

are not critical enough in holding the school to account for its performance. The school gives

good value for money because the budget is managed carefully to assist in raising standards

and improving provision in a purposeful learning environment.

7 of 11Inspection Report: Woodchurch CofE Primary School, 6–7 June 2007

Page 88



.

Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures set out

in the guidance 'Complaints about school inspection', which is available from Ofsted’s website:

www.ofsted.gov.uk.

8 of 11Inspection Report: Woodchurch CofE Primary School, 6–7 June 2007

Page 89



Inspection judgements

School

Overall
Key to judgements: grade 1 is outstanding, grade 2 good, grade 3 satisfactory, and grade 4

inadequate

Overall effectiveness

2
How effective, efficient and inclusive is the provision of education, integrated

care and any extended services in meeting the needs of learners?

2
Howwell does the school work in partnership with others to promote learners'
well-being?

2The quality and standards in the Foundation Stage
2The effectiveness of the school's self-evaluation
2The capacity to make any necessary improvements

Yes
Effective steps have been taken to promote improvement since the last
inspection

Achievement and standards

2How well do learners achieve?

3The standards
1
reached by learners

2
Howwell learners make progress, taking account of any significant variations between

groups of learners

2How well learners with learning difficulties and disabilities make progress

Personal development and well-being

2
How good is the overall personal development and well-being of the
learners?

2The extent of learners' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development
2The behaviour of learners
3The attendance of learners
2How well learners enjoy their education
2The extent to which learners adopt safe practices
2The extent to which learners adopt healthy lifestyles
2The extent to which learners make a positive contribution to the community

3
How well learners develop workplace and other skills that will contribute to
their future economic well-being

The quality of provision

2
How effective are teaching and learning in meeting the full range of the
learners' needs?

2
How well do the curriculum and other activities meet the range of needs
and interests of learners?

2How well are learners cared for, guided and supported?

1
Grade 1 - Exceptionally and consistently high; Grade 2 - Generally above average with none significantly

below average; Grade 3 - Broadly average to below average; Grade 4 - Exceptionally low.

9 of 11Inspection Report: Woodchurch CofE Primary School, 6–7 June 2007

Annex A

Page 90



Leadership and management

2
How effective are leadership and management in raising achievement
and supporting all learners?

2
How effectively leaders and managers at all levels set clear direction leading
to improvement and promote high quality of care and education

2
How effectively performance is monitored, evaluated and improved to meet
challenging targets

2
How well equality of opportunity is promoted and discrimination tackled so
that all learners achieve as well as they can

2
How effectively and efficiently resources, including staff, are deployed to
achieve value for money

3
The extent to which governors and other supervisory boards discharge their
responsibilities

Yes
Do procedures for safeguarding learners meet current government
requirements?

NoDoes this school require special measures?
NoDoes this school require a notice to improve?

10 of 11Inspection Report: Woodchurch CofE Primary School, 6–7 June 2007

Annex A

Page 91



Text from letter to pupils explaining the findings of the inspection

First of all, thank you very much for the welcome that you gave Mrs Flitcroft and me when we

visited Woodchurch Church of England Primary School. You were very friendly and helpful. We

were very impressed with how polite and well behaved you all are. We enjoyed our visit and it

didn't take us long to realise that you enjoy learning very much. Thank you for all the discussions

we had that helped us to find out how well your school works. You told me that you think you

have a good school. I am sure that you will be pleased to know that we agree with you!

These are the things that we were most impressed by.

• Your good behaviour and your friendship and care towards each other.

• Your interest in the school's activities and your eagerness to learn. This means that you learn

well and are keen to try your best to reach the standards expected of you - well done!

• The good care that your school gives you. You told us that you appreciate how well your

school cares for you, especially when you have any worries, upsets or concerns.

There are just three things that we would like your school to do better.

• To improve your mathematical skills to help you to solve problems.

• Your teachers could improve the ways they mark your work and tell you what you need to

do to improve it.

• How your teachers check that you are doing your best in all subjects could be improved.

Mrs Flitcroft and I would like to send you our best wishes for the future. We hope that you all

carry on trying your best and enjoying learning.

11 of 11Inspection Report: Woodchurch CofE Primary School, 6–7 June 2007

Annex B

Page 92



Overchurch Infant School
Inspection report

105043Unique Reference Number

WirralLocal Authority

308750Inspection number

25–26 June 2008Inspection dates

Eithne ProffittReporting inspector

This inspection of the school was carried out under section 5 of the Education Act 2005.

PrimaryType of school

CommunitySchool category

3–7Age range of pupils

MixedGender of pupils

Number on roll

294School

The governing bodyAppropriate authority

Mr Andre BairdChair

Mrs M ChambersHeadteacher

12 October 2004Date of previous school inspection

Moreton RoadSchool address

Upton

Wirral

Merseyside

CH49 4NS

0151 6773335Telephone number

0151 6773335Fax number

3–7Age group

25–26 June 2008Inspection dates

308750Inspection number

Page 93



.

© Crown copyright 2008

Website: www.ofsted.gov.uk

This document may be reproduced in whole or in part for non-commercial educational purposes, provided that

the information quoted is reproduced without adaptation and the source and date of publication are stated.

Further copies of this report are obtainable from the school. Under the Education Act 2005, the school must

provide a copy of this report free of charge to certain categories of people. A charge not exceeding the full cost

of reproduction may be made for any other copies supplied.

Inspection Report: Overchurch Infant School, 25–26 June 2008

Page 94



Introduction

The inspection was carried out by three Additional Inspectors.

Description of the school

Overchurch Infant school is larger than average size. The majority of pupils attend from the

immediate residential area. The proportion of pupils eligible for free school meals is lower than

the national average. Almost all pupils are of White British heritage and within the very small

number of pupils from minority ethnic groups, very few are at an early stage of learning to

speak English. The proportion of pupils with learning difficulties and/or disabilities, including

those with a statement of special educational need, is below average. Special provision is made

to welcome pupils with additional medical and physical needs.

The school has gained the Artsmark Gold, Activemark, the National Healthy Schools Award,

Eco Status and the International Schools Intermediate Award.

Key for inspection grades

OutstandingGrade 1
GoodGrade 2
SatisfactoryGrade 3
InadequateGrade 4

3 of 11Inspection Report: Overchurch Infant School, 25–26 June 2008

Page 95



Overall effectiveness of the school

Grade: 2

Overchuch Infants is a good school with some outstanding features. This is because it aims

high for its pupils, knows itself exceptionally well, and takes exceptional care of its pupils.

Pupils place their trust in the adults in school and are developing into mature young people

with a real sense of responsibility. The well-being and academic achievement of pupils is never

off the headteacher's agenda and, with the support of a strong management system and

perceptive governance, the school is successfully being driven forward after a short period of

instability at leadership level. Through this time, there was a decline in standards to broadly

average and also some pockets of underachievement, especially among the boys. The school

is now rapidly recouping features of the outstanding achievement of the recent past and boys

are now making notable strides in their learning.

Very close links between school and home and with other settings ensure that children's first

days in Nursery or Reception are settled and happy times. These children come to school with

skills that are broadly similar to children of their age. They make good progress through the

Foundation Stage because of the wide range of learning experiences provided for them. By the

end of Reception, children are working securely within the levels expected of them. This is

especially so in their personal and social development. Pupils continue to make this good

progress across Years 1 and 2. Current standards in Key Stage 1 indicate that standards are

rising and are generally above average. Boys are now performing much better but the more

able pupils could achieve at a better rate. Evidence from the school's outstanding tracking

systems shows clearly that pupils in Years 1 and 2 are currently making good progress.

Pupils' personal development and well-being is outstanding. Their confidence and social

awareness develops excellently in their time in the school. They play very well together, behave

exceptionally well and work hard. They care particularly about each other, their school, their

community and the world in which they live. Attendance at school is satisfactory overall. The

school is active in working with parents to improve this but some parents still insist on taking

family holidays during term time.

The quality of teaching and learning is good overall with some that is outstanding. Teachers

ensure that lessons capture pupils' interests and encourage them to be effective learners. In

some lessons, however, teachers do not expect enough of the more able pupils and consequently

they do not always make the progress of which they are capable.

The curriculum focuses on the development of pupils' skills and is delivered through a wide

variety of topics that are specifically planned to interest all pupils. Learning is suitably enhanced

through an array of visiting specialists. Pupils' academic guidance is outstanding and, for such

young children, they have an unusually clear understanding of their targets and how to achieve

them. The drive, determination and direction of the headteacher have assured that all staff are

suitably focused and accountable for pupils' progress. This effective school provides good value

for money.

Effectiveness of the Foundation Stage

Grade: 2

When they first come to Overchurch Infants, the majority of children have generally acquired

skills at a level expected for children of their age, although an increasing number are experiencing

some speech and language difficulties. Induction to both Nursery and Reception is meticulously

4 of 11Inspection Report: Overchurch Infant School, 25–26 June 2008

Page 96



planned to ensure that children, from the first moment, feel happy and secure. The teamwork

of the Foundation Stage staff is the key to the provision's success. The children experience

consistently good and outstanding teaching. Staff are not afraid to 'think outside the box' and

take risks to provide exciting and engaging learning experiences. As a result, children have fun

and do well in their learning. Planning is collaborative and increasingly focused on children's

different needs and interests. Assessment of how children are progressing is firmly rooted in

observations and this valuable information informs the next steps for the provision. Staff are

creative in how they provide opportunities both indoor and outdoor that will capture and

nurture all children, successfully supporting the whole-school target of engaging boys in their

learning. When children leave the Foundation Stage, they are working securely within the levels

expected for children of their age and are therefore well equipped for their next stage of

learning. Comments such as 'My child's confidence has grown and their creativity has been

developed,' typify parents' appreciation of the school. The setting is well led and managed

with a shared vision of successful early years education.

What the school should do to improve further

• Increase the level of challenge for the more able pupils in all lessons.

• Work with parents to raise levels of attendance.

Achievement and standards

Grade: 2

Building effectively on the good start children make in the Foundation Stage, pupils achieve

well and reach standards that are generally above average by the end of Year 2. In recent year,

pupils made very good progress to reach standards by the end of Key Stage 1 that were

significantly above national figures. In 2007, as a consequence of the instability in leadership,

standards dipped. The biggest impact was felt in pupils' achievement in writing with boys

underachieving in all subjects. An immediate, resolute refocus on standards, ensured that the

school quickly got back on track. Current standards are above average with boys performing

particularly well. Some of the more able pupils, however, do not achieve as well as they can

because in some classes expectations are not high enough and these pupils are not provided

with sufficiently challenging activities. School tracking procedures are impressive and give clear

messages about pupils' progress. The monitoring of individual pupils is very finely tuned and

currently shows accelerated progress for the majority of pupils across the school. This better

picture of achievement is beginning to have a significant impact on current standards. Pupils

with learning difficulties and/or disabilities and those pupils with additional medical and physical

needs are given good support and help. In this inclusive school these pupils thrive and make

good progress alongside their peers.

Personal development and well-being

Grade: 1

Pupils' personal development and well-being is at the core of the school's work and contributes

overwhelmingly to pupils' confidence and achievement. The spiritual, moral, social and cultural

development of pupils is also outstanding. The school's award of Eco Status confirms its

commitment to eco issues to the whole school and the wider community. Pupils express their

spiritual development in a number of ways, for example in the assembly led by representatives

from the church spirituality was tangible in pupils' singing and the awe in which they listened

to and reflected on the story of Moses and Miriam. The pupils' acceptance of the differences

5 of 11Inspection Report: Overchurch Infant School, 25–26 June 2008

Page 97



that exist among people around them and across the wider world supports their cultural

development extremely well and lays the foundations for life in our culturally diverse society.

'The standards of cultural awareness are impressive,' is a reflection of the large number of

positive parental views. From an early age, pupils are aware of healthy lifestyle choices and

how to stay safe, including knowing some of the dangers of internet use. They willingly take

on responsibilities, for example through the school council, the members of which speak with

pride about their fundraising for the needy in other parts of the world. The Planet Patrollers

also appreciate the important role they have in school - their distinctive hats add to their feeling

of belonging to this important group! In lessons, even the very youngest pupils are beginning

to show skills of perseverance, persistence and collaboration, preparing them well for their

future.

Attendance at school is satisfactory overall. However, detailed school analysis shows significant

numbers of pupils whose attendance is above and well above average. This analysis also

highlights the large number of parents who insist on taking family holidays during term time.

The school works hard to remind parents of the need to take holidays out of term time.

Quality of provision

Teaching and learning

Grade: 2

Teaching and learning is good overall with some that is outstanding. All teachers have a strong

commitment to capturing pupils' interests, encouraging eager learners and personalised learning.

In outstanding lessons, teachers capitalise fully on all pupils' potential, leading to rapid progress.

Crystal clear explanations, quick-fire pace, active learning, well targeted and challenging

questioning and a strong inclusive ethos prompt pupils to think hard and stretch themselves

to achieve the objectives set for them. For example, in one lesson the teacher was able to build

on an educational visit to DunhamMassey Hall and pupils acted as detectives to 'sift' evidence

on how holidays have changed over a hundred years. Pupils were engrossed in old photographs

and demonstrated teamwork and collaboration, with the more able pupils meeting their own

challenging objectives and also supporting other pupils to achieve theirs. In some lessons,

however, insufficiently high expectations of the more able pupils means that they do not always

make the progress of which they are capable. Teaching assistants play an active role in lessons,

providing high quality, well planned support for pupils with learning difficulties and/or

disabilities. This contributes well to the good progress they make. Outstanding use is made of

assessment on a day-to-day basis and also to check on the pupils' progress towards their targets.

School leaders are working hard to ensure that all teaching is of the highest standard possible

with some teachers training to be 'coaches' to share the best teaching and learning provision

across the school.

Curriculum and other activities

Grade: 2

Pupils really enjoy topics that cross subject boundaries and the Artsmark Gold, Activemark, eco

and Healthy Schools awards and Intermediate International School status all add to the breadth

of high quality experiences that pupils receive. Information and communication technology

(ICT) is used to develop key skills. It is effectively integrated into lessons. Investigative and

problem-solving techniques and the inclusion of speaking and listening activities also feature

strongly, preparing pupils well for future phases in their school life. In some lessons however,

6 of 11Inspection Report: Overchurch Infant School, 25–26 June 2008

Page 98



activities are not always planned to sufficiently challenge the more able pupils. Writing is very

well promoted through the 'Big Write' and through collaboration with creative partnerships.

While a single modern foreign language is not yet a strong feature of school life, pupils are

introduced to a variety of languages through, for example, registration in French and Maori.

Visiting artists, Junior Chef Week, arts weeks, extra-curricular activities at lunchtime and after

school and a wealth of multicultural activities, alongside targeted activities to improve boys'

writing, have all helped to raise standards across the school.

Care, guidance and support

Grade: 1

This is a truly inclusive school where the pastoral care and support for all pupils, including those

with severemedical and physical needs, is outstanding. All statutory requirements and procedures

for safeguarding and protecting pupils are in place and robustly applied. All staff know individual

pupils very well and work very hard to ensure that pupils feel safe and happy in school. 'It's

great here, I love it!' typifies the view of many pupils. This very effective pastoral support

ensures that all pupils, and especially the most vulnerable, have someone with whom they can

share any worries or go to when they need time to reflect. Those with learning difficulties

and/or disabilities are very well supported through individual education plans that set out

clearly how their needs should be met. Procedures for checking pupils' progress are outstanding

from the moment children start at the school and underpin the pupils' outstanding personal

development and good academic achievement. Academic guidance is outstanding. Very detailed,

regular checks ensure that no child slips through the net. Teachers make exceptional use of

this information and their knowledge of pupils to set individual targets to guide their future

learning. Even the youngest of children know these targets very well and are clear about what

they need to do to achieve them.

Leadership and management

Grade: 2

Since her return from secondment, the tenacious leadership of the headteacher has been

responsible for a thorough review of expectation and rigour in teaching and learning. The recent

decline in standards was viewed as unacceptable. With renewed vigour and with the full support

of the leadership team and staff, a culture of accountability has been re-established. This now

permeates the school and is the driving force for improvement. Structures for providing

leadership and management at different levels have been clarified and middle managers play

a full and active role in helping to raise standards and achievement in all subjects. The impressive

systems and detailed information gathered on pupils' progress, alongside assessment data from

class teachers, assure corporate responsibility for standards and achievement. School

self-evaluation is accurately fed by a wide range of internal and external contributions. Governors

play a major part in the work of the school, providing a good level of both challenge and

dedicated support. Governors, led by a dynamic chair, are firmly focused on the key priority to

raise standards and achievement even further. Given pupils' good progress, the headteacher's

purposeful leadership, her powerful vision for the future of the school, and the governors and

staff's high expectations of what pupils can achieve, the school has the commitment and good

capacity to improve further.

7 of 11Inspection Report: Overchurch Infant School, 25–26 June 2008

Page 99



.

Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures set out

in the guidance 'Complaints about school inspection', which is available from Ofsted’s website:

www.ofsted.gov.uk.

8 of 11Inspection Report: Overchurch Infant School, 25–26 June 2008

Page 100



Inspection judgements

School

Overall
Key to judgements: grade 1 is outstanding, grade 2 good, grade 3 satisfactory, and

grade 4 inadequate

Overall effectiveness

2
How effective, efficient and inclusive is the provision of education, integrated

care and any extended services in meeting the needs of learners?

Yes
Effective steps have been taken to promote improvement since the last
inspection

2
Howwell does the school work in partnership with others to promote learners'
well-being?

2The effectiveness of the Foundation Stage
2The capacity to make any necessary improvements

Achievement and standards

2How well do learners achieve?

2The standards
1
reached by learners

2
Howwell learners make progress, taking account of any significant variations between

groups of learners

2How well learners with learning difficulties and disabilities make progress

Personal development and well-being

1
How good is the overall personal development and well-being of the
learners?

1The extent of learners' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development
1The extent to which learners adopt healthy lifestyles
1The extent to which learners adopt safe practices
1How well learners enjoy their education
3The attendance of learners
1The behaviour of learners
1The extent to which learners make a positive contribution to the community

1
How well learners develop workplace and other skills that will contribute to
their future economic well-being

The quality of provision

2
How effective are teaching and learning in meeting the full range of the
learners' needs?

2
How well do the curriculum and other activities meet the range of needs
and interests of learners?

1How well are learners cared for, guided and supported?

1
Grade 1 - Exceptionally and consistently high; Grade 2 - Generally above average with none significantly

below average; Grade 3 - Broadly average to below average; Grade 4 - Exceptionally low.

9 of 11Inspection Report: Overchurch Infant School, 25–26 June 2008

Annex A

Page 101



Leadership and management

2
How effective are leadership and management in raising achievement
and supporting all learners?

1
How effectively leaders and managers at all levels set clear direction leading
to improvement and promote high quality of care and education

2How effectively leaders andmanagers use challenging targets to raise standards
2The effectiveness of the school's self-evaluation

2
How well equality of opportunity is promoted and discrimination tackled so
that all learners achieve as well as they can

2
How effectively and efficiently resources, including staff, are deployed to
achieve value for money

2
The extent to which governors and other supervisory boards discharge their
responsibilities

Yes
Do procedures for safeguarding learners meet current government
requirements?

NoDoes this school require special measures?
NoDoes this school require a notice to improve?

10 of 11Inspection Report: Overchurch Infant School, 25–26 June 2008

Annex A

Page 102



Text from letter to pupils explaining the findings of the inspection

Inspection of Overchurch Infant School, Wirral, CH49 4NS

Thank you very much for welcoming us in such a friendly manner to your school. We enjoyed

our visit very much and agree with you that Overchurch Infants is a good school. We thought

many of the things about your school were good and we would love to share with you those

that particularly pleased us.

• You are really enthusiastic about learning and you work hard.

• You are helpful and very considerate of other people's needs.

• You make good progress and many of you achieve well by the end of Year 2.

• Your teachers organise your learning in exciting ways that also make it fun. They also use

ICT very well and so do you!

• Staff take good care of you and, through your targets, help you to understand clearly how

to make your work even better.

• Your headteacher is extremely good at working out what improvements are needed and

helping all the staff to put them into practice.

This is what we have asked the school to do next to make it even better.

• Make sure that all your teachers ensure that those of you who find your work easy are always

challenged to do your best in all lessons.

• Work with your parents to make sure that they bring you to school every day.

You can help your school too by continuing to enjoy finding out about and doing new things

and by working really hard.

11 of 11Inspection Report: Overchurch Infant School, 25–26 June 2008

Annex B

Page 103



Inspection Report

Overchurch Junior School

105056Unique Reference Number

WirralLEA

277283Inspection number

7 February 2006 to 8 February 2006Inspection dates

Mr Michael McIlroy HMIReporting inspector

This inspection was carried out under section 5 of the Education Act 2005.

Moreton RoadSchool addressPrimaryType of school

UptonCommunitySchool category

Wirral, Merseyside CH49 4NS7 to 11Age range of pupils

0151 6774150Telephone numberMixedGender of pupils

0151 5220518Fax number395Number on roll

Dr P ElliotChair of governorsThe governing bodyAppropriate authority

Mr G SumnerHeadteacher21 November 2000Date of previous inspection

Inspection numberInspection datesAge group
2772837 February 2006 -7 to 11

8 February 2006

Page 104



Inspection Report: Overchurch Junior School, 7 February 2006 to 8 February 2006

© Crown copyright 2006

Website: www.ofsted.gov.uk

This document may be reproduced in whole or in part for non-commercial educational purposes, provided that

the information quoted is reproduced without adaptation and the source and date of publication are stated.

Further copies of this report are obtainable from the school. Under the Education Act 2005, the school must

provide a copy of this report free of charge to certain categories of people. A charge not exceeding the full cost

of reproduction may be made for any other copies supplied.

Page 105



Introduction

The inspection was carried out by one of Her Majesty's Inspectors and two additional

inspectors.

Description of the school

Overchurch Junior School is situated in Upton, a suburb on the Wirral. The school is

larger than average. About a quarter of the pupils are eligible for free school meals,

which is above average. Very few pupils are of minority ethnic origin or have English

as a second language. Four pupils have a statement of special educational need. The

school has a few pupils who have learning difficulties and/or disabilities. The majority

of pupils join the school from the neighbouring infant school. On entry, the skills and

knowledge of pupils are above average. The school has been awarded the Basic Skills

Mark.

Key for inspection grades
OutstandingGrade 1
GoodGrade 2
SatisfactoryGrade 3
InadequateGrade 4

1Inspection Report: Overchurch Junior School, 7 February 2006 to 8 February 2006

Page 106



Overall effectiveness of the school

Grade: 3

Overchurch Junior School provides a satisfactory education for its pupils and has a

number of good features.

Pupils enter the school with standards in learning that are above average. By Year 6,

standards achieved remain just above average. This is because the progress pupils

make in the school is satisfactory. In the past, the school enjoyed a sustained period

of higher levels of pupil achievement, under the leadership of the current headteacher.

Since his secondment to another post in 2003/04, the school has lost somemomentum

and pupils' progress has slowed.

Leadership and management are satisfactory. The headteacher has a good

understanding of the strengths and weaknesses of the school. He has begun to remedy

the weaknesses and under his leadership the school is well placed to move forward

again. Middle management is satisfactory but some aspects of subject leadership are

underdeveloped. Systems for monitoring and evaluating the work of the school are

not rigorous enough. The use of outcomes from these in planning for improvement

requires development. Governance of the school is satisfactory.

The personal development of pupils is good and the school promotes this well. Pupils

are well behaved and willing to learn. Attendance is good and learners enjoy their

education. The care and support that pupils receive are also good.

The curriculum is good and meets the needs of learners. Teaching is satisfactory overall

but assessment is not used effectively enough to ensure that work is matched to the

different abilities of learners. Pupils with learning difficulties and/or disabilities make

good progress and most other pupils make satisfactory progress. Some more able

pupils do not achieve as well as they could.

The school provides satisfactory value for money.

What the school should do to improve further

• Increase the proportion of good teaching.

• Makemonitoring and evaluationmore robust and use the outcomesmore effectively

in strategic planning.

• Make more effective use of assessment information to inform lesson planning and

improve the challenge presented to all pupils, particularly the more able.

Achievement and standards

Grade: 3

Achievement by pupils is satisfactory. They enter the school with levels of attainment

in learning that are above average for children of their age. By the time they leave the

school, their level of attainment is still above average overall. This represents

satisfactory progress.

2Inspection Report: Overchurch Junior School, 7 February 2006 to 8 February 2006

Page 107



At the time of the last inspection, the progress made by pupils in their learning was

very good. In recent years, however, this has slowed. Over the last three years it was

broadly satisfactory. In the 2005 national tests, the achievement of pupils improved

in science but dipped in mathematics. In English, fewer of the more able pupils gained

the higher Level 5 due to weaknesses in writing. Consequently, the school did not

meet all of its targets in 2005.

Pupils with learning difficulties and/or disabilities make good progress. More able

pupils do not make as much progress as they could, particularly in English. This is

because some of their work is not matched to their abilities and because the pace of

learning in some lessons is not fast enough.

The school is aware of these weaknesses and is beginning to remedy them.

Personal development and well-being

Grade: 2

The personal development and well-being of pupils are good. They enjoy being at

school as shown by their above average attendance and participation in extra-curricular

activities. Pupils cooperate well with each other and adults, and most work hard.

Behaviour is good in lessons and around school. Attitudes to learning are positive,

although occasionally chatter spoils the concentration of others. Pupils willingly accept

responsibility and are cheerful, polite and helpful. The school council provides good

opportunities for pupils to develop their understanding of citizenship. Pupils are

pleased that their views are acted upon; for example, their requests that the toilets

be improved and for a quiet area on the playground have been met.

The spiritual, moral, social and cultural development of pupils is good. Lessons in

personal and social education help pupils to reflect on issues and develop a sense of

right and wrong. Their self-esteem is developed through their involvement in

enrichment activities and the celebration of their achievements in assemblies. They

gain a knowledge and understanding of world religions and different cultures through

lessons. Close attention is given to the development of basic skills and pupils learn to

work well independently and collaboratively. These factors are valuable in securing

their future economic well-being.

Quality of provision

Teaching and learning

Grade: 3

The school judges teaching to be good but inspectors found it to be satisfactory overall.

In the best lessons, teaching was lively, interesting and learning proceeded at a good

pace. Teachers had high expectations of behaviour, the most able pupils were

stretched and learning was enriched by a variety of exciting activities. In one good

3Inspection Report: Overchurch Junior School, 7 February 2006 to 8 February 2006

Page 108



science lesson, for example, pupils enthusiastically played an exciting revision quiz

prior

to their main learning activity.

Weaknesses in the satisfactory teaching included slow pace, activities that did not

hold

pupils' attention, and a lack of challenge for more able pupils. Work was not always

well

matched to the ability of pupils.

When lessons were not stimulating or well structured enough, the rate of learning was

slower, but the good personal development of pupils meant that almost all pupils were

well behaved. Skilled teaching assistants ensure that pupils with learning difficulties

and/or disabilities learn well. Assessment procedures are satisfactory but are not used

effectively enough to identify underachievement and improve the pupils' progress.

Curriculum and other activities

Grade: 2

The curriculum is good and meets statutory requirements. It meets the needs of most

groups of pupils well, including those with learning difficulties and/or disabilities.

However, it does not always meet the needs of the more able pupils. Close attention

is paid to developing the basic skills in literacy and numeracy. A good start has been

made to the linking of subjects in a cross-curricular manner in order to make learning

more relevant. An emphasis on the arts on special curriculum days and themed weeks

extend the creative opportunities presented to pupils. The impact of these is visible

in the outstanding artwork on display. Good use is made of visits and visitors to enrich

learning. Pupils in Year 6 benefit from a residential visit, which boosts their academic

and social development well. A wide range of extra-curricular activities is available,

including sports, recorders, chess and choir. The school has its own orchestra. Careful

attention is given to developing awareness of the need to exercise regularly, to stay

healthy, and to avoid the temptations and risks that they may face as they get older.

Care, guidance and support

Grade: 2

Pupils are well cared for and there are good procedures for health and safety.

Consequently, pupils feel safe in school, trust staff and know where to turn for help.

Pupils with learning difficulties and/or disabilities are fully included in activities. They

have clear individual educational plans, and parents and outside agencies are fully

consulted. Procedures for tracking the progress of pupils and analysing what they

need to do next are inconsistent. There are pockets of good practice which need to

be shared throughout the school. Academic targets for more able pupils are not always

sufficiently challenging.

4Inspection Report: Overchurch Junior School, 7 February 2006 to 8 February 2006

Page 109



The great majority of parents are supportive of the school andmost consider that their

children are extremely well cared for. Child protection procedures are in place. Staff

praise pupils for their positive attitudes to work, for their politeness and the care and

consideration they show to others. In this way, pupils are well prepared for the next

stage in their education and later life. Year 6 pupils are adequately prepared for

secondary education. They visit local high schools for lessons. Specialist teachers from

these schools visit to give taster lessons in subjects ranging from design technology

to physical education.

The school encourages pupils to embrace healthy lifestyles. There are healthy options

offered at lunchtime. On Tuesdays, the Parent Council sells toast at playtime and on

'Fruity Fridays' pupils can purchase fruit.

Leadership and management

Grade: 3

The school judges the quality of leadership and management to be good. Inspectors

found it to be satisfactory.

The headteacher has led the school successfully for many years. He has successfully

fostered the good personal development of pupils which has created the basis for

good

learning. Since his temporary secondment, however, the school has lost some

momentum. While standards overall remain above national averages, they have

declined from their previously high level. This is because the rate of progress made

by

the pupils has slowed.

The school's self-evaluation is sound. The headteacher has a good understanding of

the strengths of the school and of where it needs to improve. He has identified key

weaknesses and begun to remedy them. His good track record over many years and

some improvements since the last inspection, such as the introduction of procedures

to

track pupils' progress, demonstrate that the school under his leadership has the capacity

to improve.

Subject leaders and other postholders provide satisfactory leadership andmanagement

in their areas of responsibility. They monitor planning and have an understanding of

the

strengths and weaknesses in their areas. Some aspects of subject leadership, however,

are underdeveloped. There is a lack of consistency in the application of whole-school

5Inspection Report: Overchurch Junior School, 7 February 2006 to 8 February 2006

Page 110



policies. The monitoring and evaluation of subjects are not sufficiently rigorous to

enable

issues that affect pupils' progress to be identified at an early stage and tackled

effectively. The school is inclusive. Parents and pupils are consulted about

developments. Positive suggestions, such as the creation of a chess club, have been

adopted.

Governance is satisfactory. Governors are very supportive of the headteacher. They

are

informed about the work of the school but do not always provide enough challenge

to its

leadership. The school provides satisfactory value for money.

6Inspection Report: Overchurch Junior School, 7 February 2006 to 8 February 2006

Page 111



.

Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures

set out in the guidance 'Complaints about school inspection', which is available from Ofsted’s

website: www.ofsted.gov.uk.

7Inspection Report: Overchurch Junior School, 7 February 2006 to 8 February 2006

Page 112



Inspection judgements

16-19
School
Overall

Key to judgements: grade 1 is outstanding, grade 2 good, grade 3

satisfactory, and grade 4 inadequate

Overall effectiveness

NA3
How effective, efficient and inclusive is the provision of education,
integrated care and any extended services in meeting the needs of
learners?

NA2
How well does the school work in partnership with others to promote
learners' well-being?

NANAThe quality and standards in foundation stage
NA3The effectiveness of the school's self-evaluation
NAYesThe capacity to make any necessary improvements

NAYes
Effective steps have been taken to promote improvement since the last
inspection

Achievement and standards
NA3How well do learners achieve?

NA2The standards
1
reached by learners

NA3
Howwell learners make progress, taking account of any significant variations

between groups of learners

NA2How well learners with learning difficulties and disabilities make progress

Personal development and well-being

NA2
How good is the overall personal development and well-being of the

learners?

NA2The extent of learners' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development

NA2The behaviour of learners

NA2The attendance of learners

NA2How well learners enjoy their education

NA2The extent to which learners adopt safe practices

NA2The extent to which learners adopt healthy lifestyles

NA2The extent to which learners make a positive contribution to the community

NA2
How well learners develop workplace and other skills that will contribute to

their future economic well-being

The quality of provision

NA3
How effective are teaching and learning in meeting the full range of

the learners' needs?

NA2
How well do the curriculum and other activities meet the range of

needs and interests of learners?

NA2How well are learners cared for, guided and supported?

1
Grade 1 - Exceptionally and consistently high; Grade 2 - Generally above average with none significantly below

average; Grade 3 - Broadly average; Grade 4 - Exceptionally low.

Annex A

Page 113



Leadership and management

NA3
How effective are leadership and management in raising achievement

and supporting all learners?

NA3
How effectively leaders andmanagers at all levels set clear direction leading

to improvement and promote high quality of care and education

NA3
How effectively performance is monitored, evaluated and improved to meet

challenging targets, through quality assurance and self-review

NA3
How well equality of opportunity is promoted and discrimination tackled so

that all learners achieve as well as they can

NA3
How effectively and efficiently resources are deployed to achieve value for

money

NA3
The extent to which governors and other supervisory boards discharge their

responsibilities

NAYesThe adequacy and suitability of staff to ensure that learners are protected

The extent to which schools enable learners to be healthy

YesLearners are encouraged and enabled to eat and drink healthily

YesLearners are encouraged and enabled to take regular exercise

YesLearners are discouraged from smoking and substance abuse

YesLearners are educated about sexual health

The extent to which providers ensure that learners stay safe

YesProcedures for safeguarding learners meet current government requirements

YesRisk assessment procedures and related staff training are in place

YesAction is taken to reduce anti-social behaviour, such as bullying and racism

YesLearners are taught about key risks and how to deal with them

The extent to which learners make a positive contribution

YesLearners are helped to develop stable, positive relationships

YesLearners, individually and collectively, participate in making decisions that affect them

Yes
Learners are encouraged to initiate, participate in and manage activities in school and the

wider community

The extent to which schools enable learners to achieve economic well-being

YesThere is provision to promote learners’ basic skills

YesLearners have opportunities to develop enterprise skills and work in teams

NA
Careers education and guidance is provided to all learners in key stage 3 and 4 and the sixth

form

NA
Education for all learners aged 14–19 provides an understanding of employment and the

economy

Annex A

Page 114



Text from letter to pupils explaining the findings of the inspection

Thank you for being so polite and helpful when we inspected your school recently. I am writing

to let you know some of the things we saw during our visit.

Some of the best things we saw at your school were:

- your behaviour is good and you are polite and kind to each other and to visitors

- you are well looked after by your teachers and other adults

- you enjoy your school and know how to live healthily and stay safe

- the wide range of sports and clubs that you can participate in

- your art and display work - much of this is outstanding.

We have asked your headteacher, staff and governors to make your school even better. We

would like the school to:

- carry out more visits to classes to see that all of you are learning well and to see how things

can be made even better for you

- check that the work you receive is hard enough for you

- make your lessons more interesting for you by speeding up the activities you do and by adding

greater variety to what you do in class.

Once again, many thanks for your help and politeness when we visited your school.

Annex B

Page 115



Page 116



�
�
�
��

�
��

�
	




�
�


�
�

�

��

��


��
��

��
��

��
�
��

�
�

��



�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�	
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�



�
��
�
	�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
� 
�
��
	�
�
!

�
"

�
"

�
�
�
�

�
#
�

�
#
�

�
	�
�
�
�
$�
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
#

�
#

�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

 
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

%
&
�
��
�
�
��
�
�'
�
(�
�
	�
�
�
�
�
�


#
#

#
�

�
�
"
#

�
"
#

�
"
#

%
&
�
��
�
�
��
�
�)
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�


�
�
�

�
�
�

*
*
�
�

*
�
�

*
�
�

�
	�
)
�
�
�
+
�
$�
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
�,
+
	�
�
!

*
�

*
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
	�
�
�
	�
�$
�
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

-
�
.
�
(�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


"
�

"
�

�
*
*
�

*
�
�

*
�
�

�
��
�
	�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


"
�

"
�

�
*
�
#

*
�
�

*
�
�

�
	�
 
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�/
�
/
�
0
�
�
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
�

�
�
�
*

�
�
*

�
�
*

-
�
��
0
.
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
�

�
�
*
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

'�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

1
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
�

�
�
�
*

�
�
�

�
�
�

2
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

3

4
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
�

�
�
"
*

�
�
�

�
�
�

5
��
�
�
�
�
�'
�
(�
�
	�
�
�
�
�
�


"
�

"
�

�
�
�
#

�
�
#

�
�
#

5
��
�
�
�
�
�)
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
�

*
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

%
�
��
6
�
�
�
��
(�
�
�	
�
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


"
�

"
�

�
*
�
�

*
�
�

*
�
�

�
�

�
�




��

�
��

�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�
�


�


Page 117



�
�


�
�

�

��

��


��
��

��
��

��
�
��

�
�

��



�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�	
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
�

�
�
#

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
�

�
*
"

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�



�
��
�
	�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
� 
�
��
	�
�
!

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
	
�

�


�

�
	
�

�


�

�
	�
�
�
�
$�
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�

�
"

�



�
	

�
	

�



 
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
�

�
�
"

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

%
&
�
��
�
�
��
�
�'
�
(�
�
	�
�
�
�
�
�


�
*
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�



�
�
�

�
�
�

%
&
�
��
�
�
��
�
�)
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�


�
�
�

�
*
�

�
�
�

�
�



�
�
�

�
�
�

�
	�
)
�
�
�
+
�
$�
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
�,
+
	�
�
!

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�



�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�



�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�



�


�

�
	
�

�
	�
�
�
	�
�$
�
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
*
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

-
�
.
�
(�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


*
�
�

*
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
��
�
	�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
#
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
	�
 
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�/
�
/
�
0
�
�
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
*
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�



-
�
��
0
.
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
�

�
�
*

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

�
�



'�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

1
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
�

�
�
"

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

2
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
�

�
#
�

�
	
	

�
	
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

4
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
	

�
�
�

5
��
�
�
�
�
�'
�
(�
�
	�
�
�
�
�
�


�
�
#

�
"
#

�
	
�

�
	
�

�
	
�

�
	
�

5
��
�
�
�
�
�)
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�


�
�
�

�
�
*

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

%
�
��
6
�
�
�
��
(�
�
�	
�
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�


*
�
�

*
�
*

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�



�
	
�

�
�
+
	�
�+
�
�
�
�
��
�
7
�
�
�
��
0
��
�
�
�
�
�
�.
�	
�
��
�
��
�
�
�+
�
�
�

+
�
�
�
�
!

�
�
"

�
�
�

"
#
�

�
*
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

-
�
	�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
	�
�/
��
�
.
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
	�
)
�
�
��
�
!

�
�
�

"
�

�
�

/
(	
�
��
8
"
�
�
�
&
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�

3�
�
��
9�
�
	�
�
��
�
+
�
�
�	
�
��
	�
2
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
(�
��
�
��
/
��
�
.
�
��
�
�+
�
+
��
�	
��
�
�
(�
��
	�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
:
�

/
�
	�
�
�
(�
	�
��
��
�
+
�
�
�	
�
�.
�
��
�
+
�
�
�
��
�
�+
�
��
�
	�
�
+
��
(�
��
�
�
�
�
:

��
��
��
��
�

33
�
�
+
	�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�0
�&
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�+
��
7
�
�(
�
��
)
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
#
�

�
�
�
�
�
;�
�
�
��
�
+
�
�	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�.
<�
��
#
	�
�

�
�
+
	�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
:�
�
�
�
�
=�
�
�
�
�(
�
��
�
�
�
	�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�)
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
	�
:

�
�

�
�

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
 �
�
�

�
��

�
��

�
�


�


Page 118



From: gillian456x@tiscali.co.uk [mailto:gillian456x@tiscali.co.uk] 
Sent: 02 November 2008 20:39 
To: George, John F. (Councillor) 
Subject:

Dear mr George 
I am writing to ask you to speak to the head of child services. A notice was fastened on 
the gate of Fender primary school stating that arrowe hill is closing. As a working parent I 
did not collect my child from arrowe hill and therefore this is the first information I have 
received about it. I think Mr Cooper should have written to parents to explain what is 
happening and how as a parent I can appeal please can you find out what I can do about 
this.
 gillian Hargreaves 

Page 119



Page 120



Decision Makers’ Guidance
(Local Authorities and Governing 
Bodies) for: 

Closing a Maintained Mainstream 
School

For further information: 

School Organisation Unit 
DCSF
Mowden Hall 
Darlington
DL3 9BG 

Tel: 01325 391274 

Email:  schools.organisation-unit@dcsf.gsi.gov.uk 

Website: www.dcsf.gov.uk/schoolorg

Page 121



This guidance is extracted, for ease of reference by decision makers, from the 
full version of the “Closing a Maintained Mainstream School” guide.  The 
statutory guidance sections are indicated by shading. 

Stage 4 – Decision 

Who Will Decide the Proposals? 

4.1 Decisions on school organisation proposals are taken by the LA or by 
the schools adjudicator. In this chapter both are covered by the form of words 
“Decision Maker” which applies equally to both. Paragraphs 7-8 and 19 of 
Schedule 2 to EIA 2006 set out who should decide proposals for school 
closures.  Most decisions will be taken by the LA, however there is provision 
for some rights of appeal to the schools adjudicator.

4.2 The Department does not prescribe the process by which an LA carry 
out their decision-making function (e.g. full Cabinet or delegation to Cabinet 
member or officials). This is a matter for the LA to determine but the 
requirement to have regard to statutory guidance (see paragraph 4.15 below) 
applies equally to the body or individual that takes the decision).

4.3 Where proposals are published by the LA and there are no objections 
and the proposals are not “related” to other proposals, the proposals must be 
determined by the LA under Paragraph 19 of Schedule 2 to EIA 2006. The 
proposals should then be decided within 2 months (and if not, the proposals 
must be referred to the schools adjudicator) and there is no provision for an 
appeal against the LA’s decision.  A conditional approval cannot be given 
where proposals are decided under this paragraph. 

4.4 If there are objections to the proposals, or there are no objections but 
the proposals are “related” to other proposals, the proposals must be decided 
under Paragraph 8 of Schedule 2 to EIA 2006.  The LA will normally be the 
decision maker (i.e. except where the proposals are related to proposals for 
the establishment of a new school and the schools adjudicator is required to 
decide the new school proposals – see paragraph 5.6 of Part A, and 
paragraph 4.6 of Part B, of “Establishing a New Maintained Mainstream 
School”). If the LA fail to decide proposals within 2 months from the end of the 
representation period they must forward the proposals and any 
representations (i.e. not withdrawn in writing), to the schools adjudicator for 
decision. They must forward the proposals within one week from the end of 
the 2 month period. 

Who Can Appeal Against an LA Decision? 

4.5 There is no right of appeal where proposals are decided under Section 
19 of Schedule 2 to EIA 2006. In all other cases the following bodies may 
appeal against an LA decision: 

! The local Church of England diocese; 

1Page 122



! The Bishop of the local Roman Catholic diocese;

! The Learning and Skills Council where the school provides education
for pupils aged 14 and over; and 

! In the case of foundation and voluntary schools only - the governing 
body or trustees of the school that is proposed for closure. 

4.6 Appeals must be submitted to the LA within 4 weeks of the notification 
of the LA’s decision.  On receipt of an appeal the LA must then send the 
proposals, and the comments and objections received, to the schools 
adjudicator within 1 week of the receipt of the appeal. The LA should also 
send a copy of the minutes of the LA’s meeting or other record of the decision 
and any relevant papers. Where the proposals are “related” to other 
proposals, all the “related” proposals should be sent to the schools 
adjudicator.

Checks on Receipt of Statutory Proposals 

4.7 There are 4 key issues which the Decision Maker must consider before 
judging the respective factors and merits of the statutory proposals:-

! Is any information missing? If so, the Decision Maker should write 
immediately to the proposer specifying a date by which the information 
must be provided; 

! Does the published notice comply with statutory requirements? (see 
paragraph 4.8 below); 

! Has the statutory consultation been carried out prior to the publication
of the notice? (see paragraph 4.9 below); and

! Are the proposals “related” to other published proposals? (see 
paragraphs 4.10 - 4.14 below) and should therefore be considered 
together.

Does the Published Notice Comply with Statutory Requirements? 

4.8 The Decision Maker should consider whether the notice is valid as 
soon as a copy is received.  Where a published notice does not comply with 
statutory requirements - as set out in The School Organisation (Establishment
and Discontinuance of Schools)(England) Regulations 2007 (SI:2007 - 1288) - 
it may be judged invalid and the Decision Maker should consider whether they 
can decide the proposals.

Has the Statutory Consultation Been Carried Out Prior to the Publication 
of the Notice? 

4.9 Details of the consultation should be included in the proposals.  The 
Decision Maker must be satisfied that the consultation meets statutory 
requirements (see Stage 1 paragraphs 1.2 – 1.6).  If some parties submit 

2Page 123



objections on the basis that consultation was not adequate, the Decision
Maker may wish to take legal advice on the points raised. If the requirements 
have not been met, the Decision Maker may judge the proposals to be invalid 
and should consider whether they can decide the proposals.  Alternatively the 
Decision Maker may take into account the sufficiency and quality of the 
consultation as part of their overall judgement of the proposals as a whole.

Are the Proposals Related to Other Published Proposals? 

4.10 Paragraphs 9 and 19 of Schedule 2 to the EIA 2006 provide that any 
proposals that are “related to” particular proposals (e.g. for a new school, 
school closure or proposals by the LSC to deal with inadequate 16-19 
provision proposals) must be considered together. Where the proposals are 
related to the establishment of a new school, and the schools adjudicator 
must decide the new school proposals (see paragraph 4.4 above) the schools
adjudicator must decide the related proposals together. Paragraphs 4.11 – 
4.14 provide statutory guidance on whether proposals should be regarded as 
“related”.

4.11 Generally, proposals should be regarded as “related” if they are 
included on the same notice (unless the notice makes it clear that the 
proposals are not “related”). Proposals should be regarded as “related” if the 
notice makes a reference to a link to other proposals.  If the statutory notices 
do not confirm a link, but it is clear that a decision on one of the 
proposals would be likely to directly affect the outcome or consideration of the 
other, the proposals should be regarded as “related”. Proposals for a school 
competition should be considered together with proposals for any school 
closure where there is a clear link.

4.12 Where proposals are “related”, the decisions should be compatible e.g. 
if one set of proposals is for the removal of provision, and another is for the 
establishment or enlargement of provision for displaced pupils, both should be 
approved or rejected.

4.13 Where proposals for a closing school are “related” to proposals 
published by the local LSC, which are to be decided by the Secretary of State,
the Decision Maker should defer taking a decision until the Secretary of State
has taken a decision on the LSC proposals.  This applies where the proposals 
before the Decision Maker concern: 

a.  the school that is the subject of the LSC proposals;

b. any other secondary school, maintained by the same LA that maintains 
a school that is the subject of the LSC proposals; or

c. any other secondary school in the same LA area as any FE college 
which is the subject of the LSC proposals. 

4.14 The proposals will be regarded as “related” if their implementation 
would prevent or undermine effective implementation of the LSC proposals. 

3Page 124



Statutory Guidance – Factors to be Considered by Decision Makers

4.15 Paragraphs 8(6) and 17 of Schedule 2 to the EIA 2006 provides that 
both the LA and schools adjudicator are required to have regard to guidance
issued by the Secretary of State when they take a decision on proposals.
Paragraphs 4.16 to 4.62 below contain the statutory guidance on considering 
proposals for school closure. 

4.16 The following factors should not be taken to be exhaustive.  Their 
importance will vary, depending on the type and circumstances of the 
proposals. All proposals should be considered on their individual merits. 

EFFECT ON STANDARDS AND SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT 

A System Shaped by Parents 

4.17 The Government's aim, as set out in the Five Year Strategy for 
Education and Learners and the Schools White Paper Higher Standards, 
Better Schools For All, is to create a school system shaped by parents which 
delivers excellence and equity.  In particular, the Government wishes to see a 
dynamic system in which:

! weak schools that need to be closed are closed quickly and replaced 
by new ones where necessary; 

! the best schools are able to expand and spread their ethos and 
success; and

! new providers have the opportunity to share their energy and talents by 
establishing new schools - whether as voluntary schools, Trust schools 
or Academies - and forming Trusts for existing schools. 

4.18 The EIA 2006 amends the Education Act 1996 to place new duties 
on LAs to secure diversity in the provision of schools and to 
increase opportunities for parental choice when planning the provision of 
schools in their areas.  In addition, LAs are under a specific duty to respond 
to representations from parents about the provision of schools, including 
requests to establish new schools or make changes to existing schools.  The 
Government's aim is to secure a more diverse and dynamic schools system 
which is shaped by parents. The Decision Maker should take into account the 
extent to which the proposals are consistent with the new duties on LAs. 

Standards

4.19 The Government wishes to encourage changes to local school 
provision which will boost standards and opportunities for young people, while 
matching school place supply as closely as possible to pupils’ and parents’ 
needs and wishes.

4.20 Decision Makers should be satisfied that proposals for a school closure 
will contribute to raising local standards of provision, and will lead to improved 

4Page 125



attainment for children and young people.  They should pay particular 
attention to the effects on groups that tend to under-perform including children 
from certain ethnic groups, children from deprived backgrounds and children 
in care, with the aim of narrowing attainment gaps.

4.21 Decision Makers should be satisfied that when proposals lead to 
children being displaced, any alternative provision will meet the statutory SEN 
improvement test (see paragraphs 4.55 to 4.61). 

4.22 Where a school is to be closed so that it may be amalgamated with a 
more successful and/or popular school, the Decision Maker should again 
normally approve these proposals, subject to evidence being provided by the 
LA and other interests that the development will have a positive impact on 
standards.

Fresh Start and Collaborative Restarts

4.23 Fresh Start and Collaborative Restart provide for poorly performing 
schools which are struggling to improve, to close and be replaced with new 
school provision, usually on the same site.  When considering the closure of 
any school causing concern and, where relevant, the expansion of other 
schools, the Decision Maker should take into account the popularity with 
parents of alternative schools.

4.24 For all closure and Fresh Start proposals involving schools causing 
concern, copies of the Ofsted monitoring letters for the relevant schools 
should be made available. The Decision Maker should have regard to the 
length of time the school has been in special measures, needing significant
improvement or otherwise causing concern, the progress it has made, the 
prognosis for improvement, and the availability of places at other existing or 
proposed schools within a reasonable travelling distance.  There should be a 
presumption that these proposals should be approved, subject only to 
checking that there will be sufficient accessible places of an acceptable 
standard available in the area to meet foreseeable demand and to 
accommodate the displaced pupils. 

Academies

4.25 Academies are publicly-funded independent schools established in 
partnership with business and voluntary sector sponsors.  They will normally 
replace one or more poorly-performing schools or will meet demand for new 
school places in diverse communities where there is only limited access to 
free high quality school places.  Academies may be established in rural as 
well as urban areas.  All Academies should contribute to a strategic approach 
to diversity in their area.  The involvement of business and other non-
Government partners will enable Academies to develop and implement new 
approaches to governance, teaching and learning in order to raise standards.
All Academies will be required to share their facilities and expertise with other 
local schools and the wider community. 

4.26 Where an Academy is to replace an existing school or schools, the 

5Page 126



proposals for the closure of those schools should indicate whether pupils 
currently attending the schools will transfer to the Academy and, if 
appropriate, what arrangements will be made for pupils who are not expected 
to transfer.

4.27 If provision for pupils at a school proposed for closure is dependent on 
the establishment of an Academy, any approval of the closure proposals 
should be conditional on the Secretary of State making an agreement for an 
Academy (see paragraph 4.64), but there should be a general presumption in 
favour of approval. 

Diversity

4.28 The Government’s aim is to transform our school system so that every
child receives an excellent education – whatever their background and 
wherever they live.  A vital part of the Government’s vision is to create a more 
diverse school system offering excellence and choice, where each school 
develops its own ethos, sense of mission and a centre of excellence or 
specialist provision. 

4.29 Decision Makers should consider how proposals will impact on local 
diversity. They should consider the range of schools in the relevant area of 
the LA and how they will ultimately impact on the aspirations of parents and 
help raise local standards and narrow attainment gaps.

Balance of Denominational Provision

4.30 In deciding proposals to close a school with a religious character, the 
Decision Maker should consider the effect that this will have on the balance of 
denominational provision in the area. 

4.31 The Decision Maker should not normally approve the closure of a 
school with a religious character where the proposal would result in a 
reduction in the proportion of denominational places in the area. This 
guidance does not however apply in cases where the school concerned is 
severely under-subscribed, standards have been consistently low or where an 
infant and junior school (at least one of which has a religious character) are to 
be replaced by a new all-through primary school with the same religious 
character on the site of one on the predecessor schools.

Every Child Matters 

4.32 The Decision Maker should consider how the proposals will help every 
child and young person achieve their potential in accordance with Every Child 
Matters’ principles which are: to be healthy; stay safe; enjoy and achieve; 
make a positive contribution to the community and society and achieve 
economic well-being. This should include considering how displaced pupils 
will continue to have access to extended services, opportunities for personal 
development, access to academic and vocational training, measures 
to address barriers to participation and support for children and young people 
with particular needs e.g. looked after children or children with special 

6Page 127



educational needs (SEN) and disabilities. 

NEED FOR PLACES

Provision for Displaced Pupils 

4.33 The Decision Maker should be satisfied that there is sufficient capacity 
to accommodate displaced pupils in the area, taking into account the overall 
supply and likely future demand for places.  The Decision Maker should 
consider the quality and popularity with parents of the schools in which spare 
capacity exists and any evidence of parents’ aspirations for those schools.

Surplus Places

4.34 It is important that education is provided as cost-effectively as possible.
Empty places can represent a poor use of resources - resources that can 
often be used more effectively to support schools in raising standards. The 
Secretary of State wishes to encourage LAs to organise provision in order to 
ensure that places are located where parents want them.  LAs should take 
action to remove empty places at schools that are unpopular with parents and 
which do little to raise standards or improve choice.  The removal of surplus 
places should always support the core agenda of raising standards and 
respect parents' wishes by seeking to match school places with parental 
choices.

4.35 The Decision Maker should normally approve proposals to close 
schools in order to remove surplus places where the school proposed for 
closure has a quarter or more places unfilled, and at least 30 surplus places, 
and where standards are low compared to standards across the LA. The 
Decision Maker should consider all other proposals to close schools in order 
to remove surplus places carefully. Where the rationale for the closure of a 
school is based on the removal of surplus places, standards at the school(s)
in question should be taken into account, as well as geographical and social 
factors, such as population sparsity in rural areas, and the effect on any 
community use of the premises. 

IMPACT ON THE COMMUNITY AND TRAVEL 

Impact on Community

4.36 Some schools may already be a focal point for family and community 
activity, providing extended services for a range of users, and its closure may 
have wider social ramifications.  In considering proposals for the closure of 
such schools, the effect on families and the community should be considered.
Where the school was providing access to extended services, some provision 
should be made for the pupils and their families to access similar services 
through their new schools or other means. 

4.37 The information presented by those bringing forward proposals to close 
such schools, particularly when they are in receipt of funding as part of 
regeneration activity, should therefore include evidence that options for 

7Page 128



maintaining access to extended services in the area have been addressed. 
The views of other relevant agencies and partnerships with responsibility for 
community and family services should be taken into account, alongside those 
of the local police, Government Offices and Regional Development Agencies 
having responsibility for the New Deal for Communities.

Community Cohesion and Race Equality

4.38 When considering proposals to close a school the Decision Maker 
should consider the impact of the proposals on community cohesion.  This will 
need to be considered on a case by case basis, taking account of the 
community served by the school and the views of different sections within the 
community.  In considering the impact of the proposals on community 
cohesion the Decision Maker will need to take account of the nature of the 
alternative provision to be made for pupils displaced by the closure and the 
effects of any other changes to the provision of schools in the area. 

Travel and Accessibility for All 

4.39 In considering proposals for the reorganisation of schools, Decision 
Makers should satisfy themselves that accessibility planning has been 
properly taken into account.  Facilities are to be accessible by those 
concerned, by being located close to those who will use them, and the 
proposed changes should not adversely impact on disadvantaged groups. 

4.40  In deciding statutory proposals, the Decision Maker should bear in 
mind that proposals should not have the effect of unreasonably extending
journey times or increasing transport costs, or result in too many 
children being prevented from travelling sustainably due to unsuitable routes 
e.g. for walking, cycling etc. The EIA 2006 provides extended
free transport rights for low income groups – see Home to School Travel and 
Transport Guidance ref 00373 – 2007BKT-EN at 
www.teachernet.gov.uk/publications.  Proposals should also be considered on 
the basis of how they will support and contribute to the LA’s duty to promote 
the use of sustainable travel and transport to school. 

Equal Opportunity Issues 

4.41 The Decision Maker should consider whether there are any sex, race 
or disability discrimination issues that arise from the changes being proposed, 
for example, that where there is a proposed change to single sex provision in 
an area, there is equal access to single sex provision for the other sex to 
meet parental demand. Similarly there needs to be a commitment to provide 
access to a range of opportunities which reflects the ethnic and cultural mix of 
the area, while ensuring that such opportunities are open to all.

Rural Schools and Sites 

4.42 In considering statutory proposals to close a rural school, the Decision 
Maker should have regard to the need to preserve access to a local school for 
rural communities.  There is therefore a presumption against the closure of 

8Page 129



rural schools.  This does not mean that a rural school should never close, but 
the case for closure should be strong and the proposals clearly in the best 
interests of educational provision in the area. The presumption will not apply 
in cases where a rural infant and junior school on the same site are being 
closed to establish a new primary school.   In order to assist the Decision 
Maker, those proposing closure should provide evidence to the Decision
Maker to show that they have carefully considered:

a. Alternatives to closure including the potential for federation with 
another local school to increase the school’s viability; the scope for an 
extended school or children's centre to provide local community 
services and facilities e.g. child care facilities, family and adult learning,
healthcare, community internet access etc; 

b. The transport implications as mentioned in paragraphs 4.39 to 
4.40; and 

c. The overall and long term impact on local people and the 
community of closure of the village school and of the loss of the 
building as a community facility. 

4.43 When deciding proposals for the closure of a rural primary school, the 
Decision Maker should refer to the Designation of Rural Primary Schools
(England) 2007 to confirm that the school is a rural school. The list of rural 
primary schools can be viewed on line at: 
www.dcsf.gov.uk/publications/otherdocs.shtml

4.44 In the case of secondary schools, it is the responsibility of the Decision 
Maker to decide whether a school is to be regarded as rural for the purpose of 
considering proposals for closure under this guidance and in particular the 
presumption against closure. The Department's register of schools - Edubase 
- includes a rural/urban indicator for each school in England based on an 
assessment by the Office for National Statistics.  The Decision Maker should 
have regard to this indicator.  Where a school is not recorded as rural on 
Edubase, the Decision Maker may nonetheless wish to consider evidence
provided by interested parties that a particular school should be regarded as 
rural.

TYPES OF SCHOOLS 

Boarding School Provision 

4.45 In making a decision on proposals to close a school that includes 
boarding provision, the Decision Maker should consider whether there is a 
state maintained boarding school within one hour’s travelling distance from 
the school. The Decision Maker should consider whether there are 
satisfactory alternative boarding arrangements for those currently in the 
school and those who may need boarding places in the foreseeable future, 
including the children of service families.

SPECIFIC AGE PROVISION ISSUES 

9Page 130



Early Years Provision 

4.46 In considering proposals to close a school which currently includes
early years provision, the Decision Maker should consider whether the 
alternative provision will integrate pre-school education with childcare services 
and/or with other services for young children and their families; and should 
have particular regard to the views of the Early Years Development and 
Childcare Partnership. 

4.47 The Decision Maker should also consider whether the alternative early 
years provision will maintain or enhance the standard of educational provision 
and flexibility of access for parents. Alternative provision could be with 
providers in the private, voluntary or independent sector.

Nursery School Closures 

4.48 In deciding whether to approve any proposals to close a nursery 
school, the Decision Maker should be aware that nursery schools generally 
offer high quality provision, and have considerable potential as the basis for 
developing integrated services for young children and families. There should 
be a presumption against the closure of a nursery school unless the case for 
closure can demonstrate that: 

a. the LA is consistently funding numbers of empty places;

b. full consideration has been given to developing the school into a 
Sure Start Children's Centre, and there are clear, justifiable
grounds for not doing so, for example: unsuitable 
accommodation, poor quality provision and low demand for 
places;

c. plans to develop alternative provision clearly demonstrate that it 
will be at least as equal in terms of the quantity and quality of 
early years provision provided by the nursery school with no loss 
of expertise and specialism; and that 

d. replacement provision is more accessible and more convenient 
for local parents.

14-19 Curriculum and Collaboration 

4.49 The Government has ambitious plans to increase post-16 participation 
rates and improve the skills of learners.  The foundation for making progress 
is a transformed, coherent 14-19 phase offering a rich mix of learning 
opportunities from which young people can choose tailored programmes and 
gain qualifications appropriate to their aptitudes, needs and aspirations.  This 
will be achieved by better collaboration between local providers, including 
schools, colleges, training providers and employers.  Decision Makers should 
therefore consider what measures are being proposed to ensure that 
opportunities available to students in this age group are not reduced by the 
school closure, although the absence of such measures should not prevent 

10Page 131



the closure of a poorly-performing school. 

16-19 Provision – General 

4.50 The Learning and Skills Act 2000 provides an entitlement to further 
education and training for young people aged 16 -19.  Schools and colleges 
should offer high quality provision that meets the diverse needs of all young 
people, their communities and employers. 16-19 provision should be 
organised to ensure that, in every area, young people have access, within 
reasonable travelling distance, to high-quality learning opportunities across 
schools, colleges and work-based training routes. 

4.51 In September 2003 Ministers set out their five key principles for the 
reorganisation of 16-19 provision, following requests from partners (including 
the LSC and LAs) for more clarity on Government expectations.  Decision
Makers should therefore consider all proposals for changes to 16-19 provision 
in the context of these principles.

4.52 Details of the five key principles can be found in ‘Principles
underpinning the organisation of 16-19 provision’ booklet.  Briefly, they are:

a. quality - all provision for all learners should be high quality, 
whatever their chosen pathway;

b. distinct 16-19 provision - all young people should be attached to 
a 16-19 base which will meet the particular pastoral, 
management and learning needs of this age group;

c. diversity to ensure curriculum breadth – well-managed
collaboration between popular and successful small providers 
will enable them to remain viable and to share and build on their 
particular areas of expertise; 

d. learner choice – all learners should normally have local access 
to high quality 16-19 provision in a range of settings and any 
proposals for change to this provision should take into account 
the views of all stakeholders;

e. affordability, value for money and cost effectiveness - proposals 
for change should include how any capital and recurrent costs 
and savings will lead to improved educational opportunities.

LSC Proposals to Close Inadequate 16-19 Provision 

4.53 The Learning and Skills Act 2000 (as amended by the Education Act 
2005) gives the Learning and Skills Council (LSC) powers to propose the 
closure of 16-19 schools judged to require Special Measures.  Where a 16-19 
school is proposed for closure in such circumstances there should be a 
presumption to approve the proposals, subject to evidence being provided
that the development will have a positive impact on standards. 

Conflicting Sixth Form Reorganisation Proposals 

11Page 132



4.54 Where the implementation of reorganisation proposals from the LSC
conflict with other published proposals put to the Decision Maker for decision,
the Decision Maker is prevented (i.e. by the School Organisation Proposals by
the LSC for England Regulations 2003 - SI 2003 No. 507) from making a 
decision on the “related” proposals until the Secretary of State has decided 
the LSC proposals (see paragraphs 4.13 to 4.14 above).

SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS (SEN) PROVISION 

Initial Considerations

4.55 When reviewing SEN provision, planning or commissioning alternative 
types of SEN provision or considering proposals for change, LAs should aim 
for a flexible range of provision and support that can respond to the special 
educational needs of individual pupils and parental preferences, rather than 
necessarily establishing broad categories of provision according to special 
educational need or disability. There are a number of initial considerations for 
LAs to take account of in relation to proposals for change. They should ensure
that local proposals: 

i. take account of parental preferences for particular styles of 
provision or education settings; 

ii. offer a range of provision to respond to the needs of individual 
children and young people, taking account of collaborative 
arrangements (including between special and mainstream), 
extended school and Children’s Centre provision; regional centres 
(of expertise ) and regional and sub-regional provision; out of local 
authority day and residential special provision;

iii. are consistent with the LA’s Children and Young People’s Plan; 

iv. take full account of educational considerations, in particular the 
need to ensure a broad and balanced curriculum, including the 
National Curriculum, within a learning environment in which children 
can be healthy and stay safe;

v. support the LA’s strategy for making schools and settings more 
accessible to disabled children and young people and their scheme 
for promoting equality of opportunity for disabled people;

vi. provide access to appropriately trained staff and access to 
specialist support and advice, so that individual pupils can have the 
fullest possible opportunities to make progress in their learning and 
participate in their school and community; 

vii. ensure appropriate provision for 14-19 year-olds, taking account of 
the role of local LSC funded institutions and their admissions 
policies; and 

viii. ensure that appropriate full-time education will be available to all

12Page 133



displaced pupils.  Their statements of special educational needs will
require amendment and all parental rights must be ensured.  Other
interested partners, such as the Health Authority should be involved.

4.56 Taking account of the considerations, as set out above, will provide
assurance to local communities, children and parents that any reorganisation 
of SEN provision in their area is designed to improve on existing 
arrangements and enable all children to achieve the five Every Child Matters 
outcomes.

The Special Educational Needs Improvement Test 

4.57 When considering any reorganisation of SEN provision, including that 
which might lead to some children being displaced through closures or 
alterations, LAs, and all other proposers for new schools or new provision, will 
need to demonstrate to parents, the local community and Decision Makers 
how the proposed alternative arrangements are likely to lead to improvements 
in the standard, quality and/or range of educational provision for children with 
special educational needs. All consultation documents and reorganisation 
plans that LAs publish and all relevant documentation LAs and other 
proposers submit to Decision Makers should show how the key factors set out 
in the paragraphs below (4.58 to 4.61) have been taken into account. 
Proposals which do not credibly meet these requirements should not be 
approved and Decision Makers should take proper account of parental or 
independent representations which question the LA’s own assessment in this 
regard.

Key Factors

4.58 When LAs are planning changes to their existing SEN provision, and in 
order to meet the requirement to demonstrate likely improvements in provision,
they should:

! identify the details of the specific educational benefits that will flow from 
the proposals in terms of: 

a) improved access to education and associated services including the 
curriculum, wider school activities, facilities  and equipment, with
reference to  the LA’s Accessibility Strategy;

b) improved access to specialist staff, both education and other
professionals, including any external support and/or outreach services;

c) improved access to suitable accommodation; and 

d) improved supply of suitable places. 

! LAs should also:

i. obtain a written statement that offers the opportunity for all providers 

13Page 134



of existing and proposed provision to set out their views on the 
changing pattern of provision seeking agreement where possible; 

ii. clearly state arrangements for alternative provision.  A ‘hope’ or 
‘intention’ to find places elsewhere is not acceptable.  Wherever 
possible, the host or alternative schools should confirm in writing that
they are willing to receive pupils, and have or will have all the facilities 
necessary to provide an appropriate curriculum;

iii. specify the transport arrangements that will support appropriate
access to the premises by reference to the LA’s transport policy for 
SEN and disabled children; and 

iv. specify how the proposals will be funded and the planned staffing 
arrangements that will be put in place.

4.59 It is to be noted that any pupils displaced as a result of the closure of a 
BESD school (difficulties with behavioural, emotional and social development) 
should not be placed long-term or permanently in a Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) if
a special school place is what they need. PRUs are intended primarily for pupils 
who have been excluded, although LAs can and do use PRU provision for 
pupils out of school for other reasons such as illness and teenage pregnancies. 
There may of course be pupils who have statements identifying that they have
BESD who have been placed appropriately in a PRU because they have been 
excluded; in such cases the statement must be amended to name the PRU, but 
PRUs should not be seen as an alternative long-term provision to special
schools.

4.60  The requirement to demonstrate improvements and identify the specific
educational benefits that flow from proposals for new or altered provision  as set 
out in the key factors are for all those who bring forward proposals for new 
special schools or for special provision in mainstream schools including
governors of foundation schools and foundation special schools. The proposer 
needs to consider all the factors listed above.

4.61 Decision Makers will need to be satisfied that the evidence with which 
they are provided shows that LAs and/or other proposers have taken account 
of the initial considerations and all the key factors in their planning and 
commissioning in order to meet the requirement to demonstrate that the 
reorganisation or new provision is likely to result in improvements to SEN 
provision.

OTHER ISSUES

Views of interested parties 

4.62 The Decision Maker should consider the views of all those affected by 
the proposals or who have an interest in them including: pupils; families of 
pupils; staff; other schools and colleges; local residents; diocesan bodies and 
other providers; LAs; the LSC (where proposals affect 14-19 provision) and 
the Early Years Development and Childcare Partnership if one exists, or any 

14Page 135



local partnership or group that exists in place of an EYDCP (where proposals 
affect early years and/or childcare provision).  This includes statutory 
objections and comments submitted during the representation period. The
Decision Maker should not simply take account of the numbers of people 
expressing a particular view when considering representations made on 
proposals.  Instead the Decision Maker should give the greatest weight to 
representations from those stakeholders likely to be most directly affected by 
the proposals. 

Types of Decision 

4.63 In considering proposals for a school closure the Decision Maker can 
decide to: 

! reject the proposals;

! approve the proposals; 

! approve the proposals with a modification (e.g. the school closure 
date); or 

! approve the proposals subject to them meeting a specific condition 
(see paragraph 4.64).

Conditional Approval 

4.64 The regulations provide for a conditional approval to be given where 
the Decision Maker is otherwise satisfied that the proposals can be approved, 
and approval can automatically follow an outstanding event.  Conditional 
approval can only be granted in the limited circumstances specified. 
Conditional approval cannot be granted where proposals are decided under 
Paragraph 19 of Schedule 2 (i.e. where there are no objections) – see 
paragraph 4.3 above. For school closures the following conditions can be set: 

a. the making of any agreement under section 482(1) of the 1996 Act for 
the establishment of an Academy, where the proposals in question 
provide for some or all of the pupils currently at the school which is the 
subject of the proposals to transfer to the Academy; 

b. the agreement to any change to admission arrangements specified in 
the approval, relating to another school;

c. where the proposals depend upon conditions being met, by a specified 
date, for any other school or proposed school, the occurrence of such 
an event. 

4.65 The Decision Maker must set a date by which the condition should be 
met but will be able to modify the date if the proposers confirm, before the 
date expires, that the condition will be met later than originally thought.  The 
proposer should inform the Decision Maker and the Department (School 
Organisation Unit, DCSF, Mowden Hall, Staindrop Road, Darlington, DL3 

15Page 136



9BG) or by email to schools.organisation-unit@dcsf.gsi.gov.uk when a 
condition is met.  If a condition is not met by the date specified, the proposals 
should be referred back to the Decision Maker for fresh consideration.

Decision

4.66 All decisions must give reasons for the decision (i.e. irrespective of 
whether the proposals were rejected or approved) indicating the main 
factors/criteria for the decision.

4.67 A copy of the decision must be forwarded to: 

! the person or body who published the proposals; 

! each objector except where a petition has been received. Where a 
petition is received a decision letter should be sent to the person who 
submitted the petition, or where this is unknown, the signatory whose 
name appears first on the petition;

! the Secretary of State (via the School Organisation Unit, DCSF, 
Mowden Hall, Darlington DL3 9BG or by email to schools.organisation-
unit@dcsf.gsi.gov.uk ); 

! where the school includes provision for 14-16 education or sixth form 
education, the LSC; 

! the local CofE diocese;

! the Bishop of the RC diocese. 

4.68 Where proposals are decided by the LA a copy of the decision must be 
sent to the Office of the Schools Adjudicator, Mowden Hall, Darlington DL3 
9BG. Where proposals are decided by the schools adjudicator a copy of the 
decision must be sent to the LA who maintain the school. 

Can proposals be withdrawn?

4.69 Proposals may be withdrawn at any point before a decision is taken.
Written notice should be given to the LA, or governing body, if the proposals 
were published by the LA. Written notice should also be sent to the schools 
adjudicator (if proposals have been sent to him) and the Secretary of State – 
i.e. via the School Organisation Unit, DCSF, Mowden Hall, Darlington DL3 
9BG or by e-mail to schools.organisation-unit@dcsf.gsi.gov.uk
Written notice should also be placed at the main entrance to the school, or all 
the entrances if there are more than one.

16Page 137



Page 138

This page is intentionally left blank



 

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET  -  15th JANUARY 2009                                      
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
 
MULTI-SYSTEMIC THERAPY PROGRAMME DEVELOPMENT 
  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
This report is further to a report submitted to Cabinet on the 4th October 2007.  At 
that time approval was granted for an application to the Department of Health for 
grant funding to set up a pilot project, hopefully as one of the 6 pilot sites the 
Department of Health was looking to support. That application was unsuccessful.  
Locally professionals across agencies have remained interested in the potential 
of Multi-Systemic Therapy as a successful intervention with adolescents who 
present with conduct and anti-social difficulties.  Wirral Children & Young 
People’s Department(CYPD), Youth Offending Service(YOS), Primary Care 
Trust(PCT) and the Cheshire & Wirral Foundation (NHS) Trust believe this 
evidenced based method of intervening with young people (age 11-17yrs) who 
are at risk of care or custody would make a positive contribution to improving the 
lives of individual children and their families, reduce anti-social behaviour and 
make a contribution in reducing high cost placements outside of Wirral. Using 
funding from the PCT, YOS and CYPD a project plan has been developed that 
would enable an MST programme to be delivered on Wirral.  This report seeks 
Cabinet approval for the development of a Multi-Systemic Therapy programme 
on Wirral.  
         
1.     Background 
 
1.1 In response to the findings and recommendations of a recent Serious Case 

Review the Department has identified the need to enhance provision for a 
specific cohort of young people.  These young people are typically: 

• Aged between 10-17yrs 

• Male 

• Living with parent(s) or a family member.  

• Presenting behavioural difficulties at school, home and in the 
community.  These behavioural difficulties being longstanding and have 
proved resistant to interventions. 

• Rejecting of parental boundaries/adult controls 

• Committing, or suspected of committing, criminal offences. 

• Involved with, or suspected involvement with, alcohol and/or substance 
misuse. 

• Their behaviour is supported by their peer group 

• Parental monitoring of the young person is poor and/or inconsistent. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 139



 

 
Having met with partner agencies and reviewed current research about 
what works for this group of young people there is agreement that Multi-
Systemic Therapy (MST) is likely to be the most effective intervention.  In 
preparation for the bid to the Department of Health in 2007 an audit was 
undertaken across agencies and this identified a group of 90 young people 
who would or could have benefited from this type of intervention in that 
year.     

 
1.2 The Department of Health has been interested in finding effective and 

evidenced based methods of intervening with young people who present 
with what appear to be fairly intractable behaviour/conduct difficulties, 
emerging personality disorders, and for whom current support and 
diversionary methods are not successful in stopping their offending or 
challenging behaviours.  These young people often end up in residential 
care or custody which is both high cost due to the extent of their 
behavioural challenges and often fails to produce any long term change in 
the young person’s behaviours as when they return to live with their 
families, back in their community with their peer group the change in their 
behaviours is often not sustained. 

 
 
1.3 The Department of Health(DH) issued Circular 8376 on the 7th June 2007 

informing Local Authorities and PCT’s of the potential to apply for funding 
for Multi-systemic Therapy (MST) Pilots if they could demonstrate the 
capacity to deliver such a programme.  The Department of Health and the 
Department for Children, Schools and Families(DCSF) are both committed 
to the development of evidence methods of assisting children, young 
people and their families, and from their review of methods of intervention 
with young people presenting high levels of anti-social behaviour they found 
MST had the strongest evidence base for delivering successful outcomes in 
the short and longer term (Utting,D; Monteiro,H; Ghate,D; 2007).  Wirral 
was one of a number of Local Authorities that submitted an application for 
grant funding.  Wirral was not successful in receiving grant funding as a 
Pilot site but feedback we received was that our application was strong. A 
National Pilot MST programme has been established with leadership and 
support from the DH and DCSF for those Local Authorities that were 
successful in obtaining grant funding.  Senior Managers from partner 
agencies on Wirral have met with the National MST leads from the DH to 
discuss the viability of Wirral developing an MST programme alongside the 
National Pilot Programme.  The Department of Health saw this as a positive 
development and felt Wirral had the capacity to deliver a programme.  They 
were not able to include Wirral within the Pilot Programme as research and 
evaluation contracts for the national programme had already been agreed 
based on a specified number of sites. They were, however, happy to offer 
help, advice and support were they could.   

Page 140



 

 
1.4 Multi-systemic Therapy (MST) is a specific treatment model which has been 

developed and refined in the USA since the late 1970’s.  The specific 
methodology of MST is regulated through the Medical University of South 
Carolina, MST Services. It was developed in response to research which 
highlighted the limitations in relation to the effectiveness of existing 
methods of intervening with young people and their families, where young 
people were presenting with severe behavioural problems.  Research 
indicated that a number of individual, family and group therapies offered to 
young people and their families were not effective, other than in the short 
term.  Alternatives to using these interventions with young people and their 
families, at home, was generally to place young people away from their 
families in residential or custodial settings, also indicated limited 
effectiveness and that changes were not maintained in their behaviour 
when they left those settings.  These methods were also seen as having a 
high cost and minimal accountability.  MST is a methodology developed 
using the research into the causality of behavioural problems in young 
people and is established to address the complex interaction of factors that 
cause some young people to develop severe anti-social behaviours and 
make them resistant to change.  

      
1.5 Multi-systemic Therapy (MST) developed as a pragmatic and targeted 

approach to tackle anti social behaviour with the individual young person, 
their family, peer group, school and in their community.  MST is based on 
research evidence that the young person's behaviours are developed in, 
and maintained by, the combined influences of all these areas of their life. 
MST offers an intensive approach to tackling the young person’s 
behaviours across all the areas of their life - the parenting style of the 
family, the young person's behaviour and beliefs, the peer group they mix 
with, their school performance, and their access to structured and positive 
community activities.  MST works to develop a more effective, supportive 
and positive system around the young person using a range of behavioural 
and evidence based interventions to achieve clear and defined outcomes - 
improved monitoring and control by parent(s),  improved school attendance, 
involvement in an organised community activity, no drug use, no criminal 
behaviour.  MST has developed techniques for engaging and working with 
hard to reach young people and their families and the evidence of 
effectiveness, in random control trials in the USA, compared to more 
traditional methods of intervening have proved positive in terms of 
decreased criminal activity, decreased rates of out of home placement and 
improved family functioning.        

 
1.6 The development of Multi-systemic Therapy fits with both Central 

Governments and Local key objectives.  As part of the Government’s 
commitment to tackling social exclusion, set out in Reaching Out: An Action 
Plan on Social Exclusion (September 2006) the Government made a 

Page 141



 

number of recommendations to promote more effective, earlier 
interventions for people experiencing social exclusion.  Action 20 of the plan 
is concerned with early intervention in personality disorder and states “the 
Government will launch pilots to test different interventions for tackling 
mental health problems in childhood, such as ‘Multi-systemic therapy’….  to 
prevent the onset of problems later in life”.  In addition “Care Matters: 
Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care” (2006) 
refers to the need to evaluate the effectiveness of evidenced based 
interventions, which work with adults and children with a complex range of 
problems to reduce the number of children entering care.  Providing 
effective support to enable young people to remain safely within their family 
and community and prevent young people becoming “Looked After”, are 
also key local priorities.   Local priorities relate to safely reducing the 
number of young people needing to be Looked After, the need to reduce 
the number of young people in high cost placements and outside Wirral 
boundaries.   Locally, the nature and type of interventions applied with 
adolescents with challenging behaviours has been an issue raised within a 
recent Serious Case Review and the need to address this is part of the 
Action Plan. 

 
1.7 Currently Wirral provides a number of services to address and respond to 

the needs of young people with high levels of challenging behaviour both 
through the Children & Young People’s Department, the Youth Offending 
Service, and Health services.  The intention in developing an MST 
Programme is to test whether MST offers a more effective way of 
intervening with this group of young people and provides better value for 
money.    

 
1.8 The development and delivery of an MST programme requires local 

stakeholder commitment to the development and use of the approach and 
an agreement from MST Services that Wirral is ready to implement the 
approach. Local stakeholders are in agreement with the proposed 
development. Discussions have taken place with MST Services about 
developing a programme and they have indicated that they would see 
Wirral as being in a position to move forward with developing an MST 
programme with a population that could benefit from this approach.  To 
progress further they require the signing and purchase of a licence 
agreement about the use of MST Services materials and the working 
arrangements with them for training, support and supervision of the 
programme to ensure the model is applied correctly to the right group of 
young people. 

 
1.9 The delivery of the programme will require the appointment of the following 

posts: 1 Clinical Supervisor, a Clinical Psychologist, who would be 
appointed by the Cheshire & Wirral Foundation (NHS) Trust; 3 MST 
Therapists, with relevant professional training and experience and 1 

Page 142



 

administrative support post appointed by the Children & Young People’s 
Department.  The Programme will be based with the Youth Offending 
Service and the Deputy YOS Manager will have operational responsibility 
for the Programme.  A Multi-agency Management Group will be set up to 
oversee the development, problem solve any difficulties and monitor its 
effectiveness and outcomes.  It is expected that the programme offering an 
intensive, focussed time limited intervention (MST would expect to work 
with young people for approximately 6 months) would offer a service to 24 
to 35 young people and their families in a 12 month period. 
 

2. Financial implications 
 
2.1 The estimated cost of setting und running the Programme is £272,250 in the 

1st year, due to set up costs, and £262,250 in subsequent years.  
 

PROGRAMME COSTS YEAR 1 YEAR 2 ONGOING 

MST CLINICAL SUPERVISOR £80,000 £80,000 £80,000 

3 MST THERAPISTS £123,000 £123,000 £123,000 

1 ADMIN SUPPORT £20,250 £20,250 £20,250 

LICENCE/TRAINING MST  
SERVICES 

£39,000 £39,000 £39,000 

SET-UP £10,000   
TOTAL EXPENDITURE £272,250 £262,250 £262,250 

PROGRAMME FUNDING    

YOUTH OFFENDING SERVICE £96,000 £48,000 £48,000 

PCT £130,000 £175,000 £175,000 

TOTAL FUNDING £226,000 £223,000 £223,000 

FUNDING SHORTFALL £46,250 £39,250 £39,250 

 
 
2.2 It is proposed that a bid be made to the Councils Efficiency Investment Fund 

to fund the balance of costs, in order to pilot the initiative and help deliver 
current and future cost reductions. 

 
2.3 The target group for this programme are the young people with challenging 

behaviour who are risk of custody or care.  It would be expected that this 
programme would contribute to future cost reductions by maintaining young 
people with their families and in their communities.  The service would 
provide an intensive, structured programme to approximately 24 – 35 young 
people per annum to reduce the need for care or custody through tackling 
their anti-social behaviour.  Exact savings are hard to predict but Members 
will be aware that Residential Care and Secure Remands are high cost to 
the Local Authority at anything between £1,800 - £4000 per person per 
week or £93,600 - £208,000 per annum per young person.  

 
 

Page 143



 

 
3. Staffing implications 
 
3.1 There will be 5 posts in the MST programme.  The Cheshire & Wirral 

Partnership (NHS) Foundation Trust will appoint the Clinical Supervisor as 
this post is required to be a qualified and experienced Clinical 
Psychologist.   4 posts will need to be created across the Children and 
Young People’s Department & the Youth Offending Service, 3 at SW 
Grade SCP 26-36, and 1 Administrative Support post.  The evaluation of 
the success of the programme will be undertaken over a 5 year period and 
posts will need to be available to cover this period. 

 
4. Equal opportunities implications 
 
4.1 There are none arising directly from this report 
 
5. Community safety implications 
 
5.1 The aim of the MST Pilot is to reduce anti-social behaviour.  
 
6. Local Agenda 21 implications 
 
6.1 There are none arising directly from this report 
 
7. Planning implications 
 
7.1 There are none arising directly from this report 
 
8. Anti-poverty implications 
 
8.1 The Programme is being established to address the impact of social 

exclusion on young people and their families and provide opportunities to 
young people that will hopefully enable them to be economically self 
sufficient in the future. 

 
9. Social inclusion implications 
 
9.1 The aims of the Programme are to engage and include young people in 

pro-social activities and be accepted and included in their community 
 
10. Local Member Support implications 
 
10.1 Young People may be referred to the MST Programme from all Wards 
 
 
 

Page 144



 

11. Background papers 
 
11.1 Reaching Out: An Action Plan On Social Exclusion, Action 20: Early 

Intervention In Personality Disorder.  Grant For The Development Of Multi- 
Systemic Therapy Pilots. Dept Of Health Circular Ref 8378,    Issued:   
2.6.07  

 
11.2 Interventions for Children at Risk of Developing Antisocial Personality 

Disorder,   Report to the Dept of Health & Prime Minister's Strategy Unit,  
Utting,D; Monteiro,H; Ghate,D  Policy Research Bureau, 2007  
 

11.3 Care Matters: Time For Change.  Dfes  June 2007  
 

11.4 Wirral Local Safeguarding Children’s Board:  Executive Summary, Serious 
Case Review In Respect Of JLS Nov 2008   

 
12.0    RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
That  
 
(1) the setting up of an MST Programme be formally approved; 
 
(2) the report be referred to Employment & Appointments Committee; and 
 
(3) the bid for funding to the Council’s Efficiency Investment fund be 

approved. 
 
 
 
Howard Cooper  
Director of Children’s Services 
 
TB 
 
 
 

Page 145



Page 146

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 15TH JANUARY 2009 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES  
 
PROPOSAL TO ESTABLISH AN ACADEMY AT BIRKENHEAD HIGH SCHOOL FOR 
GIRLS 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The proposal to establish an Academy at the current Independent Birkenhead High School 
for Girls is currently nearing the end of the formal feasibility stage.  The steering group for the 
project has been consulting with various stakeholders regarding the scheme.  A letter from 
the Cabinet member to the steering group is attached as Appendix A to this report.  The 
Council has now to decide formally whether it supports the establishment of the project 
despite some of the reservations which have been expressed previously by officers and 
reiterated in the Cabinet member’s letter.  The Secretary of State will then make a decision 
on whether to proceed with the proposal or not.  The “Expression of Interest” which sets out 
the vision and rationale for the Academy is attached at Annexe B.  My initial response to that 
is at Annexe C.  The proposed Academy’s admission arrangements are enclosed at Annex 
(D).  The balance of this report sets out the issues for the Cabinet to consider. 
 
1.0  Background 
 
1.1 The announcement of the proposal to establish an Academy at Birkenhead High 

School was made publicly by the then Minister for Schools, Lord Adonis to a 
conference in Autumn 2007.  There had been no prior consultation with the Authority 
which was at that time embarking on the first stages of consulting with secondary 
schools in Wirral about the necessity to review provision across the borough in the 
light of falling rolls.  Subsequent discussions both with the Department for Children 
Schools and Families and with the Office of the Schools Commissioner indicated that 
there was a strong expectation on their part that the proposal would come to fruition 
and the Academy in due course be approved.  Following these discussions, where 
officers of the Authority had made clear the difficulties the proposal created for the 
production of a coherent strategy for educational provision across Birkenhead, the 
Schools Commissioner and the Minister asked for an independent review of the 
position which resulted in the “Gyte Report”.  This was the subject of a previous report 
to Cabinet in November. 
 

2.0 Issues 
 
2.1 It has appeared to officers since the initial announcement that there has been a 

paradox at the heart of the proposal which it has proved impossible to resolve entirely 
satisfactorily.  The purpose of the Academies programme and the justification for the  
large investment of public funds both into the buildings and into the substantial 
revenue start up costs of Academies is that they represent a radical solution to deep 
seated and long term problems of inadequate schooling in areas of high deprivation.  
It would be the expectation that any Academy would be a key part of a determined 
attempt to drive up standards amongst communities where these had remained 
stubbornly low.  In some senses the Birkenhead Academy may be thought to be well 
placed to make just such a contribution.  It is situated within easy walking distance of 

Agenda Item 6

Page 147



many of Wirral’s (and indeed England’s) most deprived young people.  Clearly as a 
fee paying independent school it has not historically served such a community but it 
could be argued that its currently good facilities (which through Academy investment 
would become excellent), combined with its traditional ethos of high expectation might 
transform opportunities for a large number of deprived girls. The expression of interest 
for the Academy however makes clear that it is the intention of the Academy to 
continue to serve “a wider area”, by which is meant the whole of Wirral and beyond.  
Furthermore the school has been concerned to emphasise that in drawing its pupils 
from a wider area, the addition of this provision at a time when the council is looking to 
rationalise overall education provision in Birkenhead  would not impact significantly 
upon neighbouring schools.  Indeed in meetings that took place involving 
representatives of the Authority and the Minister during the summer it was stressed 
that the school would not look to increase its numbers so that its impact on 
neighbouring schools would be minimal. 

 
2.2 Admission Arrangements 
 

The most significant development with regard to this proposal since the submission of 
the Expression of Interest has been the establishing of admission arrangements for 
the school.  These arrangements are attached at Annexe D.  The main features to 
note are as follows:- 
 
 The arrangements for admission into reception give priority, where there is 
oversubscription, to girls at the Academy’s nursery (the first priority, as required by 
law, would be for Children in Care).  This differs from the Authority’s admission 
procedures and may have the effect of narrowing access to the Academy. 

 
The admission number into Reception is 40.  Pupils within the Academy at Year 6 
would then continue into Year 7 ie. secondary phase.  A further 60 pupils would be 
admitted at Year 7 making a total admission number for that year of 100.  If 
oversubscribed the Academy would select 10% of the 60 pupils by reference to an 
aptitude in music, which is one of the Academy’s proposed specialisms.  All remaining 
places would be allocated according to a “fair banding” procedure.  This would involve 
all applicants for places undertaking a test, places being allocated across the ability 
range in 5 bands.  This is described in detail within Annexe D. 
 
It is proposed to set the admission number for the Sixth Form at 100. 
 
 

2.3 Expected Numbers 
 
The latest number on roll we have from the school is 686 (across the age range ie 
including all pupils from foundation to sixth form).  The Expression of Interest indicates 
that this will rise to 998. 
 
 

3.0 Wider Implications for school provision in Birkenhead 
 

3.1 The implications for other schools arising from the establishment of the Academy 
depend upon how many parents seek to gain places at the Academy (both at primary 
and secondary level) and where those parents live.  While it is the schools plan to 
continue to draw from a wide geographical distribution, and the initial applications for 
such places in the current round would seem to broadly reflect that ambition, it seems 
likely that in future the school will increasingly serve girls who live nearer to the site.  
This view is based upon the variety of options available to parents across Wirral, 

Page 148



including a number of good schools which include single sex as well as co-educational 
schools, grammar schools and all ability schools.  Whilst it is impossible to predict the 
future with certainty it would seem to be wise to assume that in due course the school, 
if it succeeds, will draw pupils increasingly from Birkenhead.  We therefore need to 
take account of that in planning for the future of Birkenhead provision generally. 
 

3.2 Primary Schools 
 
We are currently embarking upon round 5 of the rolling review of primary provision.  
All areas of the borough have been covered in rounds 1-4 and we have now returned 
to look again at what may be broadly described as” Birkenhead east of the motorway”.  
It will be difficult to take account in this review of any impact the Academy may have.  
Current numbers within the primary part of Birkenhead High School were, at the time 
of the Expression of Interest, 209 pupils in total (excluding nursery) ranging from 45 
pupils in Year 6, to 17 in Reception.  Anecdotal evidence from some nearby primary 
schools indicates that there has been some modest transfer of pupils into the school 
by parents anticipating the approval of the Academy. 
 

3.3 Secondary Schools  
 

The Expression of Interest shows that there were 334 pupils at 11-16 within the school 
ranging from 55 in Year 7 to 71 in Year 11.  Members will be aware that the Council is 
currently reviewing secondary provision in Birkenhead and clearly the establishment 
of the Academy is a significant factor to be taken into account in determining the 
future shape of provision. 
 
There are two key issues: overall numbers and the gender balance.  If the assumption 
is made that a revamped, improved overall secondary estate in Birkenhead would be 
sufficiently attractive to retain all Birkenhead children who were seeking places in non-
catholic all ability schools,  then it would be reasonable to plan for a requirement of 27 
forms of entry.  Assuming an approximately equal divide of boys and girls, we 
therefore need places for 14½ forms of entry each.  The Council is already committed 
to rebuilding Woodchurch High School as its One School Pathfinder.  This is currently 
planned to provide for 9 forms of entry.  The school has a slight imbalance between 
the sexes with more boys than girls – but not greatly so.  Prenton High School has 
been extensively rebuilt and remodelled and now provides excellent facilities and is 
proving most attractive to parents.  It provides 5 forms of entry for girls.   
 
If the Council proceeds to create a new school, as a further Academy, and closes 
Park High School and Rock Ferry High School and if such an Academy were to be 
planned, for say, 5 FE and if Birkenhead High School were estimated to provide 2-3 
FE of places for Birkenhead Girls that would leave an estimated 6 forms of entry for 
Ridgeway High School.  However if Woodchurch remained reasonably balanced in 
terms of gender and both Prenton and Birkenhead Girls took between them 8/9 FE 
then that would only leave around 1-2 forms of entry for girls to be shared between the 
new Academy and Ridgeway.  This is a critical issue for consideration both within the 
secondary review of Birkenhead and in deciding how to respond to the Birkenhead 
High Academy proposal.   
 

4.0 Financial and Staffing Implications 
 
 The Birkenhead High Academy will be funded centrally by Government.  The Council 

has already agreed that if  the proposal is approved it will be willing to procure the 
building works, as required under the Partnership for Schools procurement framework, 
subject to there being no financial risk to the Council (Cabinet 26th June Minute 82).  

Page 149



 
 
5.0 Staffing Implications 
 
 There are none as a direct consequence of this report. 
 
6.0 Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
 The issues around potential gender imbalance are described in the body of the report. 
 
7.0 Community Safety Implications 
 
 There are none. 
 
8.0 Local Agenda 21 Implications 
 
 Surplus places constitute a waste of resources 
 
9.0 Planning Implications 
 
 Any building proposals will be subject to the usual planning consents. 
 
10.0 Anti-poverty Implications/ Social Inclusion Implications 
 
 The Academy proposal is designed to counter educational disadvantage in deprived 

communities.  The extent to which this proposal contributes to that is considered in the 
report. 

 
11.0 Local Member Support Implications 
 
 All wards are affected – particularly those in Birkenhead 
 
12.0 Background Papers 
 
 Correspondence, DCSF Website. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Cabinet’s views are requested as to its formal response to the proposal to establish an 
Academy at Birkenhead High School. 
 
 
 
 
 
Howard Cooper 
Director of Children’s Services 
 

Page 150



 

 
 
 

www.wirral.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

From:  Cllr P Davies 
   
Reply to: Town Hall 
  Brighton Street 
  Wallasey 
  Wirral  
  Merseyside 
  CH44 8ED 

 

  APPENDIX A 
 

 

 to Ms N Magnier date 4 December 2008 
Consultant 
PKF (UK) LLP 
Farringdon Place 
20 Farringdon Road 
London 
EC1M 3AP   
 

 your ref  
 my ref PD/CB911a/pw 

 
 
Dear Ms Magnier 

Consultation regarding the proposal to establish an Academy at 
Birkenhead High School for Girls 

 
Firstly may I thank you and the Headteacher for the opportunity to visit the school and 
participate in the recent consultation meeting.  The Council will not be able to make a 
formal response to the consultation within the timescale.  This issue, as you will be 
well aware, is one of some considerable sensitivity and I have asked the Director of 
Children’s Services to prepare a full report on the proposal to be considered by 
Wirral’s Cabinet at its meeting on 15th January 2009.  The Director will then forward to 
you the considered response of the Cabinet on behalf of the Local Authority. 
 
I would however at this stage set out the key issues which have informed the debate 
on this proposal since its inception and which will be the critical matters which the 
Cabinet and I will consider most carefully. 
 
(1) There is no objection in principle to the establishment of the Academy and 

the Council would welcome, again in principle, the progress towards 
inclusivity which would be represented by movement of an independent 
school to within the wider state funded family of Wirral schools. 

 
(2) There are however serious concerns regarding the addition at this stage of a 

new school which is physically located within an area where the Council was 
already acutely aware of a need to rationalise, and all probability reduce, 
existing secondary provision. 

Page 151



 

 
(3) The fact that the school would provide exclusively for girls compounds this 

problem in that the existing provision within Birkenhead for secondary aged 
pupils already includes one girls’ school (which is now over-subscribed).  
There is a concern regarding equity of provision and the impact that this 
proposal would have. 

 
(4) Whilst recognising that the proposal has sought to mitigate any impact upon 

the secondary schools in Birkenhead through the school’s stated intention to 
continue to draw pupils from a wide area (and the adoption of an admissions 
policy for the school compatible with this intention) this in itself creates a 
further issue: the main justification for the establishment of academies is to 
make significant improvement in provision for the most deprived pupils in the 
area.  If the school continues to draw pupils from a wider area, whilst this may 
limit the impact on local schools, it is difficult to see how it then would impact 
upon deprived children. 

 
I trust that this is helpful in setting out the key issues, as I see them, from the 
perspective of the Local Authority.  I will ensure that you are informed of the full 
response, immediately following the Cabinet meeting. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Councillor Phil Davies 
Deputy Leader of the Labour Group 
Cabinet Member for Children's Services & Lifelong Learning 
 

Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 188

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200

This page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET 15th JANUARY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE/DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT PERFORMANCE REWARD GRANT 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with the latest position on the 

expected performance reward grant (PRG) for Wirral’s 2005-2008 LAA stretch 
targets. The report also outlines the position regarding use of the performance 
reward grant which is expected to be received, based upon most recent forecast 
performance information. 

 
1.2. £7.589m is expected to be achieved in performance reward grant which equates to 

77% of the £9.824m available. This figure is based upon previous, current and 
expected performance against the LAA stretch targets.  

 
1.3. The stretch targets have been reviewed in terms of the contribution partners have 

made to their delivery, and it has been proposed that following the deduction of 
support costs and a contribution to the community and voluntary sector (the 
“Network”), the remaining amount of reward received is apportioned according to the 
contribution made to achievement.  Based upon these calculations, the council would 
expect to receive a total of £5.742m in revenue and capital over two years.   

 
2. Background 
 
2.1. Wirral adopted its first LAA in April 2006 and simultaneously signed off 12 stretch 

targets to be delivered in partnership. The 12 stretch targets are measured by 22 
performance indicators with the successful achievement of the targets attracting 
performance reward grant at the end of the stretch target period.  The total PRG 
available is £9.824m. 

 
3. Performance Reward Grant Allocations 
 
3.1 The Local Area Agreement Programme Board has received regular reports on the 

performance of the stretch targets, and information from these reports has been 
communicated to Cabinet.  Previous reports to the board have predicted the 
expected PRG to be in the region of between £8.064m to £8.440m.  A review of all 
the stretch targets was completed under the direction of the Deputy Chief Executive 
in September 2008 to obtain a robust and accurate picture of the stretch target 
performance, discuss any risks identified, and to drive any further improvements 
which can be made to maximise the PRG available.   

 
3.2 The current expectation of £7.589m is considered to be a more accurate estimate as 

it is based on more recent data and forecast information.  The reasons for the full 
amount of £9.823m not being achieved are outlined below:   

 
i. Retention of drug users target will not be met due to issues over the 

methodology for this indicator. Wirral has a high proportion of problem drug 

Agenda Item 7

Page 201



users in treatment and retains a high percentage; there is a declining number still 
to be engaged and therefore a declining number to be retained. £573k will not 
be achieved. 

 
ii. Older people helped to live at home target will not be met due to changes in the 

provision of services that were unforeseen during the target setting and 
negotiation period. £409k will not be achieved. 

 
iii. BME smoking cessation target is expected to reach 60% of the stretch target. 

£327k reward is expected to not be achieved. 
 

iv. Young people not in education, employment and training targets will not be met. 
£818k will not be achieved. 

 
v. The Department for Work and Pensions no longer produce the performance 

information as specified in Wirral’s LAA stretch target guidance for attendance 
allowance and pension credit claimants’ indicators; therefore current 
performance levels are unclear for these two stretch target indicators.  £106,422 
potential PRG has also not been included in the expected figure whilst a 
decision is awaited from Government Office for the North West.  

 
3.3 All other targets are expected to be achieved in full. 
  
3.4 Performance Reward Grant (PRG) for the achievement of stretch targets is payable 

50% revenue and 50% capital over two years (2009/10 and 2010/11).   
 
3.5 It is has been agreed by the LAA Programme Board that a portion (£450k) of the 

PRG received is top-sliced to cover costs for Wirral Council providing financial, 
performance management and secretariat support over the three year LAA period.  
The LAA Programme Board also agreed that the £200k funding provided by Wirral 
Council in addition to Pump Priming Grant to fund stretch target activity is recovered 
from the PRG awarded to the partnership upon achievement of the stretch targets.  A 
contribution (£100k) was also agreed to be awarded to the community and voluntary 
sector (the “Network”) from the overall PRG received.  The PRG received will 
therefore be top-sliced by £750k. 

 
3.6 The stretch targets have then been reviewed in terms of the contribution partners 

have made to their delivery, the following apportionment has therefore been agreed 
by the LAA Programme Board to be spent within Wirral by the following 
organisations / partnerships:  

 

Organisation / Partnership £ allocated % allocated 

Wirral Council  £5,092,256 74.46% 

Wirral Primary Care Trust £856,067 12.51% 

Wirral Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership £845,528 12.36% 

Wirral Drug and Alcohol Action Team £44,899 0.66% 

   

Overall  £6,838,750 100% 

 
The figures in the table above are provisional based upon the current forecast 
position at Quarter 2, as reported to the LAA Programme Board at their meeting on 

Page 202



19th November 2008. These figures may therefore be revised should the final 
position be different to that which is forecast at this stage. 
 

4. Financial implications 
 
4.1. Subject to the achievement of the LAA targets a projected reward grant of £6.8 

million is anticipated over the financial years 2009/10 and 2010/11. The grant is 50% 
revenue / 50% capital, and after the agreed 'top-slicing', the amount available for 
Council revenue in 2009/10 is £1.4 million. This was agreed by Cabinet on 10 
December 2008 and built into the Projected Budget for 2009/10. 

 
4.2. As mentioned in Section 3, the financial information provided in this report indicating 

the amount of PRG Wirral Council is expecting to receive is based upon the current 
forecast position, and is therefore subject to change.   

 
5. Staffing implications 
 
5.1. There are no staffing implications for Wirral resulting from this report. 
 
6. Equal Opportunities implications 
 
6.1. There are no equal opportunities implications for Wirral resulting from this report.  
 
7. Community Safety implications 
 
7.1. There are no community safety implications for Wirral resulting from this report. 
 
8. Local Agenda 21 
 
8.1. There are no environmental implications for Wirral resulting from this report. 
 
9. Planning implications 
 
9.1. There are no planning, land use etc. implications for Wirral resulting from this report. 
 
10. Anti-poverty implications 
 
10.1. There are no implications for people from deprived communities in Wirral resulting 

from this report. 
 
11. Social inclusion implications 
 
11.1. There are no implications that will potentially exclude individuals or groups from 

accessing services resulting from this report. 
 
12. Local Member Support implications 
 
12.1. There are no issues mentioned in the report that are particularly relevant to a ward or 

small number of wards.  The impact will be felt across the whole borough. 
 
13. Background Papers 
 
13.1. “Projected Budgets 2009-2011” 10th December 2008. 

Page 203



13.2. “Council Summons” 15th December 2008. 
 
14. Recommendations 
 
That 
 
(1) the amount of performance reward grant expected and the financial implications set 
out in section 4 of this report be noted; 
 
(2) as Wirral Council is the accountable body for the Local Area Agreement, the LAA 
Programme Board’s recommendations for the apportionment of performance reward grant as 
set out in section 3 of this report be approved. 
 
 
J. WILKIE 
Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Corporate Services 
 
This report was prepared by Siân Williams, who can be contacted on 691 8637. 
 

Page 204



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET - 15 JANUARY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
COLLECTION FUND 2008-09 

 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report estimates the Collection Fund deficit for the year ending 31 March 

2009.  This deficit has to be notified to the precepting Authorities by 22 January 
2009. 

 
2. REQUIREMENT TO CALCULATE ANY SURPLUS/DEFICIT 
 
2.1. In accordance with the Local Authority (Funds) (England) Regulations 1992, the 

Authority must annually estimate the likely surplus of deficit on its Collection 
Fund for the current financial year.  The estimate should be made on, or as to 
close to, 15 January as possible but cover the period up to 31 March.  The 
Authority must notify the precepting Authorities of the Fund within 7 days of the 
15 January and the estimated surplus or deficit can then be taken into account 
by the precepting bodies for calculating their likely precept required on the 
Collection Fund for the following year. 

 
2.2. Any surplus or deficit on the Fund must be shared pro-rata to the existing 

precepts on the Fund.  Based upon 2008/09 Wirral is responsible for 85.93% of 
the precept on the Fund with the Merseyside Police and Fire and Rescue 
Authorities accounting for 9.71% and 4.36% respectively. 

 
3. ESTIMATED DEFICIT FOR 2008/09 
 
3.1. The Collection Fund balance for the year ending 31 March 2009 is estimated to 

be a deficit of £800,000 and this will result in charges to precepting bodies as 
follows: 

 
  £ 
 Wirral Council General Fund 687,440 
 Merseyside Police Authority  77,680 
 Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority  34,880 
 
 Total 800,000 

Agenda Item 8

Page 205



 
3.2. The Collection Fund deficit at 31 March 2008 was £1.4 million.  This related 

mainly to the effect of past reductions in Council Tax Benefit receipts to the 
Fund arising from the treatment of single person discounts.  The Council Tax 
base calculation now reflects these changes.  £600,000 of the deficit will be 
recovered from preceptors as planned during 2008/09. 

 
3.3. In 2008-09 the Council Tax Collection rate is currently ahead of the 2007-08 

performance and is expected to finalise at 98.8%.  I am continuing to monitor 
collection performance in light of the economic situation but collection 
performance remains strong.  The deficit forecast therefore is to recover past 
shortfalls arising from the changes outlined above. 

 
3.4. Cabinet is advised that provision was made in 2007-08 Accounts within the 

Collection Fund Reserve to fund the Council share of the above Collection 
Fund deficit. 

 
4. FINANCIAL AND STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1. The consequence of the distribution of the Collection Fund deficit is that the 

Authority will incur a one-off charge to the General Fund of £687,440 during the 
2009/10 financial year. 

 
4.2. There are no staffing implications arising from this report. 
 
5. LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1. There are no specific implications arising from this report. 
 
6. LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
7. PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
8. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
9. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
10. HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATION 
 
10.1. There are none arising from this report. 

Page 206



 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
11.1. Local Authority Funds (England) Regulations 1992. 
 
12. RECOMMENDATION 
 
12.1. That the declaration of an estimated deficit of £800,000 for the Collection Fund 

for the year ending 31 March 2009 be noted and the precept bodies be charged 
accordingly. 

 
 
 
 
FNCE/299/08 
 
 
 

Page 207



Page 208

This page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET - 15 JANUARY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
PROJECTED BUDGETS 2009-2011 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report presents the projected budgets for 2009-2011 to coincide with the 

period of the Comprehensive Spending Review 2007 (CSR). 
 
2. BUDGET 2008-09 
 
2.1. The summary budget for 2008-09 as agreed by the Council on 3 March 2008 

is as follows: 
 
    £m 
 Base Budget 302.6 
 
 Resources 
  Formula Grant 147.4 
  Area Based Grant 28.4 
  Council Tax 123.2 
  Collection Fund - 0.5 
  Use of Balances     4.1 
   302.6 
 
3. COMPREHENSIVE SPENDING REVIEW 
 
3.1. The Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) 2007, was announced on 9 

October 2007.  An initial report on the Pre Budget Statement by the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer including the CSR was presented to the Cabinet 
on 1 November 2007.  The Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) announced the three year provisional Local Government 
Finance settlement on 6 December 2007 and the final settlement on 24 
January 2008. 

 
3.2. The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2009-10 was 

issued by the DCLG on 26 November 2008, with the details of specific grants 
to follow.  The provisional settlement restated the indicative figures included in 
the settlement issued on 24 January 2008 and was reported to Cabinet on 10 
December 2008. 

 
3.3. Consultation on the provisional settlement closed on 7 January 2009. 

Agenda Item 9

Page 209



4. VARIATIONS IDENTIFIED FOR 2009-2011 
 
4.1. Inflation –Provision is included for pay and prices at 2% and for income at 

3% for 2009-2011. 
 
4.2. Capital Financing – Cabinet on 10 December 2008 agreed the capital 

programme for 2009-2012 at an additional financing cost totalling £3.2m for 
2009-10 and £2.9m for 2010-11. 

 
4.3. Highways Maintenance – provision is included for the transfer of highways 

expenditure of £1.7m to the revenue budget from the capital budget. 
 
4.4. Waste Disposal – The waste disposal levy is projected to increase by 15.4% 

per annum. 
 
4.5. Pension Fund - The Pension Fund has been actuarially revalued as at 31 

March 2007.  The phased implementation of the revised contribution rates 
over three years was agreed by the Cabinet on 12 December 2007. 

 
4.6. Merseytravel – The Merseytravel levy is projected to increase by 4% per 

annum. 
 
4.7. Invest to Save Schemes – The Cabinet has agreed a number of invest to 

save schemes which will reduce expenditure by £0.9m in 2009-10 and by a 
further £0.4m in 2010-11. 

 
4.8. Private Finance Initiative – Increase in PFI payments of £0.4m in 2009-10 

and a further £1m in 2010-11 as the PFI reserve reduces. 
 
4.9. Benefits Subsidy – The Department for Work and Pensions has announced 

that benefits subsidy will be reduced by 3% per annum in real terms, 5% per 
annum in cash for certain elements of the subsidy, a reduction of £0.7m per 
annum. 

 
4.10 Local Area Agreement – Options for the use of the Reward Grant, the 

revenue element of which is estimated at £1.9m for each of 2009-10 and 
2010-11 were agreed by the LAA Board on 19 November 2008 with £1.4m 
being used to support the budget. 

 
4.11. Energy – The increased cost of fuel and energy has been estimated at £9m 

in 2009-10 as reported to Cabinet on 9 July 2008. 
 
4.12. Foster Care Fees - Cabinet on 4 September 2008 agreed to an increase in 

foster care payments of £0.5m for 2009-10. 
 
4.13. Technical Services - Cabinet on 10 December 2008 agreed to increased 

requirements for 2009-10 totalling £0.7m. 
 
4.14. Other Unavoidable Growth – A number of relatively minor items of 

unavoidable growth of less than £0.2m will arise.  These should total less than 
£1m. 

Page 210



5. OTHER DEVELOPMENTS 
 
5.1. There are a number of other developments which are likely to impact on the 

financial position of the Authority over the period 2009 to 2011.  The impact of 
these issues will be reported to the Cabinet as and when they are resolved.  
Some of the potentially most important issues are:- 

 
 (a) Implementation of Local Housing Allowance from 1 April 2008 which 

was reported to Cabinet on 12 December 2007. 
 
 (b) Revised Local Government Pension Scheme introduced from 1 April 

2008. 
 
 (c) Review of the calculation of the Minimum Revenue Provision which 

was reported to Cabinet on 16 April 2008. 
 
 (d) Review of the Local Authority Business Growth Incentive Scheme.  A 

consultation paper on a revised scheme to commence in 2009 was 
reported to the Cabinet on 29 November 2007.  A further consultation 
paper has been received which if implemented could result in a grant of 
£0.2m in 2009-10 and £0.5m in 2010-11. 

 
 (e) Replacement of Planning Delivery Grant with the Housing and 

Planning Delivery Grant which was reported to Cabinet on 25 
September 2008. 

 
 (f) Review of Supporting People Grant to be undertaken in 2009 with the 

grant to be absorbed into the Area Based Grant from 2010-11. 
 
 (g) Implementation of supplementary business rates which was reported to 

Cabinet on 29 November 2007. 
 
 (h) Review of the Area Cost Adjustment. 
 
 (i) Review of the population statistics to include the effects of recent 

migration, which was reported to the Cabinet on 16 April 2008. 
 
 (j) Review of the funding of social care with proposals to be released in 

2009. 
 
 (k) Transfer from the PCT of responsibility for the commissioning of social 

care for adults with learning disabilities from 2009-10.  Agreement with 
the PCT on the scale of the transfer had to be reached by 1 December 
2008.  The PCT has reported that the transfer should be £6m. 

 
 (l) Transfer of the responsibilities of the Learning and Skills Council to 

Local Authorities from 2010. 
 
 (m) Introduction of the Community Infrastructure Levy in October 2009. 
 
 (n) Implementation of International Financial Reporting Standards from 

2010 which will increase leasing costs. 

Page 211



 
 
6. BALANCES 
 
6.1. The balances for 2008-09 have been set at £5m but the Audit Commission 

has restated its view that balances should be a minimum of 2% of the net 
revenue budget which for Wirral would be £6m. 

 
6.2. The financial out-turn for 2007-08 was reported to Cabinet on 26 June 2008 

indicating a net underspending fo £1.6m, and additional late grant notifications 
totalling £0.6m. 

 
6.3. Increased energy and fuel costs for 2008-09 estimated to total £3.5m were 

reported to Cabinet on 9 July 2008. 
 
6.4. The Insurance Fund annual report was presented to Cabinet on 9 July 2008 

incorporating a transfer of £3.0m from the Insurance Fund to the General 
Fund. 

 
6.5. The receipt of additional Local Authority Business Growth Incentive grant 

totalling £1.3m was reported to Cabinet on 23 July 2008. 
 
6.6. Cabinet on 4 September 2008 agreed a projected overspending of £3.5m in 

2008-09 on Adult Social Services, of which £0.8m will continue into 2009-10.  
Cabinet on 16 October 2008 agreed to bring forward the closure of Feltree 
House thus reducing the projected overspending in 2008-09 by £0.2m and in 
2009-10 by £0.5m.  The Director of Adult Social Services has reported to 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees that the projected overspending is likely to 
exceed this figure but this has yet to be reported to the Cabinet. 

 
6.7. There is a projected overspending of £0.8m on Regeneration. 
 
6.8. Following the Audit of the Accounts for 2007-08 the capitalisation of highways 

improvements has been reduced from £3.7m to £1.5m in 2008-09 as reported 
to Cabinet on 16 October 2008. 

 
6.9. Cabinet on 6 November 2008 agreed to fund the following improvement 

teams from the Efficiency Investment Budget in 2008-09. 
 
   £000 
 Procurement and Creditors 1,022 
 Change 635 
 Customer Services Development 183 
 Adult Social Services Reform     360 
   2,200 
 
 In 2009-10 the cost of the Adult Social Services Reform Team will increase to 

£518,000.  Funding of these teams from the Efficiency Investment Budget will 
allow the original funding to be added to balances. 

Page 212



 
6.10. Cabinet on 10 December 2008 agreed to transfer reserves and provisions 

totalling £360,000 into the General Fund balances, £230,000 of which is to 
offset the projected overspending in Regeneration. 

 
6.11.   £m 
 Balances as at 1 April 2008 5.0 
 Out-turn 2007-08 1.6 
 Additional Grants 0.6 
 Insurance Fund 3.0 
 Energy and Fuel - 3.5 
 LABGI 1.3 
 Adult Social Services - 3.3 
 Regeneration -0.6 
 Highways Improvements - 2.0 
 Improvement Teams 2.2 
 Reserves and Provisions 0.1 
   4.4 
 
7. EFFICIENCY REQUIREMENTS 
 
7.1. The gap between projected expenditure and anticipated resources will need 

to be bridged by a combination of savings and/or increased Council Tax. 
 
7.2. Cabinet on 13 March 2008 agreed the following efficiency targets for 2009-11 

but reserved the right to vary these targets during the year. 
 

Department Target 
2009-10 

Target 
2010-11 

 £000 £000 

Adult Social Services  4,620  3,780 

Children and Young People  2,350  1,920 

Corporate Services  710  580 

Finance  740  600 

Regeneration  3,060  2,500 

Technical Services  1,620  1,320 

  13,100  10,700 

 
7.3. The efficiencies agreed in preparing the budget for 2008-09 included £0.9m in 

Adult Social Services which will become effective from 2009-10. 
 
7.4. Cabinet on 16 October 2008 agreed a number of efficiencies:- 
 
  £m 
 Children Residential Care 0.7 
 ERIC Service 0.5 
 Housing and Council Tax Benefit 0.6 
 Treasury Management 0.5 
 General Efficiencies 0.6 
  2.9 

Page 213



 
7.5. Cabinet on 6 November 2008 agreed a number of efficiencies:- 
 
  £m 
 Supported Living 1.0 
 Reform Care Grant 1.5 
 Corporate Procurement Contracts 1.5 
 General Efficiencies 0.5 
  4.5 
 
7.6. Cabinet on 27 November 2008 agreed general efficiency proposals totalling 

£1.0m. 
 
7.7. Cabinet on 10 December 2008 agreed a number of efficiencies:- 
 
  £m 
 Nursing Home Fees 1.0 
 General Efficiencies 0.3 
  1.3 
 
7.8. I am assuming an annual Council Tax increase of 4%. 
 
7.9. The Minister for Local Government has confirmed that the Council Tax 

capping limit will remain at 5%. 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1. The projected budgets for 2009 to 2011 are compiled from the base budget 

for 2008-09 approved by Council on 3 March 2008, the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2009-2012 agreed by the Cabinet on 23 July 2008, and 
updated for the issues outlined in this report.  The projected budgets are 
shown in the Appendix. 

 
9. STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1. There are none arising form this report. 
 
11. HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
12. LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
13. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1. There are none arising from this report. 

Page 214



 
14. PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
15. LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
15.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
16. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
16.1. Comprehensive Spending Review – Treasury – October 2007 
 Medium Term Financial Strategy – 2009-2012 – July 2008 
 Provisional Formula Grant Settlement 2009-10 –DCLG –November 2008 
 Estimates 2008-09 – March 2008 
 
17. RECOMMENDATION 
 
17.1. That the projected budgets continue to be reported to the Cabinet in line with 

the agreed financial and performance management timetable. 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  IAN COLEMAN 
  DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FNCE/296/08 
 

Page 215



APPENDIX 1 
WIRRAL COUNCIL 

 
PROJECTED BUDGETS 2009-2011 

 
 2009-2010 2010-2011 

 £m £m 

Base Budget  299.6  311.9 
Increased Requirements   
Pay Inflation  3.4  3.3 
Price Inflation  3.6  3.6 
Capital Financing  3.2  2.9 
Highways  1.7  - 
Waste Disposal  2.2  2.5 
Pension Fund Revaluation  0.5  0.5 
Merseytravel  1.0  1.0 
Private Finance Initiative  0.4  1.0 
Benefits Subsidy  0.7  0.7 
Energy and Fuel  9.0  - 
Foster Care  0.5  - 
Technical Services  0.7  - 
Area Based Grant  2.7  - 0.4 
Supporting People  -  10.3 
Unavoidable Growth  1.0  1.0 
Efficiency Investment Fund     2.9      2.9 
  333.1  341.3 
Reduced Requirements 
Income Inflation 

 
 -1.0 

 
 -1.0 

Invest To Save  - 0.9  - 0.4 
LABGI  - 0.2  - 0.3 
Children Residential Care  - 0.7  - 
ERIC Service  - 0.5  - 
Housing & Council Tax Benefit  - 0.6  - 
Treasury Management  - 0.5  - 
General Efficiencies    - 3.3  - 0.2 
Supported Living  -1.0  -0.3 
Reform Care Grant  -1.5  - 
Corporate Procurement 
      Contracts 

 
 - 1.5 

 
 - 

Nursing Home Fees  - 1.0  - 
LAA Reward Grant    - 1.4  - 
Forecast Expenditure  319.0  339.1 
Balances       1.6           - 
  320.6  339.1 
Resources   
Formula Grant  152.7  157.9 
Area Based Grant  31.1  41.0 
Council Tax  123.2  128.1 
  _____  _____ 
Forecast Resources  307.0  327.0 
   
Shortfall  13.6  12.1 
Council Tax Increase  4.9  5.1 
Efficiencies required  8.7  7.0 
 

Page 216



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET - 15 JANUARY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT (CAA) - USE OF RESOURCES 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides details of the Audit Commission project brief for the 

Comprehensive Area Assessment Use of Resources 2009 assessment which 
covers 2008/09. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Previous reports to Cabinet have outlined the changes in the Use of 

Resources (UOR) assessment framework in accordance with the move from 
Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA) to the Comprehensive Area 
Assessment (CAA). The CPA assessment covered five general themes shown 
below which were further sub-divided into key lines of enquiry (KLOE): 

 

CPA  Theme 

1 Financial reporting 

2 Financial management 

3 Financial standing 

4 Internal control 

5 Value for money 

 
 
2.2 Under CAA, the Use of Resources assessment has value for money at its 

centre and now comprises three themes. These are further divided into 10 key 
lines of enquiry. 

 
2.3 There is a significant overlap between the old and new Use of Resources 

KLOES. The new regime however places an increased emphasis on non-
financial resources. The most significant changes are separate KLOEs 
dedicated to natural and workforce resources. The work undertaken on energy 
efficiency initiatives, in complying with the aims of the ‘Nottingham 
declaration’, and on workforce planning will assist in meeting the requirements 
of these KLOEs. The CAA key lines of enquiry are as follows: 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 217



 

CAA Managing Finances 

 1 Planning For Financial Health 

 2 Understanding Costs and Achieving Efficiencies 

 3 Financial Reporting 

  

 Governing the Business 

 4 Commissioning and Procurement 

 5 Use of Information 

 6 Good Governance 

 7 Risk Management and Internal Control 

  

 Managing Resources 

 8 Natural Resources 

 9 Strategic Asset Management 

10 Workforce (applicable from 2009/10 onwards) 

 
2.4 The Use of Resources score will again be based upon a standard four point 

scale and will again follow the harder test principle with authorities having to 
improve in order to retain the same level. The new standard scores are also 
likely to restrict the number of authorities achieving four stars. The table below 
details the CPA and CAA standard scoring scales.  

 

Score Standard Scale CPA Standard Scale CAA 

1 Inadequate Performance ‘Failure to meet minimum 
standards’ 

2 Adequate Performance ‘Getting the basics right’ 

3 Performing Well ‘Performing Well’ 

4 Performing Strongly ‘Excellence and genuine 
leading edge performance 

 
2.5 The Audit Commission issued further guidance to its auditors on the Use of 

Resources in October 2008 which is available on its website.  The Audit 
Commission project brief is designed to fit in with this guidance.    

 
3. USE OF RESOURCES 2008 
 
3.1  The 2008 UoR assessment will be formally announced on 26 February 2009. 

Authorities received their 2008 notifications on 8 December 2008. The 
notification is however embargoed by the Audit Commission until 26 February 
2009.  Authorities can submit appeals against this initial notification. 

 
3.2 The 2008 assessment was based on the 31 March 2008 position. Since this 

date officers have continued to work on a number of areas to deliver further 
continuous improvement which will be reflected within future assessments. 
Improvement have ranged from reviewing and strengthening the Statement of 
Annual Accounts processes and the production of an Annual Report, to 
developing the Strategic Asset Review and further development of the 
procurement strategy and the change programme.  

Page 218



4. AUDIT COMMISSION USE OF RESOURCES PROJECT BRIEF AND 
APPROACH FOR 2009 

 
4.1 The Audit Commission project brief highlights a number of developments 

within the new Use of Resources: 
     

• The KLOEs are more broadly based than before 

• There is an increased focus on value for money achievements 

• The focus will be on outputs and achievements rather than on 
processes in place 

• The assessment will be more strategically based 

• Guidance will include characteristics of performance but these will not 
be an essential ‘must have’ list  

  
4.2 The audit approach will use a ‘rounded professional judgement’ to form an 

assessment against the key lines of enquiry.  The Audit Commission states 
that this assessment will be on a top down rather than bottom up basis with 
less prescription and use of checklists.  The assessment of risk will also form 
an important focus.  The assessment will also be informed by the outcomes 
from other audit work and assessments conducted during the year. 

 
4.3 The Audit Commission will undertake its fieldwork between January and April 

2009. This will include the review of key documents, interviewing officers and 
Members and reviews of Authority minutes and agendas. Further investigation 
and discussion may follow from this. 

 
4.4 The Audit Commission intends to report the Use of Resources score within the 

Annual Governance Report. This will be reported alongside the value for 
money conclusion and the opinion on the statement of accounts in September 
2009.  The final CAA organisational assessment will be reported in November 
2009.  

 
4.5 The approach outlined above does seem to provide for flexibility and for the 

assessment to be based on a rounded view of achievements.  The approach 
however could also involve a greater degree of subjective judgement from 
auditors.         

 
5. FINANCIAL AND STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no direct financial or staffing implications arising out of this report. 
 
6. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
7. HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 

Page 219



 
8. LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
9. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
10. PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
11. LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no particular implications for any Members or wards arising out of 

this report. 
 
12. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
12.1. Audit Commission Project Brief Wirral Borough Council Audit 2008/09 - 

December 2008 
 
12.2 Audit Commission Use of Resources Guidance for Councils – October 2008 

http://www.audit-commission.gov.uk/useofresources/guidance/index.htm 
 
12.3 Audit Commission Use of Resources 2008/09 Overall approach and key lines 

of enquiry – May 2008 
 
13. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That  
 
(1) the 2009 Use of Resources Project brief be noted; 
 
(2) regular reports be brought to Cabinet on progress on the Use of Resources.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 IAN COLEMAN 

 DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
 
FNCE/308/08 

Page 220



Use of 
Resources
Project Brief 

Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council

Audit 2008/09 

December 2008 

Page 221



Status of our reports 

The Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the Audit 
Commission explains the respective responsibilities of auditors and of the audited body. 
Reports prepared by appointed auditors are addressed to non-executive 
directors/members or officers. They are prepared for the sole use of the audited body. 
Auditors accept no responsibility to: 

! any director/member or officer in their individual capacity; or  

! any third party.

Contents

Introduction 3

Background 4

Scope and objectives 5

Audit approach 6

Reporting and timescales 7

Audit personnel and key contacts 8

Appendix 1 – Document request 10

Appendix 2 – Key responsibilities 11

Page 222



Introduction

3   Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council 

Introduction
1 2009 is the fifth use of resources (UoR) assessment to be undertaken at councils but it 

will be significantly different to the previous approach as it will focus on outcomes 
achieved. The use of resources assessment forms part of the new Comprehensive 
Area Assessment (CAA) from 2009 and will also feed into other relevant performance 
assessment frameworks as appropriate. The use of resources key lines of enquiry will 
also be the 'relevant criteria' for the value for money conclusion that is part of our work 
under the Code of Audit Practice. 

2 This brief outlines the approach we will take to the UoR assessment at Wirral Borough 
Council, who the key contacts will be and the reporting arrangements. The Audit 
Commission published the overall approach and key lines of enquiry (KLOE) in May 
2009 http://www.audit-commission.gov.uk/useofresources/2009kloe.asp. It has also 
prepared guidance for auditors to support them in carrying out their assessments and 
made this available to audited bodies on its website at the following link 
http://www.audit-commission.gov.uk/useofresources/2009guidance.asp.

Page 223



Background 

Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council  4

Background
3 The Audit Commission review of 2007/08 found that the Council's arrangements had 

continued to improve during the period of assessment, from April 2007 to March 2008. 
The overall assessment improved in three out of the five themes. The areas of 
improvement were in respect of financial management, financial standing and internal 
control which all scored level 3. Financial reporting and value for money remained at 
level 2 although there were improvements in arrangements. 

4 The 2008/09 use of resources assessment will consider how well the Council is 
managing and using its resources to deliver value for money and better and 
sustainable outcomes for local people. It is structured into three themes that focus on 
the importance of sound and strategic financial management, strategic commissioning 
and good governance, and the effective management of natural resources, assets and 
people. It will be applied to all local government bodies, including police and fire 
authorities, and to primary care trusts in the NHS. 

5 Many of the new KLOE within the themes are similar to the previous KLOE, although 
there are some new areas, such as the use of natural resources and workforce 
planning. The new KLOE within each of the themes are shown in the table below. 

Table 1 Use of resources KLOE 2008/09 

The new use of resources is split into three themes and ten KLOE 

Managing finances Governing the business Managing resources 

1.1 Financial planning & 
financial health 

2.1 Commissioning & 
procurement

3.1 Natural resources 

1.2 Understanding costs & 
performance

2.2 DQ & use of information 3.2 Asset management 

1.3 Financial monitoring & 
reporting

2.3 Good governance & 
ethical behaviour 

3.3 Workforce planning 

2.4 Risk management & 
internal control 

Source: Audit Commission 

Page 224



Scope and objectives 

5   Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council 

Scope and objectives 
6 The 2008/09 KLOE are shown at Table 1 on the previous page. The KLOE are more 

broadly based than previously and embrace wider resource issues such as the use of 
natural resources. The KLOE focus more on value for money achievements, outputs 
and outcomes rather than on processes, and are more strategic and less detailed. 
They are supported by characteristics of performance, which are used as an aid to the 
exercise of the auditors’ professional judgment. The underlying characteristics are 
indicative of differing levels of expected performance, and are not criteria to be 
complied with in all circumstances. 

7 The KLOE and supporting characteristics are based upon published best practice, 
standards and professional guidance, where available, and the principles set out in the 
Commission’s publication World Class Financial Management. 

8 A proportionate approach will be applied to the assessment of the KLOE. The Audit 
Commission has specified in its annual work programme and fees document which 
KLOE are to be assessed over the coming year. The specified KLOE differ for each 
sector in order to reflect sector priorities. In 2008/09, we will assess nine of the ten 
KLOE at single tier and county councils - KLOE 3.3 on workforce will not be assessed 
this year. However, arrangements will need to be in place from 1 April 2009 for the 
2010 assessment so we have had early discussions with the Head of HR.  

9 The objectives of our work are to: 

! make a judgement about whether we are satisfied that the Council has put in place 
proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources - the value for money conclusion in the statutory audit report that we 
give under The Code of Audit Practice. We will apply a yes/no judgement against 
the criteria to indicate whether the Council has proper arrangements in place or 
not. A 'no' judgement is equivalent to a UoR score of 1 and a 'yes' judgement is 
equivalent to a score of at least 2; 

! assess how well the Council is managing and using its resources to deliver value 
for money and better and sustainable outcomes for local people which is part of the 
organisational assessment under CAA; 

! inform the managing performance organisational assessment under CAA; and 

! provide intelligence to inform the area assessment under CAA. 

Page 225



Audit approach 

Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council  6

Audit approach 
10 The approach for 2008/09 is significantly different. The emphasis of the assessment 

will be on a rounded professional judgement against the headline key lines of enquiry 
(KLOE) – ‘top down’ rather than ‘bottom up’ approach. It moves away from a checklist 
of criteria to illustrative characteristics of performance included within the guidance. 
Most importantly, there is less focus on prescriptive arrangements and process and 
more focus on outcomes and what difference the arrangements have made.

11 There will again be a four level scoring system, but levels 2 and 3 will be broad 
descriptions of 'getting the basics right' and 'performing well' respectively. Scores of 4 
will be reserved for excellence and genuine leading edge performance. Level 1 
represents a failure to meet the minimum requirements at level 2. The Audit 
Commission is still to determine the approach for arriving at the theme scores and the 
overall use of resources score. 

12 Our work continues to be based on an assessment of risk. The approach for 2009 will 
be supported by evidence gained in previous years and we will update the 
assessments for any changes and improvements and carry out testing to confirm 
arrangements and outcomes. The guidance for auditors available to the Council at 
http://www.audit-commission.gov.uk/useofresources/2009guidance.asp sets out the 
links to the 2007/08 use of resources assessments. For example, the new KLOE 1.1 
on managing finances links to the 2007/08 KLOE 2.1, 2.2 and 3.1. 

13 We will also carry out detailed work on performance management and procurement 
(separate project briefs will be agreed) and current ongoing work on Ethical 
Governance, Governance of Partnerships and Improvement through Better Financial 
Management will inform the assessment. We also plan to hold a workshop for key 
officers to work through the details of the new approach. 

14 We will undertake the fieldwork during 2009 and scores will be notified to councils in 
the autumn of 2009. Key dates for the 2009 assessment are shown at paragraph 17. 
The key contacts for the audit team and the Council are shown at paragraphs 18 and 
20.

15 We will carry out the work through: 

! review of key documents; 

! interviews with officers and members; and 

! ongoing discussions and review of minutes and media. 

16 There is no requirement for a self assessment. However, if a well evidenced self 
assessment is carried out, formally or informally, it will help us to make a quick and 
robust assessment and ensure that all relevant information is taken into account. 

Page 226



Reporting and timescales 

7   Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council 

Reporting and timescales 
17 The use of resources assessment and value for money conclusion 2008/09 will be 

based on the same KLOE and will be reported in the Annual Governance Report 
alongside the opinion on the statement of accounts. The deadline for this is 30th 
September 2009. The following timetable is provisional at this stage and will be kept up 
to date throughout the audit. 

Date Activity/milestone 

January 2009 Agree brief with Lead Director 

January 2009 Workshop for key officers 

January - April 2009 Fieldwork

May - June 2009 Audit team regional quality assurance (QA) and 
internal challenge 

June/July 2009 Review of reports to members 

August 2009 Submission of draft scored judgements for national 
QA

End August 2009 Agreement of value for money conclusion and scored 
use of resources judgements 

Early September Draft Annual Governance Report 

Mid September Final Annual Governance Report 

Late September 2009 Audit & Risk Management Committee (papers out 
one week before) 

October/November 2009 Draft organisational assessment report shared with 
the Council 

Late November 2009 Final organisational assessments reported as part of 
CAA reporting. Issue annual audit letter. 

Page 227



Audit personnel and key contacts 

Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council  8

Audit personnel and key contacts 
18 The following Audit Commission staff will be involved with the work. 

Name Contact details 

Mike Thomas, District Auditor 

Overall responsibility for the audit 

m-thomas@audit-commission.gov.uk

0844 7987043 or 07879 667712 

Liz Temple-Murray, Audit Manager 

Lead contact for UoR 

Manager for KLOE 1.1, 1.3,  2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 
3.2

l-temple-murray@audit-commission.gov.uk

0151 666 3483 or 07769 887358 

Dave Wilson, Performance Manager 

Manager for KLOE 1.2, 2.1, 3.1 

Manager for projects on Performance 
Management and Sustainability 

da-wilson@audit-commission.gov.uk

0844 7987333 or 0774 8930598 

Dave Catherall, Principal Auditor d-catherall@audit-commission.gov.uk

0151 6663497 

Kath Johnson, Performance Specialist ka-johnson@audit-commission.gov.uk

0844 7983579 

Rob Metcalf, Principal Auditor r-metcalf@audit-commission.gov.uk

0151 6663484 

19 The following staff will be our key contacts for the use of resources work overall and for 
the individual key lines of enquiry (KLOE). Ian Coleman and Tom Sault will be lead 
director and contact respectively, responsible for liaising with the audit team on a 
regular basis and coordinating the work, feedback and messages within the Council. 
The Lead Director will keep management up to date with progress on issues through 
the monthly Corporate Improvement Group (CIG). 

20 We have agreed that the three central directors will be responsible for each of the 
three KLOE themes. Supporting this we have agreed key contacts for each of the 
individual KLOE. It is the responsibility of each of the key contacts to ensure that their 
line managers and the responsible Directors as well as the lead Director and Lead 
contact are kept up to date with issues arising on individual KLOE. 

Page 228



Audit personnel and key contacts 

9   Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council 

Name Contact details 

Ian Coleman, Director of Finance 

Lead director for UoR overall 

Responsible director for 'Managing 
Finances' (KLOE 1) 

iancoleman@wirral.gov.uk

0151 666 3056 

Tom Sault, Head of Financial Services, 
Finance

Lead contact for UoR overall 

Key contact for KLOEs 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 

tomsault@wirral.gov.uk

0151 666 3407 

Jim Wilkie, Deputy Chief Ex and Director 
Corporate Services 

Responsible director for 'Governing the 
Business' (KLOE 2) 

jimwilkie@wirral.gov.uk

0151 691 8183 

Bill Norman, Director Law, HR and Asset 
Management

Responsible Director for 'Managing 
Resources' (KLOE 3) 

billnorman@wirral.gov.uk

0151 691 8498 

Stephen Rowley, Head of Support 
Services, Finance 

Key contact for KLOE 2.1

stephenrowley@wirral.gov.uk

0151 666 3525 

Russ Glennon, Head of Policy, Corporate 
Services

Key contact for KLOE 2.2 [also Stephen 
Rowley]

russglennon@wirral.gov.uk

0151 691 8152 

Simon Goacher, Head of Legal & Member 
Services, Dept of Law, HR & Asset Mgt 

Key Contact for KLOE 2.3 

simongoacher@wirral.gov.uk

0151 691 8569 

David Smith, Deputy Director, Finance 

Key contact for KLOE 2.4

davidsmith@wirral.gov.uk

0151 666 3491 

Ian Brand, Head of Asset Management, 
Dept of Law, HR & Asset Mgt 

Key contact for KLOEs 3.1 and 3.2 

ianbrand@wirral.gov.uk

0151 691 8686 

Paul Bradshaw, Head of Human 
Resources, Dept of Law, HR & Asset Mgt 

Key contact for KLOE 3.3 

paulbradshaw@wirral.gov.uk

0151 691 8590 

21 This brief was agreed with the Director of Finance on 17 December 2008.

Page 229



Appendix 1 – Document request 

Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council  10

Appendix 1 – Document request 
To be agreed with key contacts. The following link to the guidance gives suggested 
sources of evidence for each KLOE http://www.audit-
commission.gov.uk/useofresources/2009guidance.asp.

Page 230



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 2
 –

 K
e
y
 r

e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

ie
s
 

1
1
 
  

W
ir
ra

l 
M

e
tr

o
p
o
lit

a
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 2

 –
 K

e
y
 r

e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
 

L
e

a
d

 

D
ir

e
c
to

r
 I
a
n

 

C
o

le
m

a
n

L
e

a
d

 A
D

T
o

m
 S

a
u

lt

M
A

N
A

G
IN

G
 

F
IN

A
N

C
E
S

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib

le
 

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
- 

Ia
n
 

C
o
le

m
a
n

G
O

V
E
R

N
IN

G
 

T
H

E
 B

U
S

IN
E
S

S

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib

le
 

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
–
 J

im
 

W
ilk

ie

M
A

N
A

G
IN

G
 

R
E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib

le
 

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
–
 B

ill
 

N
o
rm

a
n

1
.1

P
la

n
n
in

g
 f

o
r 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
h
e
a
lt
h

T
o
m

 S
a
u
lt

L
iz

 T
e
m

p
le

-

M
u
rr

a
y

1
.2

U
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 

c
o
s
ts

T
o
m

 S
a
u
lt

D
a
v
e
 W

ils
o
n

1
.3

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 

re
p
o
rt

in
g

T
o
m

 S
a
u
lt

L
iz

 T
e
m

p
le

-

M
u
rr

a
y

2
.1

C
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 

a
n
d

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t

S
te

p
h
e
n
 

R
o
w

le
y

2
.2

U
s
e
 o

f 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

R
u
s
s
 G

le
n
n
o
n

L
iz

 T
e
m

p
le

-

M
u
rr

a
y

2
.3

G
o
o
d
 

g
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

S
im

o
n
 G

o
a
c
h
e
r

L
iz

 T
e
m

p
le

-

M
u
rr

a
y

2
.4

R
is

k
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
&

 

in
te

rn
a
l 
c
o
n
tr

o
l

D
a
v
id

 S
m

it
h

L
iz

 T
e
m

p
le

-

3
.1

N
a
tu

ra
l 

re
s
o
u
rc

e
s

Ia
n
 B

ra
n
d

D
a
v
e
 W

ils
o
n

3
.2

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 a
s
s
e
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

Ia
n
 B

ra
n
d

L
iz

 T
e
m

p
le

-

3
.2

 

W
o
rk

fo
rc

e

P
a
u
l 
B

ra
d
s
h
a
w

(n
o
t 
b
e
in

g
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 

2
0
0
8
/0

9
)

Page 231



The Audit Commission 
The Audit Commission is an independent watchdog, driving economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in local public services to deliver better outcomes for everyone. 

Our work across local government, health, housing, community safety and fire and 
rescue services means that we have a unique perspective. We promote value for 
money for taxpayers, auditing the £200 billion spent by 11,000 local public bodies.

As a force for improvement, we work in partnership to assess local public services 
and make practical recommendations for promoting a better quality of life for local 
people.

Copies of this report 

If you require further copies of this report, or a copy in large print, in Braille,  
on tape, or in a language other than English, please call 0844 798 7070. 

© Audit Commission 2008 

For further information on the work of the Commission please contact: 

Audit Commission, 1st Floor, Millbank Tower, Millbank, London SW1P 4HQ  

Tel: 020 7828 1212  Fax: 020 7976 6187  Textphone (minicom): 020 7630 0421 

www.audit-commission.gov.uk

Page 232



 
 
WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 15th JANUARY 2009  
 
REPORT OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE/ DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE 
SERVICES 
 
WORKING WIRRAL – WORKING NEIGHBOURHOODS FUND 

 
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

1.1 This report advises Members on the current situation with regards to the Working 
Neighbourhoods Fund resources.  

 
2.1    It also requests authorisation for the appointment of consultants to develop further the 

Investment Framework to guide the allocation of the Working Neighbourhoods Fund 
resources when they are confirmed by Government for 2009/10 and 2010/11. 

 
2.0 WORKING WIRRAL – WORKING NEIGHBOURHOODS FUND 

 

2.1 The Working Wirral programme includes resources from the Working Neighbourhoods 
Fund (WNF) and Wirral has been allocated £28,267,778m of WNF resources from 2008 
– 2011 through the Area Based Grant.  However, only the first year’s allocation was 
confirmed by Government due to an error that had been made in the original calculation 
relating to how the funding should be allocated nationally across the local authorities.   

 

2.2 The Government has now announced that following a review of the way in which 
eligibility for WNF was calculated they have drawn up proposals for revising the criteria 
and how it will be applied in respect of allocating WNF for 2009/10 and 2010/11.  The 
Government are now consulting on these proposals and it is anticipated that they will 
confirm allocations for 2009/10 by the end of January 2009.   

 
2.3 The proposed changes would mean that Wirral would receive an increased allocation of 

WNF and benefit by some £144,581 as follows: 
 

2009/10 
 Original allocation:     £9,841,046m           Revised allocation   £9,879,492m 
 2010/11 

 Original allocation:     £10,238,708m         Revised allocation   £10,344,843m 
 
3.0 WORKING WIRRAL COMMISSIONING – ROUND 1 

 

3.1 Cabinet on the 13 March 2008 (Item 26 Minute 553 refers) agreed that Working Wirral 
resources should be used to commission activity to deliver the Investment Strategy 
priorities of tackling worklessness, improving skills levels and increasing enterprise, 
business growth and investment.  These priorities are also reflected in Wirral’s Local 
Area Agreement and in the Investment Framework for Employment and Enterprise which 
articulates the outcomes and outputs necessary to deliver the Investment Strategy’s 
overarching vision for Wirral. 

 

Agenda Item 11

Page 233



3.2 The Investment Framework for Employment and Enterprise was developed by Regeneris 
Consulting in order to provide the basis for commissioning targeted activity through the 
Working Wirral programme and it outlines three key priorities: 

 

• Competitive Wirral People (individuals and communities) 

• Competitive Wirral Places (locations and sites/premises) 

• Competitive Wirral Businesses (start ups and existing firms) 
 
3.3 Based on the Investment Framework a Commissioning brief was developed in June 

2008 to commission the first round of Working Wirral activity to support the delivery of 
outcomes relating to Priority 1: Competitive People and this process has been overseen 
by Wirral’s Economic Development and Skills Partnership.  In addition Cabinet on 10th 
December agreed that resources should be allocated to activity identified by the 
Investment Strategy Board that supports the delivery of outcomes relating to Priority 2: 
Competitive Places and Priority 3: Competitive Businesses.  

 
4.0 WORKING WIRRAL COMMISSIONING – ROUND 2 

 
4.1 Work is now required to develop detailed commissioning briefs to ensure that further 

rounds of commissioning can be taken forward that deliver activity against each of the 
three priority areas once the Government confirms WNF allocations for 2009/10 and 
2010/11. This work would build on the Investment Framework to identify how the 
resources can best be allocated across the three priority areas to add value to other 
mainstream and regeneration activity and therefore maximise the agreed Investment 
Strategy outcomes.  This work needs to be completed by the end of February 2009 to 
enable funding allocations for the 2009/10 financial year to be made. 

 
4.2 Since the first round of Working Wirral commissioning was progressed there have been a 

number of developments in relation to the employment and enterprise agenda.  This 
includes the implementation of the Department for Work and Pensions’ and the Learning 
and Skills Council’s ESF Co –financing activity, the  North West Development Agency’s 
proposals with regards to the Business Support Simplification Process and the recent 
Government announcements in respect of additional support to businesses and to 
Jobcentre Plus to address issues arising from the current economic climate.  Further 
analysis is therefore required to identify how Working Wirral resources should be 
deployed to ensure that the programme will have the maximum impact for Wirral 
residents.    

 
4.3 The proposed analysis would flow from the work previously undertaken by Regeneris 

Consulting to develop the Investment Framework and would build on this to assess 
where further activity should be targeted, what outcomes and outputs should be 
achieved and how the resources should be allocated across the priority areas.  The work 
will cost a maximum of £15,000.   

 
4.4 Given the timescales set out in paragraph 4.1 of this report and the detailed knowledge 

and clear links with the previous work carried out by Regeneris Consulting it is proposed 
that these consultants should be contracted to carry out this commission. The contract 
would therefore be progressed as an exception to the procurement procedure in 
accordance with Contracts Procedures Rules 5.2. This course of action has been agreed 
by the Council’s Procurement Unit. 

 
5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

5.1 Wirral has been allocated £28,267,778 of Working Neighbourhoods Fund resources, 
subject to confirmation of the exact allocations for 2009/10 and 2010/11. The allocation is 

Page 234



paid through the LAA’s Area Based Grant.  The cost of commissioning Consultants to 
develop further the Investment Framework will be fully funded from the Working 
Neighbourhoods Fund. 

 
6.0 STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1 The contract will be managed by existing staff in the Regeneration Department’s 
Neighbourhoods team. 

 

7.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1 The implementation of Working Wirral will reflect the Council’s commitment to equal 
opportunities. 

 

8.0 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 Projects proposed to be funded through Working Wirral are likely to have positive 
community safety benefits. 

 

9.0 LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 There are no specific implications arising directly from this report. 
 

10.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1 There are none arising from this report. 
 

11.0 ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 

11.1 Working Wirral will have significant future benefits for this area. 
 

12.0 SOCIAL INCLUSION IMPLICATIONS 
 

12.1 Working Wirral will have significant future benefits for this area. 
 

13.0 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 

13.1 This report will be of interest to all Members of the Council. 
 

14.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

14.1 The Working Neighbourhoods Fund Statement – DCLG and DWP Paper November 
2007 

 Sub National Review of Economic Development – Report to Cabinet 6.09.07 
 Indices of Multiple Deprivation 2007 – DCLG December 2007 
 Area Based Grant 2008/09 to 2010/11 – Report to Cabinet 10.01.08 
 Working Neighbourhoods Fund – Report to Cabinet 23.01.08 

European Social Fund Complementary Strand – Report to Cabinet 07.02.08 
Working Neighbourhoods Fund – Report to Cabinet 13.03.08 
Working Neighbourhoods Fund – Report to Cabinet 09.07.08 
Working Neighbourhoods Fund – Report to Cabinet 16.10.08 
Working Neighbourhoods Fund – Report to Cabinet 10.12.08 

  

15.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

That the allocation of a maximum of £15,000 for the appointment of Regeneris 
Consulting to further develop the Investment Framework to enable targeted 
commissioning of the Working Wirral programme to progress once WNF resources for 
2009/10 and 2010/11 are confirmed by Government, be approved. 
 
Jim Wilkie  
Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Corporate Services  Page 235



Page 236

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 15 JANUARY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION 
 
PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING AND REGENERATION ASSISTANCE POLICY 

 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval to undertake a consultation exercise in 

relation to the proposed revisions to the Council’s Private Sector Housing and 
Regeneration Assistance Policy. Following the consultation exercise a further report will 
be presented to Members detailing the final version of the policy, with the intention of 
implementing the revised policy in April 2009. 

  
1.2 The report also requests delegation to use specialist contractors, not registered on the 

Trading Standards Wirral traders Scheme, in cases involving HRA and Equity Loans for 
Renewal, where there are specialist building works to be undertaken. 

 
2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England & Wales) Order 2002 (“the 

RRO”) gave Local Authorities the power to provide assistance to improve living 
conditions in their area. This assistance can be in any form and can include such things 
as advice about property improvements and financial assistance in the form of grants 
and/or loans. This power cannot be used unless a policy for the provision of such 
assistance has been adopted. Once adopted, the policy should be monitored, reviewed 
and amended (if necessary) to take into account changes in local circumstances and 
government policy. In this way, the policy should evolve over time to meet the needs and 
aspirations of Wirral residents. Any significant changes should be subject to consultation 
prior to being adopted and the public should be notified about any revised policy. In 
addition to the RRO, Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2000 allows Local Authorities to 
give financial assistance to any person in order to promote the economic, social and 
environmental well being of an area. This power supports the use of products aimed at 
non-residential interests involved in regeneration activity connected to housing schemes. 
Related products involving non-housing interests are also included in the policy. 

 
2.2 On the 3rd of April 2008 Cabinet agreed to adopt the current Private Sector Housing and 

Regeneration Assistance Policy which details a range of assistance to support property 
owners. This assistance has been used to benefit residents and property owners 
throughout the borough, and particularly those involved in the Housing Market Renewal 
Initiative.  

 
2.3 The current policy introduced a number of new forms of local assistance, including Equity 

Renewal Loans, Home Repair Assistance Loans, Empty Property Loans, assistance for 
low income first time buyers via the ‘First Homes’ initiative, Business Renewal and 
Relocation Loans and finally the Neighbourhood Facelift Scheme. Since the introduction 
of the RRO, Wirral’s policy has gradually diversified and includes a mix of public subsidy 
and loan assistance as well as advice. 

 

Agenda Item 12

Page 237



2.4 As it is now nearly 12 months since the last review was undertaken it is considered 
appropriate to review the current policy in light of progress with HMRI implementation 
and the introduction of the new loan based products. 

 
3.0 SUGGESTED AMENDMENTS TO EXISITING POLICY 
 
3.1 Existing Assistance 
 
3.1.1 Wirral’s policy is currently split into 3 distinct sections covering: 

 

• Assistance for relocation (in connection with demolition schemes) 

• Assistance for renovation  

• Other (help for first time buyers, Handyperson Service etc.) 
 
3.1.2 Officers are currently preparing a more detailed document regarding the assistance 

available, which will incorporate both the suggested amendments and new assistance. 
This document will be available for the consultation exercise. 

 
3.2 Assistance for Relocation 

 
 Equity Relocation Loans 
3.2.1 The main financial products include equity based relocation loans for both owner-

occupiers and businesses. Currently, the limit for both loans is £35,000, however, in the 
case of relocation loans for owner-occupiers there is a possibility to increase the loan to 
£45,000 if approved by the Newheartlands Discretionary Panel. The interest shown in 
the business relocation loan to date suggests that the £35,000 limit may be insufficient to 
close the financial gap between the compensation paid by the Council and the cost of a 
suitable, alternative, premises elsewhere. In the current economic climate, and in order 
to assist businesses to move to meet HMRI objectives, it is proposed to increase the 
upper limit of the Business Relocation Loan £45,000. 
  

3.2.2 Business Movers Support 
HMRI clearance schemes involving non-residential interests have different requirements 
to owner-occupiers and tenants, when moving premises. Traditionally, advice to 
businesses has been provided on an ad hoc basis and in light of the challenges involved 
in moving the remaining commercial occupiers in Church Road and commercial 
occupiers in likely clearance areas in Birkenhead it is considered that there is a need for 
a specialist advisor to ‘hand hold’ the businesses through the moving process, similar to 
that of the Home Ownership Advisory Officers, currently providing the Home movers 
Service.  
 

3.2.3 It is proposed to develop a business mover’s support service over the next few months 
with a view to introducing a specialist advisory service later this year. It is proposed to 
discuss this with the Director of Law, HR and Admin and then report back to Members 
prior to any such role being introduced. The scheme would be along similar lines to the 
successful H.E.L.P. (Housing and Employment Link Project) project which is run by the 
Housing Options Team for residents of Wirral. It would also offer support to non-
residential movers and link housing and employment agendas into a single project 
offered by the Housing Division. 
 

 Relocation Rent Support 
3.2.4 In relation to moving non-residential interests out of clearance schemes, an issue with 

rent affordability has been identified. In certain cases, where a non-residential tenant is 
renting accommodation, the rent paid can sometimes be below that of the market rent for 

Page 238



a variety of reasons. Upon moving, the non-residential interest is likely to be faced with 
having to pay a market rent which may not be considered affordable to the proprietor.  
 

3.2.5 It is proposed to introduce a new financial product to cushion the increase in rent for a 
limited period of time, allowing the non residential interest to adjust to the higher rent, or 
make alternative arrangements. This product is to be known as Relocation Rent Support 
and is in effect a “parachute” payment running over a 5 year period, with 100% gap 
funding provided in year 1, 80% in year 2 and so on until the support finishes at the end 
of year 5. An example is shown below: 
 

3.2.6 Current rent paid: £300 per month 
Market rent for similar premises elsewhere: £500 per month 
Rental gap: £200 per month 
Year 1 Relocation Rent Support: £200 per month 
Year 2 RRS: £160 per month 
Year 3 RRS: £120 per month 
Year 4 RRS: £80 per month 
Year 5 RRS: £40 per month 
 
Total cost of RRS over the 5 year period: £7,200 
 

3.2.7 It is proposed that this product will be provided by the local authority and will be made 
available from April 1st 2009 in relation to non- residential interests involved in HMRI 
clearance schemes.  

 
4.0 ASSISTANCE FOR RENOVATION 
 
 Home Repair Assistance 
4.1 Home Repair Assistance (HRA) provides up to £5,000 to qualifying residents throughout 

the borough to deal with a range of urgent minor work affecting the health and safety of 
the applicant. HRAs are registered as a local land charge and must be repaid when the 
property is sold. The current HRA’s were introduced in April 2008 and, to date, 5 have 
been approved with 2 of these having being completed. In addition, 192 enquiries have 
been received about the HRA assistance. It is envisaged that the number of both 
approvals and completions will increase substantially by the year end. The maximum 
amount of assistance available through the HRA product has not changed for a number 
of years and inflation has eroded the ability to maximise the works that can be completed 
within this limit.  
 

4.2 It is proposed to increase the limit of HRA to £6,000.  
 

 Equity Loan for Renewal 
4.3 The Equity Renovation Loan was also introduced in April 2008 and a decision was taken 

to pilot these loans initially in the Egremont area of the HMRI. Expressions of interest 
were received from approximately 30 owner-occupiers and this has resulted in 6 
applications being processed. Since the loan was introduced, a Framework for Equity 
Loans for Renewal has been agreed by the Newheartlands Monitoring and 
Implementation Group. This framework gives each local authority the discretion to 
increase the loan level beyond the limit of £30,000, in exceptional circumstances, on the 
understanding that this is agreed by Cabinet.  
 

4.4 It is proposed that the Director of Regeneration be given the delegated authority to 
increase the loan above the £30,000 limit, to a maximum of £40,000, in cases where 
unforeseen works are encountered, in order to ensure the completion of works on site to 
a satisfactory standard, subject to the agreement of the loan agent (currently ART 

Page 239



Homes Ltd), any mortgagor and the Independent Financial Advisor. In cases not 
approved by the loan agent, the mortgagor or the IFA, consideration can be given to the 
use of HRA to enable the completion of works on site. Should the use of a HRA not be 
agreed then delegated authority be given for the Director of Regeneration to approve the 
use of a non-means tested grant to enable the completion of the works. The use of a 
grant to be considered as the last resort. It is envisaged that this situation will only arise 
in a very small number of cases.  
 

 Group Repair 
4.5 Group Repair provides financial assistance to renovate the external fabric of a group of 

properties. Phase 4 of the Triangles Group Repair Scheme in North Birkenhead will be 
undertaken on 2009/10 and this is intended to be the final phase. Experience gained 
during the first 3 phases has identified a number of issues which need to be clarified to 
assist in the implementation of phase 4.  
 

4.6 The clarifications include conditions relating to the payment of contributions upon 
practical completion of works to individual houses and the collection of any unpaid 
contribution.  

 
4.7 In a very small number of cases on a Group Repair Scheme (which can be upward of 50 

to 100 properties or more) a situation may arise where an owner of an individual property 
cannot fully complete the Group Repair application process before the works on that 
property have to commence under the contract.  Often this is just a timing issue with 
providing information.  Delaying the start of works on that property can incur costs for the 
Council under the contract and therefore when these circumstances arise it is proposed 
that the Director of Regeneration be given delegated authority to authorise that works 
start on that individual property with (1) the owners consent, and (2) following the 
undertaking of a risk assessment to establish both the risks to the scheme as a whole 
and the financial risks to the Council. 
 

 Neighbourhood Facelift  
4.8 This assistance is similar to Group Repair in that it facilitates the overhaul of the external 

parts of a group of homes but also combines both environmental improvements within 
and beyond the curtilage and works to improve the interiors of the houses.  
 

4.9 The suggested amendments for Group Repair above should also apply to the Facelift 
product. 

 
 Assistance for Empty Properties 
4.10 A range of assistance is available and will continue to be developed to deal with empty 

properties. 
 

4.11 To maximise the use of limited financial resources to tackle empty properties (which is 
an increasing issue in the Borough) it is proposed that Landlord properties that are part 
of a Group Repair Scheme (GRS) or Neighbourhood Facelift Scheme (NFS) do not 
receive a double financial benefit of the GRS or NFS and the Empty Property Assistance 
(up to £10,000). 

 
4.12 The reason for this is that it is a condition of both the GRS and NFS that Landlords 

commit to let their property upon completion of the scheme.  Therefore, if the property is 
vacant before the GRS and NFS take place it is the responsibility of the Landlord to 
undertake the internal improvements required to the property before letting it.  The 
Landlord will recover their investment, over time, through the rental income they will 
receive from letting the property.  
 

Page 240



4.13 Homeswap and Homesteading have previously been piloted as methods to tackle empty 
properties and assist with the HMRI programme. Whilst the products were useful they 
proved to be difficult to sell and in the current housing market there are no proposals to 
use these forms of assistance during 2009/10 
 

 Business Renewal Loan 
4.14 Equity based financial assistance up to the value of £30,000 to enable businesses 

involved in designated HMRI regeneration schemes to undertake shop fitting and internal 
improvement works. As with the Equity Renewal Loan mentioned in 4.3 above there may 
be occasions when it will be necessary to increase the loan beyond the limit of £30,000 
to ensure the completion of renovation works to a satisfactory standard 
 

4.15 It is proposed to amend the policy to allow the Director of Regeneration discretion to 
increase the loan up to £40,000 in cases of unforeseen works. 

 
5.0 OTHER ASSISTANCE 

 
5.1 In response to a concern about rising personal debt a Service Level Agreement has 

been negotiated with Wirral Citizens Advice Bureau to provide access to debt and 
housing advice to residents, accredited landlords and agents living or operating in HMRI 
areas. Cases referred under this agreement receive attention within a target of 2 weeks 
of the referral being made. Similar provisions have been made by Wirral’s Pathfinder 
partners. This assistance will be incorporated in the revised policy. 

 
6.0 GENERAL 

 
6.1 Environmental Responsibility 

In light of the urgency of the climate change agenda it is proposed that the revised policy 
be reviewed over the next 12 month period to incorporate measures to secure an 
environmentally responsible assistance policy, that is cost effective, and acceptable to 
service users. Members should note that the current policy already includes measures to 
minimise environmental impact, however, it is considered that there is scope to improve 
the policy further in this area. 

 
6.2 Assistance to Private Sector Landlords 

Subject to the results of the Wirral Private Sector House Condition Survey 2008 it is 
intended to review the assistance available to private sector landlords. Any proposed 
new assistance will form part of a wider strategy to improve conditions in this particular 
sector and be subject to the approval of Members at the next policy review.  
 

6.3 Monitoring Customer Satisfaction 
It is proposed to introduce comprehensive customer satisfaction monitoring for all 
assistance provided in the revised policy. This will be phased in during 2009/10 and 
results reported back to Members at the next review. 

 
6.4 On 18th October 2008 Cabinet agreed to the adoption of a preferred builder protocol 

restricting recipients of both Home Repair Assistance and Equity Renewal Loans to 
using building contractors registered with the Trading Standards Wirral Traders Scheme.   

 
6.5 At the time of writing this report there are approximately 50 contractors registered on the 

Wirral traders Scheme and they comprehensively cover the range of building works 
which will normally be undertaken through both Home Repair Assistance and Equity 
Renewal Loans. 

 

Page 241



6.6 However, there may be a limited number of cases where specialist works are required 
(for example to a Listed Building) and these may be outside the scope of a general 
contractor. 

 
6.7 In these circumstances it is proposed that a specialist contractor is engaged and they are 

unlikely to be registered on the Wirral Traders Scheme, because the scheme only covers 
general building works. 

 
7.0 CONSULTATION 
 
7.1 The policy revisions set out in this report will be subject to public consultation via the 

Council’s website and local press, residents and other stakeholders will be invited to 
make comments by the end of February 2009. Following the consultation period the 
revised policy will be submitted to Cabinet for final approval and will come into force in 
April 2009. 

 
8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The funding of the revised policy will be from HMRI and Housing Capital Programme 

resources for 2009/10.  
 
8.2 The Council is currently seeking to further support the revised policy through external 

partner agencies. At this stage there are no guarantees that additional funding will be 
secured. 

 
9.0 STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Existing staffing arrangements can deliver the assistance policy. Should there be any 

staffing implications, following consultation on the proposals, it is intended to report back 
to members with further details. 

 
10.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The revised policy recognises that there will be a proportion of vulnerable owners whom, 

for whatever reason, will not have sufficient resources to maintain their homes. In 
addition in relation to clearance action some owners and residents might be unable to 
fund a move to an alternative property. The revised policy makes provision for such 
owners and residents, should they approach the Council for assistance. 

 
10.2 The proposals contained within this report will be subject to a period of consultation with 

potential service users and will include taking advice from the Council’s BME Team. 
 
10.3 Service delivery of the revised policy will be routinely monitored in relation to equality 

and diversity 
 
11.0 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The revised policy does take into account community safety implications, particularly in 

relation to renovation assistance, as far as possible 
 
12.0 LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 The revised policy will include measures to both support the improvement of the existing 

housing stock where this is deemed to be sustainable and assist with the strategic 
clearance of obsolete housing stock and the provision of new, energy efficient houses for 

Page 242



the future. The policy includes measures to reduce environmental impact and will be 
reviewed during 2009/10 with the aim of improving environmental responsibility in light of 
the climate change agenda. 

 
13.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 Private Sector Housing Renewal supports the Urban Regeneration Strategy outlined in 

the Unitary Development Plan and the Regional Spatial Strategy. In particular it helps the 
Council sustain its commitment to protecting the Green Belt 

 
14.0 ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1 The revised assistance policy targets the majority of it’s financial assistance towards low 

income households. Those applicants deemed to have the ability to afford improvements 
or relocation by other means will be sign-posted accordingly. 

 
15.0 SOCIAL INCLUSION IMPLICATIONS 
 
15.1 The revised assistance policy will help those members of society least able to afford to 

undertake improvements or move to alternative accommodation. In addition, it will assist 
private landlords to improve housing conditions for some of the most vulnerable 
members of society. 
 

16.0 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
16.1 This report affects all wards. 
 
17.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
17.1 None. 
 
18.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
That 
 
(1) the revised Private Sector Housing and Regeneration Assistance Policy be subject to a 

consultation exercise, as detailed in item 4.0 of this report; 
 
(2) a further report be submitted to Cabinet in Spring 2009 detailing the final version of the 

Private Sector Housing and Regeneration Assistance Policy for adoption and 
implementation from April 2009; and 

 
(3) Members agree to allow officers the delegation to use specialist contractors, not 

registered on the Trading Standards Wirral Traders Scheme, in cases involving HRA and 
Equity Loans for Renewal, where there are specialist works to be undertaken for the 
reasons set out in the report. 

 
Alan Stennard 
Director of Regeneration 
 
This report was prepared by Alan Lipscombe who can be contacted on 691 8122 

Page 243



Page 244

This page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 15th JANUARY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF TECHNICAL SERVICES 
 
LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2009/10 

 
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 In November 2007, the Department for Transport (DfT) approved a 

Local Transport Capital Settlement for Wirral of £6,507,000 for 
2009/10.  This report sets out a proposed Local Transport Plan (LTP) 
capital programme for approval. 

  
1.2 This is a key decision included on the forward plan. 
 
2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Members will be familiar with the Local Transport Plan (LTP) for 

Merseyside, which sets out the transport strategy for Merseyside. The 
second LTP (LTP2) covers the period between 2006/07 and 2010/11 
and contains a 5-year programme and a comprehensive set of 
performance indicators and targets.  

 
2.2 In November 2007, the Council were given notification of its annual 

LTP settlements from the Department for Transport for 2008/09 to 
2010/11.   A full report on the LTP settlement letter was reported to 
Cabinet on 23rd January 2008. 

 
3.0 TRANSPORT CAPITAL SETTLEMENT 2009/10  

 
3.1 The LTP settlement is made up of two main blocks – the Integrated 

Transport Block and the Highway / Bridge Maintenance & 
Strengthening Block.  Members will observe from Table 1 below that 
the total amount to be received in 2009/10 exceeds that in 2008/09 by 
an additional £448,000, however, it should be noted that this is due to 
an increase in maintenance funding, not integrated transport. 

 
Table 1: Summary of Wirral’s LTP Settlement 

 

Wirral LTP Settlement - Capital 

      2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 

           

Integrated Transport Block 3,339,000 3,254,000 3,155,000 

        

Highway / Bridge Maintenance  2,720,000 2,992,000 3,441,000 

        

Bridge Strengthening on PRN 0 261,000 1,088,000 

         

    TOTAL 6,059,000 6,507,000 7,684,000 

Agenda Item 13

Page 245



 
 
3.2 Members will recall that a key aspect of the success of the Merseyside 

LTP has been the quality of the Partnership that exists between the six 
Merseyside authorities and the level of joint working that is essential to 
produce and deliver a strong transport strategy.  Funding for this type 
of work is held in a Joint Working Budget (JWB) that each partner 
funds as a proportion of the Merseyside total settlement. Members will 
be aware that the Merseyside allocation is split between the partner 
authorities using an agreed formula related to the level of need in each 
authority, and includes criteria such as population and accident data.   

 
3.3 Wirral’s contribution to the Joint Working Budget for 2009/10 is 

anticipated to be similar to last year (£130,000) and is separate to 
Wirral’s settlement.  The JWB budget is monitored by the Merseyside 
Strategic Transport and Engineers Group (MSTEG), which reports to 
the Merseyside Strategic Transport and Planning Committee (MSTPC). 

 
 
4.0 PROPOSED 2009/10 TRANSPORT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
4.1 Wirral Council’s total 2009/10 LTP Settlement of £6,507,000 is made 

up as follows: 
 

• Integrated Transport Block  £3,254,000 
• Maintenance Block   £2,992,000 
• PRN Bridges    £   261,000 

TOTAL £6,507,000 
 

4.2  The integrated transport and maintenance blocks form part of the 
capital single pot.  The only element that is ring-fenced is the allocation 
to undertake strengthening works to bridge structures on the PRN 
(Primary Route Network). 

 
4.3 Members may recall that I had anticipated the 2009/10 programme 

being informed by a new appraisal criteria, which would have assessed 
potential schemes against local and regional policies and objectives in 
order to maximise scheme outcomes and delivery of appropriate 
targets.  

 
4.4 Whilst work has taken place to develop an appraisal criterion, I would 

advise Members that, in order to complete schemes that are already 
committed or under construction and to undertake new projects that 
have either already received Members’ approval or are considered key 
projects for implementation, there is little scope to introduce additional 
schemes for appraisal.  Hence, I anticipate that the appraisal criteria 
will be utilised to inform the 2010/11 programme, and will be subject of 
a separate report next year. 

 
4.5 Appendix A sets out the proposed 2009/10 programme of works for 

approval.  In addition to the regular block allocations, details of which 
will be reported to Members in February 2009 (e.g. cycling, local safety 
schemes etc), the integrated transport programme includes funding to: 

 

Page 246



- Commence Speed Limit & TRO Review (Cabinet 10 December 
2008, Minute 315 refers) 

- Commence M53 Junction 3 safety improvements 
- Implement Speed Barrier works, North Wallasey Approach 

Rd/Leasowe (Streetscene & Transport Services O&S 
Committee 19 November 2008, Minute 19 refers) 

- Complete Telegraph Road/ Station Road, Thurstaston 
- Local Environmental Improvements - Area Forums 

 
The highway maintenance programme includes the following projects, 
each of which were recently unsuccessful in receiving funding from the 
Council’s capital programme: 
 
- Brimstage Road, Clatterbridge, Resurfacing 
- Unclassified Roads Resurfacing - Microasphalt 
- Poulton Viaduct/ Dock Link Roads Resurfacing 

 
5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Funding levels for transport over the next three years (2008/09, 

2009/10 and 2010/11) are confirmed in the Government’s settlement 
letter dated 27th November 2007, which also sets out the respective 
funding mechanisms (Cabinet 23 January 2008, Minute 457 refers). 

 
5.2 In terms of revenue implications, there will be increased maintenance 

costs, or in some instances, savings arising from specific projects.  
Where these arise, they will be detailed when projects are brought to 
Members for approval. 

 
6.0 STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Staff from my Department will continue to provide Wirral’s input to the 

LTP and its strategic development. However, delivery of the Transport 
Capital Programme will continue to have an impact on staffing 
requirements, particularly in the areas of work that require detailed 
accident analyses and public consultation prior to the scheme 
identification and implementation.  It may be necessary, therefore, to 
appoint consultants to undertake certain categories of work so that I 
have the necessary capacity to deliver the proposed programme of 
works. 

 
7.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no specific ethnic minority, elderly persons or equal 

opportunities implications arising directly from this report.  The 
transport strategy, which underpins the LTP, includes measures to 
assist the transport needs of all sections of the community. 

 
7.2 In addition, the Accessibility Plan within LTP2 identifies current 

transport barriers to key destination across Wirral. This work will inform 
the identification of potential transport proposals to improve 
opportunities for all people. 

 
7.3 Wirral’s highway and transport proposals consider the needs of people 

with disabilities and impaired mobility, as set out in the Merseyside 
Code of Practice on Access and Mobility, which takes full account of 
the requirements of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995. 

 

Page 247



8.0   COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Most of the schemes in the Transport Capital Programme have positive 

Community Safety implications, either through improvements in road 
safety (e.g. introducing physical changes to the highway) or 
improvements in personal safety (for example, better street lighting). 

 
8.2 LTP2 directly addresses the Government’s Road Safety shared priority, 

which links closely with the Council’s Local Area Agreement objectives 
to reduce traffic accidents.  

 
8.3 LTP2 also complements many of the Council’s corporate objectives, 

however, it is directly linked to that ‘To create a clean, pleasant, safe 
and sustainable environment’.  

 
9.0 LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Sustainability and LA21 issues are common threads running through all 

the transport policies.   
 

9.2 Specific elements of LTP2 include: 
 
§ Sustainable Environmental Assessment  (SEA) of the strategy; 
§ Joint working with health authorities and the promotion of walking 

and cycling; 
§ Reduction of transport related emissions; 
§ Encouraging greater use of public transport and non-motorised 

modes of transport; 
§ Development of Travel Plans with schools and businesses; and  
§ Merseyside ‘TravelWise’ – the initiative that is specifically helping to 

make an important contribution to people’s behaviour change and 
the promotion of alternative modes of travel to the private car. 

 
10.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 In accordance with DfT guidelines, the LTP2 is closely aligned with the 

Unitary Development Plan (UDP) and other strategic and local policies, 
including the Regional Transport Strategy, Wirral’s Tourism Strategy 
and local environmental, social and economic regeneration strategies. 

 
10.2 The Merseyside Authorities are committed to approving a 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), which will improve linkages 
between land use and transport within the planning approvals’ process. 
Members will note that the SPD was particularly noted by the 
Government in the settlement letter as “indicative of forward thinking on 
the links between transport and planning”. 

 
10.3 This SPD will form an integral part of the Core Local Development 

Framework (LDF) that is due to be in place in 2009. It is intended that 
the full SPD be approved and implemented in the near future and will 
be reported to Members separately in due course. 

 
11.0 ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 It is recognised by the LTP partners that the cost of travel by public 

transport, which has risen out of proportion to the cost of travel by car, 

Page 248



can be a barrier to unemployed people or those on low incomes. 
Partners will be exploring the use of new powers, introduced in the 
recent Local Transport Bill, which will give far more local controls over 
public transport providers. 

 
12.0 SOCIAL INCLUSION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 Social inclusion is a thread running through the LTP, which aims to 

provide a fully integrated transport system that is accessible to 
everyone. 

 
13.0 HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
14.0 ACCESS TO INFORMATION ACT 
 
14.1 No background papers have been used in the preparation of this 

report. 
 
15.0 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
15.1 The LTP contains a Wirral-wide transport strategy and implementation 

plan. 
 
16.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
16.1 That Council be recommended that the proposed Transport Capital 

Programme for 2009/10, set out in this report, be approved. 
 
 

 
DAVID GREEN, DIRECTOR 
TECHNICAL SERVICES 

Page 249



Page 250

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

DRAFT LTP CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2009/10

Scheme 2009/10

ROAD SAFETY

LOCAL SAFETY SCHEMES

   Local Safety Schemes (Block *) 500

MAJOR SAFETY SCHEMES

   M53 Junction 3 250

   Speed Barrier, North Wallasey Approach Rd - Leasowe Rd 50

SCHOOL TRAVEL IMPROVEMENTS

   Safer Routes to School / ETP (Block *) 150

ROAD SAFETY TOTAL  950

CONGESTION

PUBLIC TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENTS

   Bus Priorities  - to be agreed with Merseytravel 100

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT

   UTC / Telematics / CCTV 100

   [Speed] Network Management  Review 225

CONGESTION TOTAL  425

ENVIRONMENT / AIR QUALITY 

LOCAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENTS

   Telegraph Road / Station Road (Thurstaston Cross-Roads) 500

   Local Improvements - Area Forums (to be decided)   (Block*) 200

WALKING STRATEGY

   Pedestrian Signals   (Block*) 150

   Pedestrian Improvements   (Block*) 60

   Public Rights of Way Improvement Plan  15

CYCLING STRATEGY

   Cycling   (Block*) 225

AIR QUALITY / ENVIRONMENT TOTAL  1,150

Schemes to reduce road accident casualities and ensure a safe and well maintained highway asset.

Schemes and initiatives primarily focussed on reducing/managing levels of congestion and the negative impact 

of the motor vehicle, and/or promoting public transport and the effective movement of freight.

Schemes to improve air quality, the quality of life and the environment, and promote healthier communities.

Page 251



ACCESSIBILITY

ACCESS TO JOBS & SERVICES

   Accessibility / Community Transport   100

 

   TravelWise (contribution) & Travel Plans  50

ACCESSIBILITY TOTAL  150

TRANSPORTATION STUDIES

ADV. DESIGN, LAND & FORWARD PLANNING

   Advanced Design / Land Acquisition 100

   Congestion Corridor (NI.167) - Measures to be identified 34

RESEARCH & MONITORING

   Joint Working, Strategy Development, LTP Monitoring 445

FORWARD PLANNING TOTAL  579

HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE

MAINTENANCE - ROADS & FOOTWAYS

   Principal & Non-Principal Roads   (Block*) 1,442

   Brimstage Road, Clatterbridge - Resurfacing 500

   Unclassified Roads Resurfacing - Microasphalt 200

   Non-Surfacing Maintenance, e.g. Renewals signs & lines  100

MAINTENANCE - BRIDGES

   Bridge Maintenance / Strengthening - Dell Underpass 250

   Bridges Conditions Report - Metal Work 300

   Ringfenced funding - PRN Bridge Strengthening 261

MAINTENANCE - STREET LIGHTING

   Street Lighting Improvements 200

ROAD SAFETY TOTAL  3,253

PROGRAMME GRAND TOTAL 6,507

          (Block  *) - Proposed block allocation subject to further detailed report

Schemes to ensure a safe and well maintained roads and bridges.

Funding to ensure effective forward planning and joint working to meet the constantly evolving range of 

demands linked to LTP delivery.

Schemes to improve access to jobs and education, and promote social and economic regeneration.

Page 252



Agenda Item 17

Page 253

By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 258

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 18

Page 259

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 266

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 19

Page 267

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 272

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 20

Page 273

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 276

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Outcome of Proposal to close Arrowe Hill Primary School
	CABCSLL090115rep3a
	CABCSLL090115rep3b
	CABCSLL090115rep3c
	CABCSLL090115rep3d
	CABCSLL090115rep3e
	CABCSLL090115rep3f

	5 MULTI-SYSTEMIC THERAPY PROGRAMME DEVELOPMENT
	6 PROPOSAL TO ESTABLISH AN ACADEMY AT BIRKENHEAD HIGH SCHOOL FOR GIRLS
	CABCSLL090115REP4a
	CABCSLL090115REP4b
	CABCSLL090115REP4c
	CABCSLL090115REP4d

	7 Local Area Agreement Performance Reward Grant
	8 Collection Fund 2008/9
	9 PROJECTED BUDGETS 2009-2011
	10 COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT (CAA) - USE OF RESOURCES
	CABfin090115REP3a

	11 Working Wirral - Working Neighbourhoods Fund
	12 Review of Wirral Private Sector Housing and Regeneration Assistance Policy
	13 Transportation Capital Programme 2009/10
	CABeng090115rep1a

	17 UPDATE ON THE LOCAL PAY REVIEW AND THE MANAGEMENT OF WORKFORCE CHANGE
	18 PROVISION OF GARDEN WASTE COMPOSTING FACTILITIES SERVICES PROCUREMENT EXERCISE - AWARD OF CONTRACT
	19 West Kirby Marine Lake Reconstruction - Award of Contract
	20 BUILDING SCHOOLS FOR THE FUTURE, ONE SCHOOL PATHFINDER, ICT CONTRACT

